
 

 

AGENDA 

 
 

 
POLICY AND RESOURCES CABINET BOARD 

 
Immediately Following Scrutiny Committee on  

WEDNESDAY, 7 MARCH 2018 
 

 
 

 
 
 

PART 1 
 

1.  To agree the Chairperson for this Meeting.   
 

2.  To receive any declarations of interest from Members.   
 

3.  To receive the Minutes of the previous Policy and Resources 
Cabinet Board held on 24 January, 2018  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
To receive the Report of the Head of Corporate Strategy and 
Democratic Services 
 

4.  To receive the Forward Work Programme 2018  (Pages 9 - 12) 
 

5.  Margam Crematorium Minutes - 19 January, 2018  (Pages 13 - 16) 
 

6.  Quarterly Performance Management Data 2017/2018 - Quarter 3 
Performance (1st April - 31st December 2017)  (Pages 17 - 90) 
 

7.  Consultation - Code of Practice for Welsh Language Standards 
(No.1) Regulations 2015  (Pages 91 - 212) 
 
To receive the Report of the Director of Finance and Corporate 
Services 
 

8.  Community Councils Minor Project Scheme Applications - 
Blaengwrach Community Council  (Pages 213 - 214) 



 
9.  Miscellaneous Grant Fund Applications  (Pages 215 - 218) 

 
10.  Welsh Church Act Trust Fund  (Pages 219 - 222) 

 
To receive the Report of the Head of Financial Services 
 

11.  Rate Relief for Charities and Non-profit Making Organisations  
(Pages 223 - 228) 
 

12.  Alternative Service Delivery Proposals for Port Talbot Civic Centre 
Council Tax Enquiries  (Pages 229 - 236) 
 

13.  Treasury Management Monitoring 2017/18  (Pages 237 - 240) 
 

14.  Any urgent items (whether public or exempt) at the discretion of the 
Chairman pursuant to Statutory Instrument 2001 No 2290 (as 
amended).   
 

15.  Access to Meetings - to resolve to exclude the public for the 
following items pursuant to Regulation 4(3) and (5) of Statutory 
Instrument 2001 No. 2290 and the relevant exempt paragraphs of 
Part 4 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972.   
 
PART 2 
 
To receive the Private Report of the Head of Financial Services 
 

16.  Write Off of Council Tax  (Pages 241 - 248) 
 

17.  Write Off of Business Rates  (Pages 249 - 254) 
 

 
S.Phillips 

Chief Executive 
 

Civic Centre 
Port Talbot Thursday, 1 March 2018 
 
 
 
Cabinet Board Members:  
 



Councillors: 
 

R.G.Jones, D.Jones, C.Clement-Williams and 
A.J.Taylor 
 

 
 
Notes:  
 
 (1)  If any Cabinet Board Member is unable to attend, any other Cabinet Member may substitute as a 

voting Member on the Committee.  Members are asked to make these arrangements direct and 
then to advise Democratic Services staff.   

 
(2) The views of the earlier Scrutiny Committee are to be taken into account in arriving at decisions 

(pre decision scrutiny process).  
 



This page is intentionally left blank



- 37 - 
 

240118 

 
EXECUTIVE DECISION RECORD 

 
POLICY AND RESOURCES CABINET BOARD 

 
24 JANUARY 2018 

 

 
 
Cabinet Members: 
 
Councillors: 
 

R.G.Jones, D.Jones and C.Clement-Williams 
 

Officers in Attendance: 
 
D.Rees, A. Hinder and N.Headon 
 
 

 
1. TO AGREE THE CHAIRPERSON FOR THIS MEETING.  

 
Agreed that Councillor C. Clement-Williams be appointed as 
Chairperson. 
 
 

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS POLICY AND RESOURCES CABINET 
BOARD HELD ON 13 DECEMBER 2017  
 
Noted by Committee. 
 
 

3. FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 2018  
 
Decision: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



- 38 - 
 

240118 

4. MISCELLANEOUS GRANT FUND APPLICATIONS  
 
Decision: 

 
1. That approval be granted for Rhianna’s Swing, Ynysfadog Farm, 

Crynant, Neath to receive grant assistance in the sum of £125 p.a. 
for initial 5 years, towards repairing lease of land at Gnoll Country 
Park;  

 
2. That approval be granted for Cilybebyll Community Council, to 

receive grant assistance in the sum of £350 p.a for 5 years towards  
the annual rent of £500 for lease of Lon Tanyrallt Playground, 
Alltwen, Pontardawe; 
 

3. That approval be granted for Trustees of Talbot Memorial Park 
Bowls Association & The Friends of Talbot Memorial Park, to 
receive grant assistance in the sum of £200 p.a. for initial 5 years 
towards the annual rent of £200 p.a. for lease of tea room at 
Taibach Memorial Park.    Friends and Bowls Club to pay £150 for 
electricity and other costs Re: Pavillion. 
 

4. That approval be granted for Trustees of Gwynfi Miners 
Community Hall, Blaengwynfi, Port Talbot, to receive grant 
assistance in the sum of £9,100 towards the annual rent of £9,350, 
for the lease of Gwynfi Miners Community Hall. 
 

Reason for Decision: 
 
To provide financial support in respect of the grant applications received. 
 
Implementation of Decision: 
 
The decision will be implemented after the three day call in period. 
 
 

5. TREASURY MANAGEMENT MONITORING REPORT 2017-2018  
 
Decision: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 
 

Page 6



- 39 - 
 

240118 

6. INCOME GENERATION MARGAM PARK AND PRINCESS ROYAL 
THEATRE  
 
Decision: 
 
That approval be granted to transfer 100k over the next three financial 
years from the Income Generation Reserve to the Princess Royal 
Theatre budget, to part fund the establishment of Marketing and 
Promotion Team that will serve Margam Park, the Orangery and 
Princess Royal Theatre for a three year period. 
 
Reason for Decision: 
 
To fund a post for three years in the Marketing and Promotion team. 
 
Implementation of Decision: 
 
The decision will be implemented after the three day call in period. 
 
 

7. HACKNEY CARRIAGE FARE INCREASE  
 
 
Decision: 
 
That an increase to the maximum hackney carriage fare, be refused. 
 
Reason for Decision: 
 
As 65% of respondents (hackney carriage proprietors drivers) who took 
part in the consultation exercise were opposed to an increase in the 
maximum hackney carriage fare.  
 
Implementation of Decision: 
 
The decision will be implemented after the three day call in period. 
 

8. ACCESS TO MEETINGS  
 
That pursuant to Regulation 4(3) and (5) of Statutory Instrument 2001 
No. 2290, the public be excluded for the following items of business 
which involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
the undermentioned Paragraphs of  Part 4 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

Page 7



- 40 - 
 

240118 

 
 

9. COUNCIL TAX WRITE OFFS  
 
(Exempt under Paragraph 14) 
 
Decision: 
 
That the write off amounts of Council Tax as contained in the private 
circulated report, be approved. 
 
Reason for Decision: 
 
The accounts are irrecoverable. 
 
Implementation of Decision: 
 
The decision will be implemented after the three day call in period. 
 
 

10. HOUSING BENEFIT WRITE OFFS  
 
(Exempt under Paragraph 14) 
 
Decision: 
 
That the write off amounts of Housing Benefit contained within the 
private circulated report, be approved. 
 
Reason for Decision: 
 
The accounts are irrecoverable. 
 
Implementation of Decision: 
 
The decision will be implemented after the three day call in period. 

 
 
 
 
 

CHAIRPERSON 

Page 8



 
Policy and Resources Cabinet Board – Forward Work Programme 

 

Version 15  – 23.2. 17    Responsible Officer:  Nicola Headon 

2018 FORWARD WORK PLAN  

POLICY AND RESOURCES CABINET BOARD 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Meeting 
Date 

 
Agenda Items 

Type 
(Decision/ 

Monitoring Or 
Information) 

Rotation 
(Topical, 
Annual,  

Bi-Annual, 
Quarterly, 
Monthly) 

 
Contact Officer/ Head 

of Service 

18 April 
2018 

Treasury Management  
Monitoring 
 

Information Monthly H Jenkins 

Private Reports: Write offs 
 

Decision Monthly  D. Rees 

Miscellaneous Grant 
Applications 
 

Decision Monthly H.Jenkins 

Corporate Governance   
(Six Monthly Update) 

Monitoring Bi-Annual C.Furlow 
 
 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 4



 
Policy and Resources Cabinet Board – Forward Work Programme 

 

Version 15  – 23.2. 17    Responsible Officer:  Nicola Headon 

 
 
 
 
 

Meeting Date 
 

Agenda Items 

Type 
(Decision/ 

Monitoring Or 
Information) 

Rotation 
(Topical, 
Annual,  

Bi-Annual, 
Quarterly, 
Monthly) 

 
Contact Officer/ Head 

of Service 

 
May 2018 

Treasury Management  
Monitoring 
 

Information Monthly H Jenkins 

Private Reports: Write offs 
 

Decision Monthly  D. Rees 

Miscellaneous Grant 
Applications 
 

Decision Monthly H.Jenkins 

Corporate Governance 
Improvement Action Plan 
(Full year update) 

Information Annual N.Sparkes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 10



 
Policy and Resources Cabinet Board – Forward Work Programme 

 

Version 15  – 23.2. 17    Responsible Officer:  Nicola Headon 

 

 
 

Business Plans to be scheduled for June 2018:  

 Corporate Strategy and Democratic Services (K.Jones) 

 Legal Services (D.Michael) 

 Financial Services (D.Rees) 

 Human Resources (S.Rees) 

 Information Communication Technology (ICT) (S.John) 

 Licensing  (D.Michael/N.Chapple) 

 

Meeting Date 
 

Agenda Items 

Type 
(Decision/ 

Monitoring Or 
Information) 

Rotation 
(Topical, 
Annual,  

Bi-Annual, 
Quarterly, 
Monthly) 

 
Contact Officer/ Head of 

Service 

June 2018 Treasury Management  
Monitoring 
 

Information Monthly H Jenkins 

Private Reports: Write 
offs 
 

Decision Monthly  D. Rees 

Miscellaneous Grant 
Applications 
 

Decision Monthly H.Jenkins 

Business Plans 
 

Decision - TBC 

P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



MARGAM JOINT CREMATORIUM COMMITTEE 
 

(Acting with Plenary Powers) 
 

Members Present:  19 January, 2018 
 
Representing Neath 
Port Talbot County 
Borough Council: 
 

Councillors E.V.Latham, R.G.Jones, 
S.M.Penry, R.L.Taylor and S.Bamsey 
 

Representing 
Bridgend County 
Council: 
 

Councillor A.Pucella 
 

Officers in 
Attendance:  
 

D.Michael, H.Jenkins, C.Phillips, Mrs.A.Dixon, 
C.Grifftihs, R.Jenkins and T.Davies 
 

 

 
1. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING OF THE JOINT 

COMMITTEE HELD ON 22 SEPTEMBER, 2017  
 
RESOLVED: that the Minutes of the previous meeting held on 

the 22 September, 2017 be confirmed as a true 
and accurate record of proceedings. 
 
 

2. ANNUAL BUDGET REPORT  
 
Members were provided with the Margam Crematorium Joint 
Committee revised budget for 2017/18 and the Estimate for 2018/19 
as detailed in the circulated report. 
 
RESOLVED: (a) that the Revised Budget for 2017/18, as 

detailed in the circulated report, be 
approved (including the refund of 
£100,000 to the constituent Authorities); 

 
(b)      that there be no charge for a cremation 

service and certificate for children up to 
and including the age of 17, with 
immediate effect; 

 
(c) that the Budget for 2018/19, as detailed 

in the circulated report, be approved; 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 

190118 

 
(d)      that the precept to be levied for 2018/19 

be agreed as: 
 

- Neath Port Talbot County Borough 
Council - £559 
 
- Bridgend County Borough Council - 
£441 

 
(e) that the fees for 2018/19 be approved, 

as detailed at Appendix 2 to the 
circulated report; 

 
(f) that the projected position in relation to 

the Reserve, as detailed in the 
circulated report, be noted; 

 
(g)      that a sum of £100,000 be used to 

support the following projects: 
 

  CCTV rewiring and camera for the 
driveway 

  Waiting room improvements 

  Book of Remembrance 

  Generator upgrade 
 

 
3. CHRISTMAS MEMORY TREE  

 
Members noted the circulated report concerning the outcome of 
placing a Memory Tree in the Chapel of Remembrance over the 
Christmas period, 2017. The cost of the Christmas tree and cards 
was covered by an anonymous donation. 
 
RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 
 
 

4. APPLICATIONS FOR CREMATIONS  
 
Members received information regarding applications for cremations, 
for the period 1 July 2017 to 31 December 2017. 
 
RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 

Page 14



 

190118 

5. BUILDING PROJECTS AND FORWARD MAINTENANCE  
 
Members discussed the circulated report, and gave direction for the 
Technical Officer and his Officers to explore options and undertake a 
costing into an extension for the Chapel.  
 
RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 
 
 

6. CREMATION STATISTICS  
 
RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 
 
 

7. THE CREMATION (ENGLAND AND WALES) (AMENDMENT) 
REGULATIONS 2017  
 
Members discussed the circulated report concerning the making of 
new regulations in relation to cremation, and the requirement to 
revise forms used by Margam Crematorium. 
 
RESOLVED: That the Superintendent Registrar be authorised to 

produce amended forms for use at the 
Crematorium, as detailed within the circulated 
report. 

 
 

8. URGENT ITEM  
 
Because of the need to deal now with the matter contained in Minute 
No. 9 below, the Chairperson agreed that this could be raised at 
today’s meeting as an urgent item pursuant to Statutory Instrument 
2001 No. 2290 (as amended). 
 
Reason: 
 
Due to the time element 
 
 

9. APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR  
 
RESOLVED: that in the absence of the new Member for 

Bridgend County Borough Council, the 
appointment of Vice Chair of the Margam 
Joint Crematorium Committee for the 

Page 15



 

190118 

remainder of the Civic Year 2017/18, be 
deferred to the next meeting. 
 
 

10. ACCESS TO MEETINGS  
 
RESOLVED: that pursuant to Section 100A(4) and (5) of the 

Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded for the following items of business 
which involved the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraphs 12 and 14 
of Part 4 of Schedule 12A to the above Act. 
 
 

11. 3 GREENACRES, MARGAM  
 
RESOLVED:  That the private report be noted. 

 
 
 
 
 

CHAIRPERSON 

Page 16



 
NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

POLICY AND RESOURCES CABINET BOARD 
 

7th March, 2018 
 

 REPORT OF THE HEAD OF CORPORATE STRATEGY AND DEMOCRATIC 
SERVICES – MRS K. JONES 

 
 

MATTER FOR: Monitoring 

 

Wards Affected: All  

 

Report Title 
 

1. Quarterly Performance Management Data 2017/2018 – Quarter 3 
Performance (1st April – 31st December 2017) 

Purpose of the Report  

2. To report quarter 3 performance management data for the period 1st April 
2017 to 31st December 2017 for Chief Executive’s and Finance & Corporate 
Services Directorates and the performance management data for the same 
period for services that are within the remit of the other four Cabinet Boards 
(Education, Skills and Culture, Social Care Health and Wellbeing, Street 
Scene and Engineering and Regeneration and Sustainable Development). 
This will enable the Policy & Resources Cabinet Board and Scrutiny 
Members to discharge their functions in relation to performance 
management.  

Executive Summary 

3. Section 1 of the appendix includes a summary of performance per service 
area of the data detailed in section 2. 
 

4. Section 2 of the appendix includes the performance data and where relevant 
comments for the Council’s full suite of performance indicators. Performance 
Indicators no’s 1 to 25 relate to service areas and functions within the 
purview of Policy and Resources Cabinet Board. Also included in this 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



section is a performance key which includes symbols to explain the direction 
of improvement of each performance indicator. 
 

5. Section 3 includes Compliments and Complaints data that is collected in line 
with the Council’s Comments, Compliments & Complaints Policy and are 
reported to relevant Cabinet Boards/Scrutiny Committees on a quarterly 
basis. 
 

6. Performance data and comments contained within this report for the 
Education, Leisure & Lifelong Learning Directorate, Social Services Health 
and Housing Directorate and Environment Directorate are also reported to 
the relevant Cabinet Boards.  

Background  

7. The role of scrutiny committees was amended at the Annual Meeting of 
Council in May 2010 to reflect the changes introduced by the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2009: 

 

 Scrutinise the service improvement set out in the Corporate Plan 
which fall within the committee’s purview; 

 Scrutinise the performance of all services within its purview and the 
extent to which services are continuously improving; 

 Ensure performance measures are in place for each service and that 
the measures reflect what matters to local citizens; 

 Commission and participate in systems reviews through appropriate 
mechanisms and report onwards to the Executive 

 Monitor implementation by the Executive of responses to the 
conclusions and recommendations of the Council’s external 
regulators; and  

 Promote innovation by challenging the status quo and encourage 
different ways of thinking and options for service delivery. 

 

Financial Impact  

8. The performance described in the Report is being delivered against a 
challenging financial backdrop.  

Equality Impact Assessment  

9.  This report is not subject to an Equality Impact Assessment. 

Page 18

https://www.npt.gov.uk/1454


Workforce Impacts 

10. The Council has seen a downsizing of its workforce by 197 in 2015/16 and 
by a further 198 in 2016/17 as it sought to deliver significant year on year 
savings. 

Legal Impacts 

11.   This Report is prepared under: 

1) The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 and discharges the 
Council’s duties to “make arrangements to secure continuous 
improvement in the exercise of its functions”.  

2) The Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council Constitution requires 
each cabinet committee to monitor quarterly budgets and performance in 
securing continuous improvement of all the functions within its purview.  

Risk Management 

12.  Failure to produce a compliant report within the timescales can lead to 
non-compliance with our Constitution. Also, failure to have robust 
performance monitoring arrangements could result in poor performance 
going undetected.  

Consultation 

13. No requirement to consult. 

Recommendations  

14. Members monitor performance contained within this report. 

Reasons for Proposed Decision  

15. Matter for monitoring. No decision required. 

Implementation of Decision 

16. Matter for monitoring. No decision required. 

Appendices  

17. Appendix 1 - Quarterly Performance Management Data 2017/2018 – 
Quarter 3 Performance (1st April 2017 – 31st December 2017). 

Page 19



Officer Contact 

18. Karen Jones, Head of Corporate Strategy & Democratic Services. 
Telephone: 01639 763284. E-Mail: k.jones3@npt.gov.uk 

 
19. Shaun Davies, Performance Management Officer. Telephone: 01639 

763172. E-Mail: a.s.davies@npt.gov.uk 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20

mailto:k.jones3@npt.gov.uk
mailto:a.s.davies@npt.gov.uk


Appendix 1 
  

 
 
Quarterly Performance Management Data 2017/2018 – Quarter 3 
Performance (1st April 2017 – 31st December 2017) 
 

Report Contents:  
 
Section 1: Summary of performance 
 
Section 2: Quarterly Performance Management Data and performance key  
 
Section 3: Compliments & Complaints Data 

 
 

Section 1: Summary of performance 
 
Sickness Management 

 Managing sickness absence continues to be a priority action for Heads of 
Services and their managers. Additional HR resource was established in 
2014 to support the Early Intervention and Effective Communication 
Strategy developed by the Long Term Sickness Absence Taskforce, and in 
particular to provide managers with prompting on actions necessary to 
support an earlier return to work. The Quarter 3 data is encouraging and 
suggests this strategy is having a positive impact. The data provided to 
Members in this quarter has been expanded, to provide a breakdown by 
Head of Service - Members will note that the Quarter 3 data is provided for 
2017 /18, along with the data for the same period in 2016 /17 to enable a 
comparison to be made. Data has also been provided on the number 
employees absence on 3 or more occasions, followed by the number of 
days lost by these employees, and then the number of employees absence 
for 28 days or more, and again followed by the number of days lost by these 
employees.   

 
 
Customer Services 

 Customer waiting times (face to face contact at Neath and Port Talbot One 
Stop Shops) continue to improve and the average waiting time for the 9 
month period is now 3.9 minutes. Customer walk offs are 0.1%. The number 
of customers being seen face to face compared with the same period last 
year continues to reduce.  

Page 21



 Average time taken to answer telephone calls and percentage of abandoned 
telephone calls are now reported separately in Welsh and English. More 
information in relation to handing Welsh calls is found under indicator 
number 7. 

 Overall, in relation telephone call performance, for the nine month period 
there has been an improvement in both average time taken to answer 
telephone calls and the percentage of abandoned calls.  

 
 
Education 

 Primary school attendance for the academic year 2016/17 has risen slightly 
from 94.6% to 94.7% (provisional data) when compared to the academic 
year 2015/16 

 Secondary school attendance for the academic year 2016/17 has fallen 
slightly from 93.7% to 93.6% when compared to the academic year 2015/16. 

 The percentage of pupils who achieved the key stage 2 Core Subject 
Indicator has risen from 84.9% to 85.9% when compared to the academic 
year 2015/16. 

 The percentage of pupils receiving a teacher assessment in Welsh (first 
language) at the end of key stage 2 has remained at 15.6% but has fallen by 
1.5% to 11.2% at key stage 3. 

 The percentage of pupils who achieved the key stage 3 Core Subject 
Indicator has risen from 77.7% to 79.6% when compared to the academic 
year 2015/16.   

 The number of young people in contact with the youth service has increased 
from 32.33% to 37.30%. This equates to 684 more young people attending 
the youth service. 

 The number of full day childcare places provided has increased from 2,199 
to 2,282.  

 The percentage of final statements of special education needs issued within 
26 weeks excluding exceptions has fallen from maximum performance 
100% to 98.15% and the number including exceptions has fallen from 
45.93% to 39.65%. 

 There has been a rise in both the number of statements of special 
educational needs and new statements issued within the period. 

 The number of permanent exclusions from secondary schools has fallen 
considerably from 19 to 12 but there has been a rise in permanent 
exclusions in primary schools from 0 to 1 and a rise in both sectors for fixed-
term exclusions. 

 There has been a fall in the percentage of Year 11 pupils achieving 5 
GCSEs at grades A*-C, or equivalent, including English or Welsh first 
language and Maths and a fall in the wider points score mainly due to a wide 
ranging changes to key stage 4 key indicator calculations in 2017. This has 
affected all other local authorities, and now places NPT below the Welsh 

Page 22



averages in all measures. The decrease in performance was most marked 
in mathematics and affected Free School Meals and non-Free School Meals 
pupils alike. 
 

 Children’s Services                                                                                      
Children and Young People Services provide an outline of performance 
against a set of statutory Welsh Government Performance Indicators for 
Children and Young People Services, which were introduced as part of the 
Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014. In addition, this report 
also contains the CYPS Key Performance Indicators, which were previously 
agreed by Members at the Children, Young People and Education (CYPE) 
Committee on 28th July 2016. 

 
 
Adults Services  

 There has been an improvement in performance in relation to the number of 
assessment and care plans undertaken which have fallen, this can be 
attributed to an increase in the number of referrals that are diverted to third 
sector organisations. In turn this has led to a fall in the number of adults who 
are in receipt of social care. There has also been improvement in delayed 
transfers of care in comparison to last year. We are currently putting action 
plans in place to deal with the volume of care plan reviews needed, and 
expect this area of performance to improve over the next few months.  

 

Homelessness 

 Prevention work continues to be prioritised by the service hence the 
increase in positive outcomes where cases do not progress to become 
homeless and assistance is successful prior to that stage.  A Final Duty is 
accepted where all other duties have not been successful (subject to 
criteria).  Cases that progress to a final Section 75 duty are low. This is 
down to a combination of agreements with local Registered Social 
Landlord’s, our in house Social Lettings Agency and good working 
relationships with local private landlords which enables us to successfully 
house applicants prior to reaching a Section 75 final duty.  

 

 
 
  

Page 23



Housing - Private Sector Renewal  

 Largely properties that are brought back into use are outside of the control 
of the service, for example, they are affected by external factors such as the 
local housing market. The Performance indicator relating to the percentage 
of empty private properties that are brought back into use by the Council has 
been replaced; the new measure (PAM/013 indicator number 102) now 
measures only direct action taken by Local Authorities to bring long term 
empty properties brought back into use. 

 
 
Public Protection  

 95.61% of food establishments were “broadly” compliant with food hygiene 
standards, being a slight increase on last year’s performance within the 
same period which was 93.84%. The percentage of high risk businesses 
inspected for food hygiene is slightly lower (at 67%) than the same period 
last year (was 76%), this is mainly due to other work of the section involving 
investigation of offending businesses taking precedence. 

 The percentage of high risk businesses that have been inspected by Trading 
Standards is higher than the same time last year 87.5% compared to 
69.6%). The team that largely deals with the inspection programme is 
currently working to achieve its proactive obligations whilst reactive demand 
is lower. Some investigations have begun as a result of these inspections, 
reflecting the risk of the business. This should not affect the section meeting 
the 100% target. 

 The majority of significant breaches associated with animal health have 
been rectified, but this has meant that there has been a drop in the number 
of high risk premises being inspected as resources have been allocated to 
complaints and investigations. It is anticipated that both figures will improve 
by the end of the financial year. 

 The percentage of identified new businesses which were subject to a food 
hygiene risk assessment visit is similar to that of last year. All businesses 
are coached and advised prior to the commencement of trading to help raise 
standards and attain legal compliance. The risk assessment inspection can 
only take place when the business is trading, therefore, there is always a lag 
period between food businesses becoming registered and actually having  
an unannounced inspection. 

 

Planning                                                                                               

 With the exception of indicators PLA/M001 (Performance Indicator 120) – 
‘average time taken from receipt of application to validation of application - 
days’ and PLA/M002 (Performance Indicator 119) – ‘average time taken 
from receipt of application to date decision is issued – days’ – the Quarter 3 
figures show improvement in all performance indicators compared against 
the same period in 2016/17. 

Page 24



 While it will remain essential to focus on PLA/M001 and PLA/M002, as 
indicated in previous quarterly reports these figures have been skewed by a 
number of applications where applications have been “re-registered” for 
procedural reasons (thus significantly increasing the receipt – valid time) 
along with a number of very old applications having been “cleared out”, 
having taken a number of years to determine. While necessary to include 
these in the overall average, omitting such applications significantly reduces 
the number of days, indicating that the service continues to register and 
determine applications expeditiously in the majority of cases, albeit there 
remains work to do to clear old cases from the system. 

 As indicated above, the overall picture of determination of applications is 
shown to be very positive compared with the same period last year. In 
addition to the 95.5% of applications which were determined ‘in time’ (which 
includes an agreed extension of time between the council and applicant), 
the increased focus on improving performance on major applications 
(PLA/M004 – Performance Indicator 117) has also started to pay dividends 
in incrementally improved performance with 45% of major applications in the 
year to date determined inside 8 weeks. 

 
 
Building Control  

 Both performance indicators show improvement from the same quarter in 
2016/17. 

 
 
Economic Development 

 Throughout this financial year, the Team have had to deal with a high 
volume of enquiries, particularly from existing businesses looking for support 
to enable them to expand and grow. Many of these investments, once 
completed, will have a positive effect on the local economy as new private 
sector investment is secured to support the creation of new jobs and 
safeguard existing employment.  

 The Team are also working closely with the Port Talbot Waterfront 
Enterprise Zone Board to attract new investment and jobs to the area while 
providing support to many local businesses within the Tata supply chain 
affected by continuing uncertainties within the steel industry. The aim of this 
support is to help local businesses diversify and enter new markets to not 
only secure their future, but further promote economic growth. Outputs 
achieved to date are in the process of being confirmed and will be reported 
at the end of March 2018. This will have a positive effect on the final key 
performance indicators reported for the Economic Development service for 
2017/18. 

 Through the South West Workways+ project, the Team is delivering training 
and paid work experience opportunities to long-term unemployed across the 
region to help them get their lives and those of their families back on track. 

Page 25



 In addition, referrals from partners such as the Department of Works and 
Pensions and Welsh Government, is ensuring that individuals considering 
self-employment are being referred to the Council’s Enterprise Club for 
valuable advice and guidance. 

 

 
Asset Management  

 Local Authority buildings conditions and maintenance are annual indicators 
and will be reported during the quarter 4 period of 2017/18. 

 
 
Libraries  

 There has been a slight fall in the number of people using Public Libraries 
during the year, per 1,000 population which can be attributed to the libraries 
being shut longer over the Christmas period and some discrepancy with the 
recording of the website visits which are under investigation.  

 The fall in library material issues can be attributed to several factors: the 
refurbishment of several care homes, discrepancies in the issuing recording 
system and a reduction in the bookfund which has a negative effect on book 
acquisition and in turn issues. This decline in issues is in line with national 
trends - the average fall UK wide in 2016-17 was 6%. 

 It should be noted there is an increased use of digital services via national 
schemes (i.e. e-magazine and e-audio/e-book service) which are not 
reflected in the figures for these performance indicators. (approx. 13,000 
issues and 6,500 website). 

 
 
 
 
Sport and Leisure 

 Visitors to local authority sports and leisure centres who participate in 
physical activity have seen a continuing steady rise in numbers due to the 
increasing popularity of the new “Aberavon Leisure and Fitness Centre” and 
the hire of “Ysgol Bae Baglan” facilities by the general public. 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 26



Waste Management  

 The Council is progressing with the implementation of its Waste Strategy 
and achieved the 2015/16 statutory recycling and composting target of 58%.  
It is also on the way to achieving the next target of 64% by 2019/20. 

 More tonnage of recycling was collected by the Council when compared to 
the same period last year. However, more tonnage of waste was also 
collected, therefore overall; recycling performance is lower than for the same 
period last year. 

 Natural Resources Wales (NRW) has also reclassified some wood waste 
products previously sent for recycling which can no longer be included in the 
recycling figures as in previous years. 

 The performance indicator for the total percentage of local authority 
collected municipal waste used for reuse, recycling and composting includes 
the total amount of RDF (refuse derived fuel) produced at the MREC 
(Materials Recovery and Energy Centre) that is used off site as a fuel, for 
example, in the current cement manufacturing industry. Numerous outlets 
are used for this material and both national and local market availability can 
affect how much RDF is used during the course of any year and fluctuations 
in performance is to be expected. 

 At the time of writing this report, information for RDF recycling from the 
MREC is outstanding but will be included in the end of year report. 

 The amount of waste collected for composting includes the tonnage of 
garden waste collected by the Council and therefore subject to seasonal 
variations in weather conditions where less garden waste can be collected 
from one year to the next. NRW has also reclassified street sweeping waste 
collected as recycling and not composting. 

 
 
Transport and Highways 

 The Council continues to progress its lighting renewal contract and is on 
target to finish in 2018. The calculation of the performance indicator  has 
been temporarily suspended until software changes are implemented which 
will correct a problem that has been identified in the data collection, i.e. the 
current software counts planned replacement of working lamps which are 
approaching life expectancy as a ‘not working’ fault which is not correct. 

 Welsh Government has, via the National Fraud Initiative along with Applied 
Card Technologies, identified approximately 28,000 deceased bus pass 
holders across Wales and cancelled the passes. This has had a significant 
impact on the number, which has reduced by 3,571 cards.  In addition, First 
Cymru have switched on a piece of software on their ticket machines that 
identify inactive cards (termed as hotlisted cards) this will have further 
impact on the reduction of concessionary cards in circulation, as most routes 
in the County are operated by their business. 

 
 

Page 27



Street Scene & Countryside Management  

 The performance data for street cleanliness is reported annually and 
therefore will be reported in Quarter 4. 

Page 28



Section 2: Quarterly Performance Management Data and Performance key 
 

2017/2018– Quarter  3  Performance (1st April 2017 – 31st December 2017) 
 

Note: The following references are included in the table. Explanations for these are as follows: 
 

 
(PAM) Public Accountability Measures - a revised set of national indicators for 2017/18. Following feedback from 
authorities the revised performance measurement framework was ratified at the WLGA (Welsh Local Government 
Association) Council on the 31st March 2017. These measures provide an overview of local government performance 
and how it contributes to the national well-being goals. This information is required and reported nationally, validated, 
and published annually. 

 
All Wales - The data shown in this column is the figure calculated using the base data supplied by all authorities for 
2016/2017 i.e. an overall performance indicator value for Wales.  

 
(Local) Local Performance Indicator set by the Council and also includes former national data sets (such as former 
National Strategic Indicators or Service Improvement Data – SID’s) that continue to be collected and reported locally. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 29



 Performance Key 

 Maximum Performance. 

↑ Performance has improved. 

↔ Performance has been maintained.  

v Performance has declined but is within 5% of previous year’s performance. 

↓ 
Performance has declined by 5% or more on previous year’s performance. Where 
performance has declined by 5% or more for the period in comparison to the previous 
year, an explanation is provided directly below the relevant performance indicator. 

─ No comparable data (data not suitable for comparison/no data available for comparison). 

 No All Wales data available for comparison. 

 2016/17 NPT performance in upper quartile (top six of 22 local authorities) in comparison 
with All Wales national published measures.  

 2016/17 NPT performance in mid quartiles (7th – 16th) in comparison with All Wales 
national published measures. 

 
2016/17 NPT performance in lower quartile (17th – 22nd) in comparison with All Wales 
national published measures. 
 

 
 
 

  

   1st
 – 6

th
  

7
th

 – 16
th 

17
th

 – 

22nd
 

P
age 30



 

 

 

1. Chief Executive’s and Finance & Corporate Services – Sickness Data 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 

2015/16 

NPT 
Actual 

2016/17 

All  
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

1 

 
PAM/001 

(PAM) 
 

Number of working days lost to sickness absence per 
employee. 

 
9.7 9.9 

 
10.3 

 
 

 
7.3 

 
6.6 ↑ 

    10
th  

P
age 31



 
 

 

P
age 32



 
 

 

P
age 33



 

2. Chief Executive’s and Finance & Corporate Services – Customer Services 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 

2015/16 

NPT 
Actual 

2016/17 

All  
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

2 
 

CS001 
(Local) 

Customer Services - Average customer waiting times 
(face to face contact). 

5.4 
minutes 

6.5 
minutes 

 7.1 
minutes 

3.9 
minutes ↑ 

3 

 
CS004 
(Local) 

Customer Services - Percentage of customers leaving 
before being seen (walk offs). 

0.07% 
(44 of 

65,481) 

0.12% 
(85 of 

71,589) 

 0.13% 
(69 of 

54,824) 

0.10% 
(48 of 

46,395) 

↑ 

4 
CS003b 
(Local) 

Customer Services - Percentage of telephone calls 
abandoned after 5 seconds – English calls. 

2.63 % 
(all calls) 

 

3.64 % 
(5,225 of 
143,391) 

 4.1% 
(4,462 of 
108,667) 

2.9% 
(2,727 of 
94,579) 

 

 

↑ 

5 
CS002b 
(Local) 

Customer Services - Average time to answer telephone 
calls in English 

16 
seconds 
(all calls) 

21 
seconds  

22 
seconds 
(all calls) 

18 
seconds ↑ 

6 

 
CS002a 
(Local) 

 

 
Customer Services - Average time to answer telephone 
calls in Welsh. 

 
_ 

 
18 

seconds 

  
Included in 

all calls 
above 

 
24 

seconds 

 

─ 

7 

 
CS003a 
(Local) 

 
Customer Services - Percentage of telephone calls 
abandoned after 5 seconds – Welsh calls. 

_ 11.14% 
(151 of 

1,394 calls) 

 12.30% 
(118 of 

961 calls) 

16.10% 
(133 of 

820 calls) 

 

↓ 

Comment for CS002a and CS003a: We have noted a decrease in the number of incoming Welsh calls in comparison with Quarter 3 2016 / 2017. We 
have seen a small increase in abandoned calls which due to the slight reduction in overall calls has resulted in an increase in our abandoned 
percentage. The number of bilingual (English and Welsh speakers) staff members within the Contact Centre means that there will not always be an 
officer available immediately as they may be dealing with existing callers to the Contact Centre, as these officers deal with both English and Welsh calls 
as they come in. For comparative purposes the time taken to answer between Welsh and English calls and the number of available officers can mean 
that wait times are slightly higher and as a result abandoned calls can be slightly higher as a percentage.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 34



 

3. Chief Executive’s and Finance & Corporate Services – Digital by Choice Measures  
 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT  
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT 
Actual 

2016/17 

All 
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

8 

 
DBC/003 
(Local) 

 
Percentage of webpages available in Welsh. 

 
88% 

 

 
99.9% 

(1,095 of 
1,096) 

  
98% 

(1,062 of 
1,084) 

 
100% 

(1,103 of 
1,103) 

 

 
 
 

Latest available data is as at 30th June 2017. The new content management system (Umbraco) was launched in July. As the new system reporting software 

is being developed we should be in a position to report updated information in the next quarter. 

9 

DBC/002 
(Local) 

Number of new services available on-line. 7 8  8 19 ↑ 
2016/17 data includes new on-line (i.e. public facing) services delivered since October 2013 through ‘Better, Simpler, Cheaper’ (previous Improvement 

Objectives) and Digital by Choice work streams. 2017/18 data includes all internally developed or internally supported online services since October 2013. 

As at 31st December 2017 there are 19 new services available online, 4 of which have recently been developed: School Payments, Reporting Empty 

Properties, Rural Regeneration Fund application and the Employee Portal. There are a further 7 online services under development and due for 

implementation during 2017/18. There are also a number of older online services available such as planning applications, libraries: reserve a book, 

payments: council tax/business rates and job applications. In addition, there are numerous ‘static’ online forms available and a number of links on our 

website to online services provided by other organisations, for example registering to vote (Central Government service). 

10 

 
DBC/001 
(Local) 

 

 
Percentage of transactions completed on-line (new services). 

 
56.9% 

 

 
67.7% 

(59,791 of 
88,264) 

  
67.4% 

(40,754 of 
60,476) 

 
72.2% 

(41,336 of 
57,233) 

 

↑ 

Data for this measure includes information for the following services: Bulks, refuse and recycling equipment requests, location based reporting for dog bins, 
grit bins and missed waste collections reporting. Pest control appointment booking, and van permits can also be requested on-line.  
 
 
Performance  graphs have been provided below for a number of those services that are available online: 
 
 

 

P
age 35



 

 

6 

11 12 

17 17 16 

22 
25 

23 24 
26 

20 

25 25 

30 

25 25 25 25 

30 
27 28 29 

25 

31 

39 
42 

37 38 
35 35 

38 

43 42 
39 

44 
47 

42 

55 

48 

53 
49 

52 
48 

44 
46 46 

48 

53 
55 

43 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Oct 13 Jan 14 Apr-14 Jul-14 Oct 14 Jan 15 Apr-15 Jul-15 Oct-15 Jan-16 Apr-16 Jul-16 Oct-16 Jan-17 Apr-17 Jul-17 Oct-17

% Bulks booked online - Oct 2013 - December 2017 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

No. of bulks booked in CS and Online - Oct 13 - December 17 

CS ONLINE

P
age 36



 

 

21.7 
26.5 28.7 

35.7 38.5 
45.4 

36.5 
41 43.4 

56 58 58 60 62 63 
68 

62 

73 72 72 73 74.5 
79 76.5 78.9 75 78 80 82.86 85.69 81.80 

86.3 
82 83 85.19 81.8 

87.2 
81.8 82.5 84.55 81.23 

88.6 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Ju
l-1

4

A
u

g-1
4

Se
p

-1
4

O
ct-1

4

N
o

v-1
4

D
e

c-1
4

Jan
-1

5

Fe
b

-1
5

M
ar-1

5

A
p

r-1
5

M
ay-1

5

Ju
n

-1
5

Ju
l-1

5

A
u

g-1
5

Se
p

-1
5

O
ct-1

5

N
o

v-1
5

D
e

c-1
5

Jan
-1

6

Fe
b

-1
6

M
ar-1

6

A
p

r-1
6

M
ay-1

6

Ju
n

-1
6

Ju
l-1

6

A
u

g-1
6

Se
p

 1
6

-

O
ct-1

6

N
o

v-1
6

D
e

c-1
6

Jan
-1

7

Fe
b

-1
7

M
ar-1

7

A
p

r-1
7

M
ay-1

7

Ju
n

-1
7

Ju
l-1

7

A
u

g-1
7

Se
p

-1
7

O
ct-1

7

N
o

v-1
7

D
e

c-1
7

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 

Month 

% Van Permits Requested Online  
July 2014 - December 2017 

9.95 
17.16 21.82 

29.47 
39.36 37 

26 
15 

44 

24 23 22 
31 33 32 33 31 35 33 34 

19 
27 

35 39 35 
43 

35 
40 36 

45 43 41 
48 

53 49 
39 

49 
44 40 

32 
38 34 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Ju
l-1

4

A
u

g-1
4

Se
p

-1
4

O
ct-1

4

N
o

v-1
4

D
ec-1

4

Jan
-1

5

Fe
b

-1
5

M
ar-1

5

A
p

r-1
5

M
ay-1

5

Ju
n

-1
5

Ju
l-1

5

A
u

g-1
5

Se
p

-1
5

O
ct-1

5

N
o

v-1
5

D
ec-1

5

Jan
-1

6

Fe
b

-1
6

M
ar-1

6

A
p

r-1
6

M
ay-1

6

Ju
n

-1
6

Ju
l-1

6

A
u

g-1
6

Se
p

-1
6

O
ct-1

6

N
o

v-1
6

D
ec-1

6

Jan
-1

7

Fe
b

-1
7

M
ar-1

7

A
p

r-1
7

M
ay-1

7

Ju
n

-1
7

Ju
l-1

7

A
u

g-1
7

Se
p

-1
7

O
ct-1

7

N
o

v-1
7

D
ec-1

7
N

u
m

b
e

r 
B

o
o

ke
d

 

Month 

Pest Control Appointment Booked Online  
July 2014 to December 2017 

P
age 37



 

 

14 

33 
38.5 40.8 43 43 

38 39 36 

44 
48 50 

46 
53 50 53 53 51 

55 
61 59 

55 
59 

69 
62 62 

67 66 63 
69.5 69.4 72 73.6 75 

69.5 
76.6 77.5 

73.9 76.6 77.2 
72.7 

68.0 

77.3 76.8 
72 

68.27 
75.2 

78.4 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Jan
-1

4

Fe
b

-1
4

M
ar-1

4

A
p

r-1
4

M
ay-1

4

Ju
n

-1
4

Ju
l-1

4

A
u

g-1
4

Se
p

-1
4

O
ct-1

4

N
o

v-1
4

D
e

c-1
4

Jan
-1

5

Fe
b

-1
5

M
ar-1

5

A
p

r-1
5

M
ay-1

5

Ju
n

-1
5

Ju
l-1

5

A
u

g-1
5

Se
p

-1
5

O
ct-1

5

N
o

v-1
5

D
e

c-1
5

Jan
-1

6

Fe
b

-1
6

M
ar-1

6

A
p

r-1
6

M
ay-1

6

Ju
n

-1
6

Ju
l-1

6

A
u

g-1
6

Se
p

-1
6

O
ct-1

6

N
o

v-1
6

D
e

c-1
6

Jan
-1

7

Fe
b

-1
7

M
ar-1

7

A
p

r-1
7

M
ay-1

7

Ju
n

-1
7

Ju
l-1

7

A
u

g-1
7

Se
p

-1
7

O
ct-1

7

N
o

v-1
7

D
e

c-1
7
% Refuse and Recycling equipment ordered online 

January 2014 - December  2017 
 

P
age 38



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

36% 
30% 32% 

13% 

30% 
24% 24% 

28% 
33.00% 32% 35% 33% 

25% 28% 
38% 

31% 
25% 

19% 
12% 12% 

0% 

21% 

31% 

64% 
70% 68% 

87% 

70% 
76% 76% 

72% 
67.00% 68% 65% 67% 69% 72% 

62% 
69% 

75% 
81% 

88% 88% 

100% 

79% 

69% 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Dec-15 Feb-16 Apr-16 Jun-16 Aug-16 Oct-16 Dec-16 Feb-17 Apr-17 Jun-17 Aug-17 Oct-17

Map Based Reporting Dec 15 - December 17 

Phone Contacts Online Contacts

P
age 39



 

3. Chief Executive’s and Finance & Corporate Services – Digital by Choice Measures cont. 
 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT  
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT 
Actual 

 2016/17 

All 
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

11 

DBC/004 
(Local) 

Reduce the demand on Customer Services - number of 
visitors to one stop shops. 

67,886 71,589 
  

54,824 
 

46,395 
 

↑ 

Demand on Customer Services in total for the both One Stop Shop (OSS) sites has reduced. Total callers for the period 01/04/16 – 31/12/16 were 54,824 
compared to 46,395 for the same period this year. This is mainly due to a reduction in recycling enquiries – 6,587 (01/04/16 – 31/12/16) to 4,390 (01/04/17 
– 31/12/17) and Council Tax enquiries – 4,692 (01/04/16 – 31/12/16) to 3,054 (01/04/17 – 31/12/17). Staff in both the OSS sites continue to actively 
promote the online services available to customers. There has also been a reduction in customer wait times – average of 7.1 minutes (Q.3 2016-2017) as 
opposed to 3.9 minutes (Q.3 2017-2018). This can be partly attributed to the reduction. In addition to this the percentage of customer walk offs has reduced 
0.13% (Q.3 2016 – 2017) to 0.10% (Q.3 2017- 2018). There has been a slight increase in the percentage of discretionary Blue Badges issued via Team 
Leader discretion for this third quarter - 68% of all discretionary blue badges sent out automatically on expiry of the old badge compared to the same period 
last year - 65%. This has meant 130 less customers having to make an application in person. Every face to face application takes a member of staff 
approximately 28 minutes to deal with. In addition to this it has reduced the need for a reminder letter to be sent out (reduction in postage costs).  

12 
DBC/006 
(Local) 

Improve the professional rating of our website page rating from 
a 1 star (maximum rating is 4 star). 

2 star 3 star 
 N/A 

Reported Annually  ─ 

13 

 
 

DBC/007 
(Local) 

 
Percentage of customers very satisfied/satisfied or OK with 
improvements made to services available on-line – General 
look and feel. 

 
91% 

 
97% 

(196 out of 
203) 

  
97% 

(196 out of 
203) 

Survey 
undertaken 

Sep/Oct 
2016 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

N/A  
Reported 
Annually 

─ 

14 

 
 

DBC/008 
(Local) 

 
More of our customers find the website easier to use: 
Percentage very satisfied/satisfied or OK with ease of getting 
around site. 

 
83% 

 
91% 

(184 out of 
203) 

  
91% 

(184 out of 
203) 

─ 

15 

 
 

DBC/009 
(Local) 

 
More of our customers can access the information/service they 
want (on our website) first time: % very satisfied/satisfied or 
OK with ease of finding information/services. 

 
78% 

 
84% 

(169 out of 
199) 

  
85% 

(169 out of 
199) 

Survey 
undertaken 

Sep/Oct 
2016 

 

 
─ 

P
age 40



 
 

 

4. Chief Executive’s and Finance & Corporate Services – other 

 No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT  
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT 
 Actual 
2016/17 

All  
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

16 

 
 

Benefits 
M002 
(Local) 

 
 
Average days taken for new claims and changes 
of circumstances from application to assessment. 

 
 

4.8 

 
 

5.4 
534,710 days 

/ 98,291 
assessments 

 
 

 

9.1       

309,846 days 

/ 34,049 

assessments 

 

7.2      

282,282 days 

/ 39,372 

assessments 

↑ 
 

 
17 

 
 
 

CFH/007 
(Local) 

 
 
The percentage of council tax due for the financial 
year which was received by the authority. 

 
 

97.9% 
£59,369,316 

of 
£60,654,754 

 

 
 

98.0% 
£61,953,092 

of 
£63,205,489 

 
 

97.2% 
(Welsh 

Average) 

 
 

85.5% 
£54,140,075 

of 
£63,305,681 

 
 

 
 

85.8% 
£56,214,101 

of 
£65,532,521 

 
 

 
↑ 
 

18 
CHR/001 

(local) 

The percentage of employees (including teachers 
and school based staff) who leave the 
employment of the local authority, whether on a 
voluntary or involuntary basis. 

 
 

13.22% 

 
 

11.04% 
(667 of 
6,044) 

 
 

 

 

 
 

9.12% 
(551 of 
6,038) 

 

 
 

7.71% 
(461 of 
5,976) 

 

↑ 
 

19 
7.7(L)     

(Local) 

Percentage of standard searches carried out in 10 

working days. 

 

61.5% 

 

 

90.6% 

 

 87.8% 95.5% 

 
 

↑ 
 

P
age 41



 

 

4. Chief Executive’s and Finance & Corporate Services – other 

 No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT  
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT 
 Actual 
2016/17 

All  
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

20 

 
Benefits 

M001 
(Local) 

 
Benefits Accuracy Rate - percentage of correctly 
granted benefit against total granted. 

 
99.95% 

 
 

 
99.94% 

£54,607,544 
of 

£54,642,981 
 

  
99.99% 

£42,499,663 
of 

£42,537,511 

 
 

 
99.95% 

£42,329,515 
of 

£42,350,466 

 
 

↔ 

21 

CFH/008 
(Local) 

The percentage of non-domestic rates due for the 
financial year which were received by the local 
authority. 

 
98.0% 

£41,012,706 
of 

£41,837,905 

 
98.1% 

£41,749,893 
of 

£42,569,361 

  
86.2% 

£36,750,760
of 

£42,642,942 

 
85.1% 

£33,878,843 
of 

£39,805,393 
v 

The service has recently had a number of businesses with high ‘rateable values’ brought into rating with retrospective balances due to be paid. These 
balances should be cleared by the end of the year and it is anticipated that collection levels will be maintained. 

22 
 

PAM/002 
(PAM) 

Percentage of people that agree their local council 
provides high quality services. 

New National Measure (Public Accountability Measure) for 2017/18. 
Data provided by Welsh Government 

─ 

23 

 
PAY/001i 

(local) 
 

Percentage of invoices paid within 30 days. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

N/a new 

94.35% 

 

─ 

24 

 
PAY/001ii 

(local) 
 

The amount of interest paid to suppliers due to late 
payment. 

 NIL 
─ 

25 

 
PAY/001iii 

(local) 
 

The total amount of interest that the contracting 
authority was liable to pay, i.e. whether or not paid, 
whether statutory or otherwise, due to a breach of 
the Regulations. 

 £10,954.35 
─ 

P
age 42



 
 

 

 5. Education – Schools 
 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 

2015/16 
(2014/15  
academic 

year) 

All  
Wales 

2016/17 
(2015/16 
academic 

year) 

NPT 
Quarter 3 

2016/17 
(2015/16 full 

academic 
year) 

NPT  
Quarter 3 

2017/18 
(2016/17 full 

academic 
year) 

 
Direction of 

Improvement 
 

26 

 
PAM/004 

(PAM) 
 

The percentage of pupils assessed at the end of Key Stage 2, in 
schools maintained by the local authority, achieving the Core 
Subject Indicator, as determined by Teacher Assessment. 

 

83.3% 
(1,194  

of 1,433 
pupils) 

 
89.0% 

 
84.9% 
(1,331  

of 1,567 
pupils) 

 
85.9% 
(1,315  

of 1,531 
pupils) 

↑ 

27 

 
PAM/005 

(PAM) 

   
 

The percentage of pupils assessed at the end of Key Stage 3, in 
schools maintained by the local authority, achieving the Core 
Subject Indicator, as determined by Teacher Assessment. 

 
77.8% 

(1,160 of 
1,491 
pupils) 

 
86.1% 

 
77.7% 

(1,165 of 
1,499  
pupils) 

 

79.6% 
(1,170 of 

1,470 
pupils) 

↑ 

28 
EDU/008b 

(Local) 

The number of permanent exclusions during the academic year per 
1,000 pupils from Secondary Schools. 
 

 
1.2 

(9 of 7,377 
pupils) 

  
2.6 

(19 of 7,372 
pupils) 

 
1.6 

(12 of 7,488 
pupils) 

↑ 

29 
EDU/009a 

(Local) 

The average number of school days that permanently excluded 
pupils did not receive an offer of full time appropriate education 
provision during the academic year. 

26.7 
(240 days 

for 9 pupils) 
 

35.0 
(699 days for 

20 pupils) 

17.2 
(223 days  

for 13 pupils) 
↑ 

30 

 
PAM/007 

(PAM) 
 

The Percentage of pupil attendance in Primary Schools. 

 
94.8% 

(3,262,430 
of 

3,441,713 
sessions) 

 
94.9% 

 
94.6% 

(3,306,608 
 of  

3,496,979 
sessions) 

 
94.7% 

(3,315,084  
of 

3,501,081 
sessions) 

 

↑ 

31 
EDU/006i 

(Local) 

The percentage of pupils assessed, in schools maintained by the 
local authority, receiving a Teacher Assessment in Welsh (first 
language) at the end of: Key Stage 2. 

 
14.1% 
(202 of 
1,433 
pupils) 

 
20.2% 

 

 
15.6% 

(244 of 1,567 
pupils) 

 
15.6% 

(239 of 1,531 
pupils) 

↔ 

22
nd

 

22
nd 

19
th

  

P
age 43



 5. Education – Schools cont. 
 

 No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT  
Actual 
2015/16 

(2014/15  
academic 

year) 

All 
 Wales 
2016/17 
(2015/16 
academic 

year) 

NPT 
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

(2015/16 full 
academic 

year) 

NPT 
Quarter 3 
2017/18 

(2016/17 full 
academic 

year) 

Direction of 
Improvement 

 

32 
 

PAM/008 
(PAM) 

The percentage of pupil attendance in Secondary Schools. 

 

93.7% 
(2,148,160 of 

2,293,388 
sessions) 

 
94.2% 

 

93.7% 
(2,186,082 of 

2,332,537 
sessions) 

 

93.6% 
(2,177,916 of 

2,325,867 
sessions) 

v 

33 

 
EDU/006ii 

(Local) 
 
 

The percentage of pupils assessed, in schools maintained by the local 
authority, receiving a Teacher Assessment in Welsh (first language) at 
the end of: Key Stage 3. 

 
11.6% 
(173 of 
1,491) 

 
18.0% 

 
12.7% 
(191 of 
1,499) 

 

11.2% 
(165 of 
1,470) 

v 

34 
PAM/003 

(PAM) 
Percentage of pupils achieving the expected outcome at the end of the 
Foundation Phase. 

82.3% 
(1,279 of 

1,554) 
 

81.4% 
(1,264 of 
1,552) 

 
81.2% 

(1,248 of 
1,537) 

 

v 

35 
EDU/008a 

(local) 

The number of permanent exclusions during the academic year per 
1,000 pupils from Primary Schools. 
 

 
0 

(0 of 9,071 
pupils) 

 

 
0 

(0 of 9,220 
pupils) 

               
0.1 

(1 of 9,220 
pupils) 

↓ 

36 

EDU/009b 
(Local) 

The average number of school days that permanently excluded pupils 
did not receive an offer of part time appropriate education provision 
during the academic year. 

11.9 
(107 days for 

9 pupils) 
 

7.5 
(149 days for 

20 pupils)  

9.7 
(126 days for 

13 pupils) 
↓ 

The rise in the number of days a pupil did not receive an offer of part time education provision is due to a number of parents failing to engage with the 
Authority. 

37 
EDU/010a 

(Local) 

The percentage of school days lost due to fixed-term exclusions during 
the academic year, in Primary Schools. 

 
0.012% 
(203 of 

1,723,944 
days) 

 

 

0.014% 
(244 of 

1,752,043 
days) 

 
0.018% 
(310 of 

1,754,871 
days) 

78 pupils 

↓ 

 

   12
th

  

18
th

 

P
age 44



 

 5. Education – Schools cont. 
 

No. 

 
 

PI  
Reference 

 
 

PI Description 

NPT  
Actual 
2015/16 

(2014/15  
academic 

year) 

All  
Wales 

2016/17 
(2015/16 
academic 

year) 

NPT 
Quarter 3 

2016/17 
(2015/16 full 

academic 
year) 

NPT 
Quarter 3 

2017/18 
(2016/17 full 

academic 
year) 

 
Direction of 

Improvement 
 

38 

EDU/010b 
(Local) 

The percentage of school days lost due to fixed-term exclusions during 
the academic year, in Secondary Schools. 

 

0.085% 
(1,255 of 
1,484,278 

days) 

 

1.101% 
(1,417 of 
1,401,376 

days) 

0.122% 
(1,741 of 
1,422,450 

days) 
335 pupils 

↓ 

Comment for EDU/008a, EDU/010a & EDU/010b: Exclusion data has been monitored closely and in response to the rise in fixed and permanent exclusions a 
Wellbeing and Behaviour team, comprising of staff with a range of experience and expertise, has been established and a designated manager has been 
appointed. In addition to this the Local Authority has increased capacity of assessment places across both the primary and secondary sector for pupils with 
social, emotional and behavioural difficulties (SEBD). The establishment of this service and provision is a result of the reorganisation of the Education Other 
than at School Service (EOTAS) and has been implemented with Members agreement. The Wellbeing and Behaviour Team are also working with key 
professionals to develop a training package for all schools in meeting the needs of pupils with SEBD and this will be rolled out during the spring term. This 
change to services and provision has been in place as of September 2017 with the aim of embedding a continuum of support and increasing capacity within 
schools, as part of the Local Authority long term plan in ensuring the needs of pupils with SEBD are effectively met. 

39 

 
EDU/011 
(Local) 

 
The average wider point score for pupils aged 15 as at the preceding 
31 August, in schools maintained by the local authority. 

 
586 

 
531 

 

 
556 

 
437 

 

↓ 

40 

 
PAM/006 

(PAM) 
 
 

 
Percentage of Year 11 pupils achieving 5 GCSEs at grades A*-C, or 
equivalent, including English or Welsh first language and Maths. 

 
58.4% 

(900 of 1,542 
pupils) 

 
60.7% 

 
61.5% 

(918 of 1,492 
pupils) 

 
51.4% 

(764 of 1,486 
pupils) 

↓ 

Comment for EDU/011 & PAM/006: The wide ranging changes to Key Stage 4 key indicator calculations in 2017 has affected the Council’s results, as they 
have in all other local authorities, and now places Neath Port Talbot’s performance below the Welsh averages in all measures. The decrease in performance 
was most marked in mathematics and affected Free School Meals and non-Free School Meal pupils alike. 

41 

 
EDU/002i 

(Local) 
 

The percentage of all pupils (including those in local authority care), in 
any local authority maintained school, aged 15 as at the preceding 
August, who leave compulsory education, training or work based 
learning without and approved external qualification. 

No longer reported ─ 

9th  

6th   

P
age 45



 
 
 

 5. Education – Schools cont. 
 

No. 

 
 

PI  
Reference 

PI Description 

NPT  
Actual 
2015/16 

(2014/15  
academic 

year) 

All  
Wales 

2016/17 
(2015/16 
academic 

year) 

NPT 
Quarter 3 

2016/17 
(2015/16 full 

academic 
year) 

NPT 
Quarter 3 

2017/18 
(2016/17 full 

academic 
year) 

Direction of 
Improvement 

 

42 

 
 

EDU/002ii 
(local) 

 
 
 

The percentage of pupils in local authority care, in any local authority 
maintained school, aged 15 as at the preceding August, who leave 
compulsory education, training or work based learning without an 
approved external qualification. 

No longer reported ─ 

Please note: EDU/002i and EDU/002ii will no longer be reported as the change to the EOTAS (Education Other Than At School) provision with the creation of 
the Wellbeing and Behaviour Team has resulted in a change in the way pupil’s registrations are held. These two indicators will be replaced by the National 
Indicator PAM/009 - Percentage of Year 11 leavers not in education, training or employment (NEET). 

43 
PAM/009 

(PAM) 
Percentage of Year 11 leavers not in Education, Training or 
Employment (NEET). 

3.6%  

(56 of 1,542 
pupils) 

 
3.6% 

(53 of 1,492 
pupils) 

Reported  
4th Qtr. ─ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 46



 

6. Education – Other 
 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT 
Actual 

2016/17 

All  
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

44 
L(Yth)2+ 
(Local) 

The percentage of 11 - 19 year olds in contact with the youth 
service. 

 

 
31.31% 
(4,431 of 
14,150) 

 
36.70% 
(5,108 of 
13,920) 

 

 

32.33% 
(4,500 of 
13,920) 

 

37.30% 
(5,184 of 
13,897) 

↑ 

45 
L(FP)1+ 
(Local) 

Number of full day childcare places provided. 
 

2,003 2,281  2,199 2,282 ↑ 

46 

 
 

EDU/015b 
(Local) 

 
 

The percentage of final statements of special education need 
issued within 26 weeks excluding exceptions. 

 

 
100% 

(10 of 10 
pupils) 

 
 

100% 
(56 of 56 
pupils) 

 
95.4% 

 

 
 

100%* 
56 of 56 
pupils) 

 
 

98.15%* 
53 of 54 
pupils) 

v 

47 

 
EDU/015a 

(Local) 
 
 

The percentage of final statements of special education need 
issued within 26 weeks including exceptions. 

 

10.5% 
(10 of 95 
pupils) 

 
45.5% 

(56 of 123 
pupils) 

 
77.4% 

 
45.53%* 

 (56 of 123 
pupils) 

 

39.85%* 
 (53 of 133 

pupils) 

↓ 

The fall in the percentage of final statements of special education needs issued within 26 weeks including exceptions can be attributed to procedural 
issues with the receipt of advice from non NPTCBC personnel within the first quarter of the calendar year 2017. Once this drop in performance was 
highlighted procedural changes were implemented that resulted in the last three quarters of the year matching the performance of the calendar year 2016. 

48 
L(SEN)1a 

(Local) 

Number of children with new statements of special educational 
needs. 

 
95 123  

123* 
 

133* 
 

─ 

49 

L(SEN)1b 
(Local) 

Total number of children with statements of special educational 
needs. 

 
799 843  

843* 
 

894* 
 

─ 

The increase in the number of new statements issued for the first time during the calendar year 2017 was due to an increased level of referrals/requests 
from schools and pre-school settings within the local authority. 
 

 
* Calendar year data – 9 months data – January to December 

Joint 1
st 

1s5t 

20
th

  

P
age 47



7a. Social Services Health & Wellbeing Indicators – Children and Young People Services  

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT 
Actual 

2016/17 

All  
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 2  
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

50 PI 27 
The percentage of re-registrations of children on the local 
authority Child Protection Register. N/a New 

 
7.8% 

(18 of 230) 

6.3% 
 

5.3% 
(9 of 169) 

 

6.2% 
(11 of 177) 

v 

51 

 
PI 24 

 
PAM/028 

The percentage of assessments completed for children 
within 42 days from point of referral. 
 
PAM reference: Percentage of child assessments completed 
in time. 

N/a New 

 
97.6% 

 (1,197 of 
1,226) 

90.8% 

 

98.9% 

(871 of 

881) 

 

97.8%   

(4,225 of 

4,322) 

v 

52 PI 25 

The percentage of children supported to live with their 
family. 

N/a New 

  
 60.9% 
  (598 of  

   982)  

 
69.2% 

 
64.2% 
(629 of 
979) 

 
62.7% 
(626 of 
 998) 

v 

53 

PI 28 

The average length of time (in days) for all children who 
were on the Child Protection Register during the year. N/a New 

 
233.1 
days 

 
245.1 
days 

 
212  

days 

 
288.3  
days 

 

↓ 

This Performance Indicator is subject to regular fluctuation, as all children will remain on the Child Protection Register for as long as is deemed necessary 

by a Multi-Agency Panel. 

54 PAM/027 
Percentage of children satisfied with their care and support. 

N/a New N/a new  Reported Annually ─ 

55 PI 26 
The percentage of Looked After Children returned home 
from care during the year. N/a New 

14.8%   
  (78 of       
    527)  

13.6% Reported Annually ─ 

56 PI 29a 
The percentage of children receiving the core subject 
indicators at key stage 2.  N/a New 

59.2%   
  (29 of  
   49) 

56.5% Reported Annually ─ 

57 PI 29b 

The percentage of children receiving the core subject 
indicators at key stage 4. N/a New 

17.5%  
(10 of 57) 

14.2% 
 

Reported Annually ─ 

P
age 48



  

7a. Social Services Health & Wellbeing Indicators – Children and Young People Services cont. 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT 
Actual 

2016/17 

All  
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

58 PI 30 
The percentage of children seen by a dentist within 3 
months of becoming looked after. N/a New 

 
8.8%    

  ( 3 of 34) 
59.4% Reported Annually ─ 

59 PI 31 

The percentage of Looked After Children at 31st March 
registered with a GP within 10 working days of the start of 
their placement. 99.3% 

 
 

99.5% 
(183 of 
184) 

91.7% Reported Annually ─ 

60 
PI 32 

 

The percentage of children looked after at 31 March who 
has experienced one or more change of school, during a 
period or periods of being looked after, which were not due 
to transitional arrangements, in the 12 months to 31 March. 

9.4% 
 

10.2%  
(22 of 215) 

 
 

12.7% 

 
Reported Annually 

─ 

61 

 
PI 33 

 
 
 

PAM/029 

The percentage of children looked after on 31 March who 
has had three or more placements during the year. 
 
 
PAM description: percentage of children in care who had to 
move 3 or more times. 

 
 

8.8% 
 

  

 
4.4%  

(17 of 384) 

 
9.8% 

 

Populated by Welsh 
Government Annually ─ 

62 PI 34a 

The percentage of all care leavers who are in education, 
training or employment continuously for 12 months after 
leaving care. 

N/a New 
63.0% 

(29 of 46) 
52.4% Reported Annually ─ 

63 PI 34b 

The percentage of all care leavers who are in education, 
training or employment continuously for 24 months after 
leaving care. 

N/a New 
44.8% 

(13 of 29) 
47.1% Reported Annually  

64 PI 35 
The percentage of care leavers who have experienced 
homelessness during the year. 

N/a New 
1.1% 

(3 of 271) 
10.6% Reported Annually ─ 

  

P
age 49



7b. Children and Young People’s Services Key Performance Indicators – will be reported to Social Care, Health and Well 
Being Cabinet Board on 8th March 2018 - non-cumulative data up to December 2017. 

 

Priority Indicator 1 – Staff Supervision Rates 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

              

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Jan 

2017 

Feb 

2017 

Mar 

2017 

Apr 

2017 

May 

2017 

June 

2017 

July 

2017 

Aug  

2017 

Sep 

2017 

Oct 

2017 

Nov 

2017 

Dec 

2017 

Performance Indicator/Measure Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual 

The % of Qualified and 

Unqualified Workers that receive 

Supervision within 28 working 

days 

96.4 97.8 98.5 97.8 93.1 94.4 96.4 93.7 97.3 99.3 97.9 98.0 

Number of workers due 

Supervision 
140 139 134 135 145 142 138 144 152 147 142 148 

Of which, were undertaken   in 28 

working days 
135 136 132 132 135 134 133 135 148 146 139 145 

96.4 97.8 98.5 97.8 
93.1 94.4 96.4 93.7 97.3 99.3 97.9 98.0 

0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

100.0

Jan'17 Feb'17 Mar'17 Apr'17 May'17 June'17 July'17 Aug'17 Sep'17 Oct'17 Nov'17 Dec'17

Percentage of Workers (Qualified and Unqualified) that Receive Supervision within 28 Working Days  

P
age 50



 

 

            
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

95.3 97.3 98.0 97.2 
91.4 93.9 96.3 93.6 

97.5 99.1 99.1 97.4 

0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

100.0

Jan'17 Feb'17 Mar'17 Apr'17 May'17 June'17 July'17 Aug'17 Sep'17 Oct'17 Nov'17 Dec'17

Percentage of Qualified Workers that Receive Supervision within 28 Working Days  

 Jan 

2017 

Feb 

2017 

Mar 

2017 

Apr 

2017 

May 

2017 

June 

2017 

July 

2017 

Aug 

2017 

Sep 

2017 

Oct 

2017 

Nov 

2017 

Dec 

2017 

Performance Indicator/Measure Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual 

The percentage of Qualified 

Workers that receive Supervision 

within 28 working days 

95.3 97.3 98 97.2 91.4 93.9 96.3 93.6 97.5 99.1 99.1 97.4 

Number of workers due Supervision    107 110 98 107 116 114 109 110 121 116 113 117 

Of which, were undertaken in 28 

working days 
102 107 101 104 106 107 105 103 118 115 112 114 

P
age 51



 

 

              
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 
96.4 96.5 94.1 

96.8 
100.0 

93.1 

100.0 

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

100.0

Jan'17 Feb'17 Mar'17 Apr'17 May'17 June'17 July'17 Aug'17 Sep'17 Oct'17 Nov'17 Dec'17

Percentage of Unqualified Workers that Receive Supervision within 28 working days 

 Jan 

2017 

Feb 

2017 

Mar 

2017 

Apr 

2017 

May 

2017 

June 

2017 

July 

2017 

Aug 

2017 

Sep 

2017 

Oct 

2017 

Nov 

2017 

Dec 

2017 

Performance Indicator/Measure Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual 

The percentage of Unqualified Workers that 

receive Supervision within 28 working days 
100 100 100 100 100 96.4 96.5 94.1 96.8 100 93.1 100 

Number of workers due Supervision    33 29 31 28 29 28 29 34 31 31 29 31 

Of which, were undertaken in 28 working 

days 33 29 31 28 29 27 28 32 30 31 27 31 

P
age 52



 Priority Indicator 2 – Average Number of Cases held by Qualified Workers across the Service 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Please Note:  

1. The above figures include cases held by Deputy Team Managers and Part-Time Workers.  
2. The ‘Available Hours’ does not include staff absences e.g. Sickness, Maternity, Placement, unless cover is being 

provided. 
 

 
 
 
 

As at 31st December 2017Caseload Information - Qualified Workers, including Deputy Team Managers

Team
Available 

Hours

FTE 

Equivalent

Team 

Caseload

Highest Worker 

Caseload 

Lowest 

Worker 

Caseload

Average Caseload 

per Worker

Cwrt Sart 284.0 7.7 95.0 14 5 12.4

Disability Team 495.5 13.4 202.0 22 5 15.1

LAC Team 419.0 11.3 169.0 17 7 14.9

Llangatwg 374.0 10.1 139.0 19 1 13.8

Sandfields 363.0 9.8 97.0 15 6 9.9

Route 16 271.0 7.3 42.0 10 3 5.7

Dyffryn 321.0 8.7 106.0 17 4 12.2

Intake 380.0 10.3 131.0 22 2 12.8

Totals 2,907.50 78.6 981.00

Average Caseload - CYPS 17.0 4.1 12.5

P
age 53



 Priority Indicator 3 – The Number of Social Worker Vacancies (including number of starters/leavers/agency 

staff/long-term sickness), Disciplinary and Grievances across the Service 
 

 

 
 

 

 

P
age 54



 

Summary of Agency Staff and Vacancies across the Service 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 55



 Priority Indicator 4 – Thematic reports on the findings of Case file Audits   
 
Quality Assurance Audits take place on a monthly basis within Children and Young People Services. The table 
below gives an overview of the thematic audits undertaken in quarter 3 (October to December 2017). More 
information in relation to this Priority Indicator e.g. what is working well, what we will improve and by what 
methods and next steps will be reported to Social Care, Health and Wellbeing Cabinet Board on 8th March 2018. 
 
 

 
Audits Completed 
During this quarter there have been four thematic audits completed.  
 
 

Audit Theme Month Completed Cases Audited 

Assessments October 2017 51 

Supervision Audits – Principal 
Officer 

October 2017 20 

One contact in a 6 month 
period with no further action 

outcome 
December 2017 80 

Multiple contacts received all 
with no further action outcome 

December 2017 42 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

P
age 56



 Priority Indicator 5 – Number of Looked After Children (Quarterly) 
 

 

 
 

 

Number of LAC as at 18/01/2018 = 328 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 57



 Priority Indicator 6 – The number of children who have been discharged from care and subsequently  
re-admitted within a 12 month period. 

 

 
 

 
Date Number Re-admitted 

January 2017 0 

February 2017 0 

March 2017 2 

April 2017 2 

May 2017 1 

June 2017 1 

July 2017 1 

August 2017 3 

September 2017 0 

October 2017 0 

November 2017 3 

December 2017 0 

 

 

 

P
age 58



 Priority Indicator 7 – The Number of Cases ‘Stepped Down / Stepped Up’ between Team Around the 
Family (TAF) and CYPS 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

P
age 59



 Priority Indicator 8 – The percentage of Team Around the Family cases that were closed due to the              
achievement of a successful outcome in relation to the plan: – 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 60



8a. Performance Indicators - Adults Services   

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 

2015/16 

NPT  
Actual 
2016/17 

All 
 Wales 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

65 PI/11 

Number of adults with a care and support plan who received  
the following services during the year; Dom care, Day care, 
Respite, Reablement, Equipment, Adaptations, DP, 
supported Acc., Sheltered Acc., Adult placements, Adult care 
homes, Telecare, Advocacy, Recreational, leisure and 
lifelong services. 

N/a New 2,567  3,169 3,054 ↑ 

66 
 

PI/2 
 
 

PI/2(i) 
 

Number of assessments of need for care and support 
undertaken during the year;  
 
Of which, the number of assessments that led to a care and 
support plan. 

N/a New 

 
1,548 

 
 1,115 625 ↑ 

67 1,206                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            887 510 ↑ 

68 

 
PI/12 

Number of adults who paid the maximum weekly charge 
towards the cost of care and support or support for carers 
during the year. 

N/a New 46  38 40 ↑ 

69 

 
PI/21 

The average length of time adults (aged 65 and over) are 
supported in residential care homes. 

N/a New 

 
 

819  
(390,757/ 

    477) 

800.8 786 

 
 

786 
(388,111/ 

494) 

↔ 

  

P
age 61



 8a. Performance Indicators - Adults Services cont. 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT  
Actual 
2016/17 

All  
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

70 

PI/5 
 
 

 
PI/5i 

 

Number  of assessments of need for care and support for 
adults undertaken during the year whilst in the secure 
estate;  
 
Of which, the number of assessments that led to a care and 
support plan. 

N/a New 0  0 0 ↔ 

71 0 0  0 0 ↔ 

72 

 
 

 
PI/6 

 

Number of requests for re-assessment of need for care and 
support and need for support made by an adult during the 
year: a) in the secure estate   
 
 
Number of requests for re-assessment of need for care and 
support and need for support made by an adult during the 
year: b) all other adults and carers 

0 

 
 

0 
 

 

0 (a) 0 ↔ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

N/A New 
  

 
0 

 

0 (b) 0 ↔ 

73 
PI/6i 

 

Of which, the number of re-assessments undertaken on: a) 
adults in the secure estate  
  
 
Of which, the number of re-assessments undertaken on: b) 
all other adults and carers 

0  0 (a) 0 ↔ 

 
 

0 
 

 0 (b) 0 ↔ 

74 PI/6ii 

Of which, the number of re-assessments that led to a care 
and support plan or a support plan on: a) In the secure 
estate 
 
Of which, the number of re-assessments that led to a care 
and support plan or a support plan on: b) all other adults and 
carers 

0  0 (a) 0 ↔ 

0  0 (b) 0 ↔ 

  

P
age 62



 8a. Performance Indicators - Adults Services cont. 

No 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT  
Actual 
2016/17 

All  
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

75 
Measure 

22 
Average age of adults entering residential care homes. N/a New 

 
 

83 
(184 of 
15,290) 

82.8 84 

 
 

84 
(141 of 
11,789) 

↔ 

76 

 
PI/7 

 
 

PI/7i 

 
Number of care and support plans and support plans that 
were reviewed during the year;  
 
Of which, the number of plans that were reviewed within 
agreed timescales. 

 
 

N/a New 
2,004 

 

1,225 973 ↓ 

77 

1,050 688 559 ↓ 
Action plans are being put in place to increase review performance during the year and targets are in the process of being set within teams which will be 
monitored closely. 

78 

PI/1 
Number of adults who received advice or assistance from 
the information, advice and assistance service during the 
year. 

N/a New 2.342  3,116 2,243 ─ 
Reduction is due to changes in the way that the data is now collected. Previous figure included information referrals which have now been removed due to 
a change in Welsh government guidance. As a result of this change, caution should be taken when making like for like comparisons with previous years 
data. 

79 

 
PI/3 

 
 

 
PI/3(i) 

 

 
Number of assessments of need for support for carers 
undertaken during the year; 
 
 
Of which, the number of assessments that led to a support 
plan. 
 

 
 
 

N/a New 

 
355 

 

 

 
257 

 
220 ↓ 

80 16 14 7 ↓ 

81 

PI/4 
Number of carer assessments that were refused by carers 
during the year. 

N/a New 73  50 90 ↑ 
Comment for PI/3, PI/3(i) & PI/4: It is difficult to gauge performance on carer’s assessments; each carer identified is offered an assessment however it is 
the individual’s choice as to whether they accept the offer. In all cases, carer’s are provided with information on the various avenues of support available 
to them. The focus of the Carers Service is to provide information, advice and assistance therefore not many carers assessments lead to a service. 

P
age 63



82 
 

PI/13 
Number of adults who paid a flat rate charge for care and 
support or support for carers during the year. 

N/a New 2,033  3,068 2,512 ↑ 
8a. Performance Indicators - Adults Services cont. 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 

2015/16 

NPT  
Actual 
2016/17 

All  
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

83 

 
PI/14 

Number of adults who were charged for care and support 
or support for carers during the year. 

N/a New 2,262  2,667 2,528 ↑ 

Comment for PI/13 and PI/14: Information from PI/13 and PI/14 is provided directly from Finance who invoice on an ad hoc basis, therefore this figure 
will be sporadic throughout the year. A decrease in both can also be attributed to a fall in the number of people receiving adult social care this quarter. 

84 

 
 

Measure 
19 
 
 

PAM/025 
(PAM) 

 
Rate of people kept in hospital while waiting for social care 
per 1,000 population aged 75+. 
 

 
 
 

4.36 

 
 
 

3.88 
(49 of 

12,639) 

 
 
 

Not 
available as 

yet 
  

4.59 

 
 

2.29 
(29 of 

12,665) 

─ 

Pre 6th April 2016 this indicator included all clients aged 18years +. From 2016/17 Welsh Government guidance (received February 2017) stated that this 
indicator should include clients aged 75years + only. As a result of this change, caution should be taken when making like for like comparisons with 
previous years data. 

85 

PAM/024 
(PAM) 

Percentage of adults satisfied with their care and support.  
N/a New 

 
N/a New 

 
 N/a New 

Reported 
annually ─ 

86 

PAM/026 
(PAM) Percentage of carers that feel supported. N/a New N/a New  N/a New 

Reported 
annually ─ 

Data for the two measures above will be taken from the Adult and Carer’s citizen survey for 2017/18 which will not be available until quarter 4. 

87 

 
Measure 

20a 

The percentage of adults who completed a period of 
reablement and have a reduced package of care and 
support 6 months later. 
 N/a New N/a New 

28% 
Systems 
currently 

being 
developed 
to capture 

data 

          
25.5%   

(12 of 47) 
─ 

88 

 
Measure 

20b 

The percentage of adults who completed a period of 
reablement and have no package of support 6 months 
later. 

72.3% 
21.3% 

(10 of 47) ─ 
 
 

P
age 64



 
 

 

8a. Performance Indicators - Adults Services cont. 
 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 

2015/16 

NPT  
Actual 
2016/17 

All 
 Wales 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

89 

 
PI/8 

 
 

PI/8i 

Number of requests for review of care and support plans 
and support plans for carers before agreed timescales 
made by an adult during the year;  
 
Of which, the number of reviews undertaken. 
 

N/a new 

9  

Systems were 
being 

developed to 
capture data 

0 ─ 

90 9  0 ─ 

91 PI/9 
Number of adults who received a service provided 
through a social enterprise, co-operative, user led or third 
sector organisation during the year. 

N/a New 0  0 ─ 

92 

 
Measure 

23 

The percentage of adults who have received advice and 
assistance from the information, advice and assistance 
service and have not contacted the service for 6 months. 

N/a New 
Systems 

being 
developed 

    67.7% 
Systems currently being 

developed to capture data ─                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

93 PI/10 
Number of adults who received care and support who 
were in employment during the year. 

N/a New 16  14 4 ─ 

94 
Measure 

18 
The percentage of adult protection enquiries  completed 
within 7 days 

N/a New n/a  

Systems 
were being 

developed to 
capture data 

91.9%  
(102 of 111)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 65



 

9. Homelessness  

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description  

NPT 
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT 
Actual 

2016/17 

All  
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

95 
HOS/003 
(Local) 

The percentage of households for which homelessness was 
successfully relieved. 

45.7% 

 
 

42% 
(180 of 
425) 

41% 28% 

 
 

39.3%* 
(65 of  
165) 

─ 

96 

   HOS/004 
(Local) 

The percentage of those households for which a final duty 
was successfully discharged. 54.5% 

 
65% 

(63 of 97) 

81% 36% 

 
73.6%* 

(14 of 19) 

─ 

97 
HOS/005 
(Local) 

The overall percentage of successful outcomes for assisted 
households. 

45.8% 

 
 

50% 
(439 of 
881) 

54% 32.7% 

 
 

51%* 
(129 of 
252) 

─ 

98 
PAM/012 

(PAM) 

Percentage of households successfully prevented from 
becoming homeless. 

52.2% 

 
 

55% 
(196 of 
359) 

 

Not 
measured 

in this 
period 

 
 

73.5%* 
(50 of  

68) 

─ 

 10. Housing - Private Sector Renewal 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT 
Actual 

2016/17 

All  
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

99 
PSR/009b 

(local) 
The average number of calendar days taken to deliver a 
Disabled Facilities Grant for: Adults.  

220 
 

219 
 

 223 220 ↑ 

 
NB* Please note that all Quarter 3 2017/18 Homelessness Performance Indicators are solely for this period only (1st October to 
31st December 2017) and are not cumulative from the 1st April 2017.  This is due to difficulties with the system used to capture 
this data. 
 

P
age 66



 

10. Housing - Private Sector Renewal cont. 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT 
Actual 

2016/17 

All  
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

100 

 
PAM/015 

(PAM) 
 
 
 

The average number of calendar days taken to deliver a 
Disabled Facilities Grant. 
 
 

 
 

228 
 
 
 

 
232  

 

 
 

224 
 
 
 

235 231 ↑ 

101 

PSR/009a 
(local) 

The average number of calendar days taken to deliver a 
Disabled Facilities Grant for: Children and young people.                                                                                                     

354 
 

451 
 

 422 434 v 

The average number of calendar days taken to deliver Disabled Facilities Grants for Children and young people has increased during this period. This is 
attributed to an increase in more complex adaptations completed during this period. 

102 
PSR/007a 

(local) 
Of the Houses in Multiple Occupation known to the local 
authority, the percentage that: Have a full license.                                                                       

1.35%            
 

1.36% 
 

 1.34% 
 

1.15% 
(5 of 448) 

 

v 

103 
PAM/013 

(PAM) 

Percentage of empty private properties brought back into 
use. 

N/a new 
 

N/a new 

 
8.79% Reported Annually ─ 

104 
PAM/014 

(PAM) 

Number of new homes created as a result of bringing 
empty properties back into use. 

N/a new N/a new  Reported Annually ─ 

105 
PSR/007b 

(local) 

Of the Houses in Multiple Occupation known to the local 
authority, the percentage that:  Have been issued with a 
conditional license.                                                                         

0% 0%  
 

0% 
 

0% ─ 

106 
PSR/007c 

(local) 

Of the Houses in Multiple Occupation known to the local 
authority, the percentage that: Are subject to enforcement 
activity.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                

 
0% 

 

 
0% 

 
 

 
0% 

 
0% 

 
─ 

 

 

 

 

    11th  

1st 

P
age 67



 

11. Planning and Regulatory Services - Public Protection 
 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT 
Actual 

2016/17 

All  
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2017/18 

 
Direction of 

Improvement 
 

107 
PAM/023 

(PAM) 
 

The percentage of food establishments that met food 
hygiene standards. 

 
 
 

 
 

92.7% 
 
 

 
94.92% 

 

 
 

95.16% 93.84% 

 
 

95.61% 
(1,068 of 
1,117) 

↑ 

108 

PPN/001i 
(local) 

The percentage of high risk businesses that were liable 
to a programmed inspection that were inspected for 
Trading Standards.                                                                                                              
 

100% 95.6%  69.6% 

 
87.5% 

(14 of 16) 
↑ 

The percentage of high risk businesses that have been inspected by Trading Standards is higher than the same time last year. The team that largely 
deals with the inspection programme is currently working to achieve its proactive obligations whilst reactive demand is lower. Some investigations have 
begun as a result of these inspections, reflecting the risk of the business. Two businesses remain, one of which is subject to an ongoing investigation 
which is likely to be resolved by the end of the financial year. 

109 

PPN/007ii 
(local) 

The percentage of significant breaches that were rectified 
by intervention during the year for Animal Health.                                                                                                                                

 
 

100% 

 
 

81.8% 

 

  

60% 

 

70%        

(7 of 10) 
↑ 

There are a number of breaches that have yet to be rectified by the service, they are currently being dealt with. This figure will improve by the end of the 
financial year. 

110 
PPN/007i 

(local) 

The percentage of significant breaches that were rectified 
by intervention during the year for Trading Standards.                                                                                                                    

 
73.5% 

 
79.2% 

 

  
69.6% 

 
67.7% 

(21 of 31) v 

111 

PPN/001ii 
(local) 

The percentage of high risk businesses that were liable 
to a programmed inspection that were inspected for Food 
Hygiene.                                                                                                             

 
 

100% 

 
 

100% 
 
 

  
 

76% 

 
 

67% 
(225 of 
335) 

↓ 

The achievement of 100% of this target is being sought by the end of quarter 4. Recent legal investigations into certain non-compliant businesses has 
used resources and held back the achievement of certain other inspections. An action plan is in place, as the achievement of this performance indicator 
by quarter 4 remains a priority for the service. 

13
th  

P
age 68



11. Planning and Regulatory Services - Public Protection – cont. 
 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT 
Actual 

2016/17 

All 
 Wales 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2017/18 

 
Direction of 

Improvement 
 

112 

PPN/001iii 

(local) 
The percentage of high risk businesses that were liable to a 
programmed inspection that were inspected for Animal Health. 

100% 100%  60% 

 
 

50% 
(3 of 6) 

  

↓ 

The majority of animal health significant breaches have been rectified, but this has meant that there has been a drop in the number of high risk premises 
being inspected as resources have been allocated to complaints and investigations. An action plan is in place, to ensure the achievement of this 
performance indicator by quarter 4. 

113 

PPN/008ii 
(local) 

The percentage of new businesses identified which were 
subject to a risk assessment visit or returned a self-
assessment questionnaire during the year: Food Hygiene. 

92% 
 

97% 
 

 

            

90% 

 

85%       

(88 of 104) 
↓ 

The percentage of new businesses subject to a risk assessment visit for food hygiene has declined compared to the same period last year- primarily due 
to other reactive work being distributed within the section due to a system review of the service and the temporary secondment of one member of staff to 
assist with pressures arising within the wider Environmental Health service dealing with landslide issues at Ystalyfera. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 69



 

12. Planning and Regulatory Services – Planning 
 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT  
Actual 
2016/17 

All 
 Wales 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2017/18 

 
Direction of 

Improvement 
 

114 
 

PLA/004b 
(local) 

 
The percentage of minor planning applications 
determined during the year within 8 weeks.        
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

 
66.1% 

 

63.1% 
(123 of 195 
applications) 

  

57.7% 
(82 of 142  

applications) 

 

82.5% 
(146 of 177  
applications) 

↑ 

115 
PLA/004c 

(local) 

 
The percentage of householder planning applications 
determined during the year within 8 weeks.  

 
95.1% 

 
95.3%  

(284 of 298 
applications) 

 

  

93.8% 
(210 of 224  

applications) 

97.3% 
(213 of 219  
applications) 

↑ 

116 

 
PLA/004d 

(local) 

 
The percentage of all other planning applications 
determined during the year within 8 weeks. 

 
79% 

 

77.5% 
(224 of 289 
applications) 

  
76.9% 

(160 of 208  
applications) 

 

82.2% 
(175 of 213  
applications) 

↑ 

117 
PLA/M004 

(local) 

 
The percentage of major planning applications 
determined during the year within 8 weeks.   

 
16% 

 
14.8%  
(4 of 27 

applications) 

 

  

14.3% 
(2 of 7  

applications) 

 

45.5% 
(5 of 11  

applications) 
↑ 

118 
PLA/002 

(local) 

 
The percentage of applications for development 
determined during the year that were approved. 

 
96.3% 

 
97.3%  

(787 of 809 
applications) 

  

96.6% 
(568 of 588  

applications) 

 

95.0% 
(589 of 620  
applications) 

v 

119 
PLA/M002 

(local) 

 
 
Average time taken from receipt of application to date 
decision is issued – days. 

 
96.1 days 

 
85.8 days 

(69,442 
days/ 809 

applications) 
 

  

84.7 days 
(49,816  

days/ 588 
applications) 

 

93.9 days 
(58,195  

days/ 620   
applications) 

↓ 

  

P
age 70



12. Planning and Regulatory Services – Planning cont. 
 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT  
Actual 
2016/17 

All 
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2017/18 

 
Direction of 

Improvement 
 

120 

PLA/M001 
(local) 

 
Average time taken from receipt of application to 
validation of application – days. 

 
31.5 days 

 
14.2 days  

(11,509 
days/ 809 

applications) 

  
15.4 days 

(9,034  
days/ 588 

applications) 
 
 

 

 
18.7 days 

(11,591  
days/ 620 

applications) ↓ 

As previously reported, whilst increasing from the previous year’s figures the receipt to validation figures (PLA/M001), together with the receipt to 
decision issued figures (PLA/M002) are both skewed by a number of very old applications, including a number where applications have been “re-
registered” for procedural reasons (thus significantly increasing the receipt – valid time), which have distorted the overall figures and unfairly reflect the 
overall day-to-day performance. Consideration is to be given to the possibility of changing this to exclude re-registered applications going forward given 
that they distort overall performance. 

121 
PAM/018 

(PAM) 

 
Percentage of all planning applications determined in 
time. 

 
Na/ new 

 
Na/ new 

 New 
indicator 

95.5%  
(592 of 620 

applications) 
─ 

122 
PAM/019 

(PAM) 

 
Percentage of planning appeals dismissed. 

 
Na/ new 

 
Na/ new 

 New 
Indicator 

61.5% 
(8 of 13 
appeals) 

─ 

13. Planning and Regulatory Services – Building Control 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT  
Actual 
2016/17 

All 
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2017/18 

 
Direction of 

Improvement 
 

123 
BCT/004 

(local) 
Percentage of Building Control ‘full plan’ applications 
checked within 15 working days during the year. 

 
95.12% 

 
95.95% 

 (142 of    
  148) 

  
95.86% 

 
96.55% 
(112 of  
116) 

↑ 

124 
BCT/007 

(local) 

The percentage of ‘full plan’ applications approved 
first time. 

 
99.02% 

 
96.62% 

  (143 of     
  148) 

  
95.75% 

 

98.28% 
(114 of  
116) 

↑ 

 

P
age 71



14. Economic Development 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT 
Actual 

2016/17 

All 
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2017/18 

 
Direction of 

Improvement 
 

125 
L(ED) 3 
(local) 

Number of business enquiries resulting in advice, 
information or financial support being given to existing 
companies through Business Services. 

584 628  367 396 ↑ 

126 

L(ED) 2 
(local) 

Number of new business start-up enquiries assisted 
through Business Services.  

271 341  222 186 ↓ 
The number of people attending the Council’s Enterprise Club, which provides advice and guidance on self-employment, was lower than anticipated 
during the first 3 months of the year. However, outputs have risen significantly enough throughout quarter 2 and 3 to anticipate that final outputs will be 
more in line with expectations to achieve targets set for 2017/18. 

127 

L(ED) 1 
(local) 

Number of jobs created as a result of financial support by 
the Local Authority. 

184 131  85 64 ↓ 

The Team is currently working on a number of funding applications from local businesses to support investments in areas such as capital equipment, 
website development, accreditations, training and general marketing activities. It is anticipated therefore, that performance will increase significantly by 
the end of the financial year and targets set for 2017/18 will be achieved. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 72



15. Corporate Health – Asset Management 
 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT 
Actual 

2016/17 

All 
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2017/18 

 
Direction of 

Improvement 
 

128 
CAM/001ai 

(local) 

The percentage of the gross internal area of the local 
authority’s buildings in condition categories:                                                                                                                                                                   
A – Good                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

7.68% 15.02%  

Reported Annually 

─ 

129 
CAM/001aii 

(local) 

The percentage of the gross internal area of the local 
authority’s buildings in condition categories:      
B – Satisfactory                                                                                                              

42.83% 43.33%  ─ 

130 
CAM/001aiii 

(local) 

The percentage of the gross internal area of the local 
authority’s buildings in condition categories:                                                                                                                                    
C – Poor  

38.22% 32.26%  ─ 

131 
CAM/001aiv 

(local) 

The percentage of the gross internal area of the local 
authority’s buildings in condition categories:  
D – Bad                                                                                                                                   

11.27% 9.39%  ─ 

132 
CAM//001bi 

(local) 

The percentage of the total value of required 
maintenance for the local authority’s buildings assigned 
to works of priority level:  
1 – Urgent work                                                                                                                                                                                                      

21.95% 19.44%  ─ 

133 
CAM/001bii 

(local) 

The percentage of the total value of required 
maintenance for the local authority’s buildings assigned 
to works of priority level: 
2 – Essential work                                                                     

50.76% 50.03%  ─ 

134 
CAM/001 

biii 
(local) 

The percentage of the total value of required 
maintenance for the local authority’s buildings assigned 
to works of priority level: 
3 – Desirable work                                                                                         

27.29% 30.53%  ─ 

135 
CAM/037 

(local) 

The percentage change in the average Display Energy 
Certificate (DEC) score within local authority public 
buildings over 1,000 square metres. 

4.4% 2.8% 

 
1.9% 

 
─ 

 
 
 
 

11
th

  

P
age 73



16. Leisure and Libraries 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT 
Actual 

2016/17 

All 
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2017/18 

 
Direction of 

Improvement 
 

136 

  
 

PAM/017 
(PAM) 

 
 

 
 
The number of visits to leisure centres per 1,000 
population. 

5,331 
(748,992 

visits) 

 
8,005 

(1,128,704 
visits) 

8,387 
 

4,513 
(634,100 

visits) 

5,473 
(774,953 

visits) 
↑ 

137 
LCL/003 

(local) 

 
The percentage of library material requests supplied within 
7 calendar days. 

 
76% 

 
75% 

(127 of 
170) 

  
75% 

(127 of 
170) 

 
81% 

(144 of 
177) 

↑ 

138 

 
PAM/016 

(PAM) 
 
 
 

 
The number Library visits per 1,000 population. 5,745 

(807,077 
visits) 

 
5,738 

(808,966 
visits) 

5,480 
 

4,305 
(606,994 

visits) 

4,092 
(579,342 

visits) 
v 

139 

LCL/004 
(local) 

 
The number of library materials issued, during the year, 
per 1,000 population. 

 
3,071 

(431,549 
issued) 

 
2,961 

(417,407 
issued) 

 

 
2,209 

(311,414 
issued) 

 
2,056 

(291,117 
issued) 

↓ 

The fall in library material issues can be attributed to several factors: the refurbishment of several care homes, discrepancies in the issuing recording 
system and a reduction in the bookfund which has a negative effect on book acquisition and in turn issues. This decline in issues is in line with national 
trends - the average fall UK wide in 2016-17 was 6%. 

140 
LCL/002a 

(local) 

The number of publicly accessible computers per 10,000 
population.   6 6  _ 

Reported 
4th Qtr. ─ 

141 
LCL/002b 

(local) 

The percentage of available computer hours, in use. 
42% 39%  _ 

Reported  
4th Qtr. ─ 

 
 
  

15
th

  

7
th

 

 

P
age 74



17. Environment & Transport – Waste Management  
 
 
 No. 

PI 
Reference 

PI Description 
NPT 

Actual 
2015/16 

NPT 
Actual 

2016/17 

All Wales 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2017/18 

 
Direction of 

Improvement 
 

142 
WMT/010ii 

(local) 

The percentage of local authority municipal waste                                                  
recycled.  
 
 
 
a) Incinerator Bottom Ash recycling rate  
 
 
 
 
b) Kerbside dry recycling rate 
 
 
 
 
 
c) Household Waste Recycling centres dry recycling rate                  

37.68% 
 
 
 
 

1.97% 
 
 
 

 
 

16.40% 
 
 
 

 
19.31% 

45.44% 
(31,515 of 

69,355 
tonnes) 

 
3.44% 

(2,386 of 
69,355 
tonnes) 

 
 
18.31% 

(12,700 of 
69,355 
tonnes) 

 
 
23.69% 

(16,430 of 
69,355 
tonnes) 

 43.27% 
(22,292 
tonnes) 

 
 

4.39% 
(2,262 
tonnes) 

 
 

 
19.84% 
(10,221 
tonnes) 

 
 

 
19.04%   
(9,809 
tonnes)  

44.33% 
(24,372 of 

54,978 
tonnes) 

 
2.97% 

(1,634 of 
54,978 
tonnes) 

 

 
19.09% 
(3,416 of 
54,978 
tonnes) 

 
 

22.27% 
(12,243 of 

54,978  
tonnes) 

↑ 

 
v 

 
v 

 
↑ 

143 
 

PAM/030 
(PAM) 

 
Percentage of waste, reused, recycled or composted 

58.32% 62.77%  
(43,534 of 

69,355 
tonnes) 

63.81% 64.28% 
(33,114 
tonnes) 

61.46% 
(33,788 of 

54,978 
tonnes)  

v 

144 

 
PAM/031 

(PAM) 
 

 
Percentage of waste sent to landfill. 

14.04% 10.87% 
(7,539 of 
69,355 
tonnes 

9.6% 9.90% 
(5,089 
tonnes) 

10.30% 
(5,662 of 
54,978 
tonnes) 

v 

145 
WMT/012 

(local) 

 
The percentage of local authority collected municipal 
waste used to recover heat and power. 

29.2% 33.40% 
(23,165 of 

69,355 
tonnes) 

 33.90% 
(17,471 
tonnes) 

31.10% 
(17,090  

of  
54,978        
tonnes) 

v 

16
th

 

15
th

  

P
age 75



17. Environment & Transport – Waste Management - cont. 
 

 
No. 

PI 
Reference 

 
PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT 
Actual 

2016/17 

All 
 Wales 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2017/18 

 
Direction of 

Improvement 
 

146 
WMT/010i 

(local) 

 
The percentage of local authority municipal waste:                                                     
Prepared for re-use. 

0.45% 0.44% 
(308 of 
69,355 
tonnes) 

 0.48% 
(247 

tonnes) 

0.38% 
(211 of 
54,978 
tonnes) 

 

v 

147 
WMT/010iii 

(local) 

The percentage of local authority municipal waste:                                                    
Collected as source segregated bio-wastes and composted 
or treated biologically in another way. 

19.88% 16.89% 
(11,711 of 

69,355 
tonnes) 

 20.53% 
(10,574 
tonnes) 

16.74% 
(9,205 of 
54,978 
tonnes) 

v 

18. Environment & Transport – Transport and Highways 
 

148 

 
 

THS/007 
(local) 

 
 
  

The percentage of adults aged 60 or over who hold a 
concessionary bus pass. 

 
 

92.1% 

 
 

93.75%  
(35,070 
out of 

37,409) 

 
 

87.0% 

 
 

93.3% 
(34,903 of 
37,409) 

 
 

84.5% 
(31,982 of 
37,836) 

↓ 

The percentage of adults over 60 who hold a bus pass has decreased from quarter 3 last year due to data cleansing and introduction by bus operators of 
technology to remove inactive cards but has increased slightly from quarter 2, 17/18 due to a slight increase in cards issued. 

149 

THS/009 
(local) 

The average number of calendar days taken to repair street 
lamp failures during the year. 

1.55 1.81  1.93 - ─ 
The calculation of the performance indicator has been temporarily suspended until software changes are implemented which will correct a problem that 
has been identified in the data collection. 

150 
PAM/020 

(PAM) 

 
The percentage of A roads in overall poor condition.                                                                                 4.5% 4.1%  

Reported Annually 
 

─ 

151 
PAM/021 

(PAM) 

 
The percentage of B roads in overall poor condition.                                                                                 2.6% 2.4%  ─ 

152 
PAM/022 

(PAM) 

 
The percentage of C roads in overall poor condition.                                                                                 5.9% 5.4%  ─ 

 

5
th

 

 

P
age 76



19. Environment & Transport - Street Scene 

No. 
PI 

Reference 
 

PI Description 

NPT 
Actual 
2015/16 

NPT  
Actual 
2016/17 

All 
Wales 

2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3 
2016/17 

NPT  
Quarter 3  
2017/18 

 
Direction of 

Improvement 
 

153 
 

PAM/010 
(PAM) 

 
The percentage of streets that are clean. 

 
93.57% 

 

 
94.14% 

 
96.6% 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Reported Annually 

 
─ 

154 

 
 

PAM/011 
(PAM) 

 
 
 

 
 
The percentage fly tipping incidents cleared in 5 days. 

  67.67% 69.68% 

 
 
 
 
95.37% 
 
 
 

 

─ 

155 
STS/005a 

(local) 

 
The cleanliness indicator. 
 

70.5% 68.85%  ─ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15
th

 

21
st

 

P
age 77



Section 3: Compliments and Complaints  

 
 

  2017/2018 – Quarter 3 (1st April 2017 – 31st  December 2017) – Cumulative data 
 

 Performance Key 

↑ Improvement: Reduction in Complaints/ Increase in Compliments 

↔ No change in the number of Complaints/Compliments 

v Increase in Complaints but within 5%/ Reduction in Compliments but within 5% of previous year. 

↓ Increase in Complaints by 5% or more/ Reduction in Compliments by 5% or more of previous year. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 78



CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND FINANCE AND CORPORATE SERVICES 
(Policy & Resources Cabinet Board) 

 

 

 

No. 
 

PI Description 
Full year 
2015/16 

Full year 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

 

1 

 
Total Complaints - Stage 1   29 32 23 29 ↓ 
a - Complaints - Stage 1  upheld 

9 6 5 4 

 
b -Complaints - Stage 1  not upheld 

16 25 17 23 

c -Complaints - Stage 1  partially upheld 
4 1 1 2 

2 

Total Complaints - Stage 2   
3 7 5 4 ↑ 

a - Complaints - Stage 2  upheld 
0 1 1 0 

 
b - Complaints - Stage 2  not upheld 

2 6 4 2 

c- Complaints - Stage 2  partially upheld 
1 0 0 2 

3 

Total - Ombudsman investigations 0 0 0 0 ↔ 

a - Complaints - Ombudsman investigations upheld 
0 0 0 0 

 b - Complaints - Ombudsman investigations not upheld 
0 0 0 0 

P
age 79



  

No. 
 

PI Description 
Full 
year 

2015/16 

Full 
year 

2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

 

4 Number of Compliments 226 190 135 100 ↓ 

5 

Summary 
 
Stage 1 - Cumulative complaints have increased in comparison to quarter 3 of 2016/2017 with a total of 29 complaints received as opposed to 23 for the 
same quarter of 2016/17. Within quarter 3 of 2017/2018, 6 complaints have been received, 1 was partially upheld in relation to Customer Services, where 
the service provided was found not to be of the high standard the Authority pride themselves on delivering, staff were reminded of the expectation and 
importance the Authority placed on providing the public with a high standard of service. Five complaints were not upheld. Therefore cumulative data 
shows 29 complaints have been received at this stage and 4 of those 29 complaints have been upheld. 
 
Stage 2 - Three stage 2 complaints were received, which gives a quarter 3 cumulative data for 2017/2018 of 4. This is a drop in comparison to Quarter 3 
of 2016/2017. One complaint was partially upheld in respect of Customer Services where the complainant felt the response provided at Stage 1 was 
unsatisfactory. Although the complaint had been upheld the complainant was unhappy as no written apology had been given. The outcome of the Stage 
2 investigation arrived at the same findings in respect of the service provided, but in this instance a written apology was given to the complainant who 
again was assured that staff had been reminded of the expectation and standard of service the authority expect their customers to receive. 
 
A total of 20 compliments were received in quarter 3 this year which shows a decrease for the same quarter last year. This quarters 
compliments relate to: 
1 – Council Tax in respect of helpful staff;  
3 – HR/Training in respect of the organisation and delivery of training courses; 
4 – Licensing in respect of staff for being prompt and providing assistance; 
1 – Anti Social Behaviour in respect of neighbour dispute, appreciation of involvement of staff within the ASB Unit leading to a cessation of problems; 
3 – Community Safety in respect of helpful staff, presenting useful presentations and providing informative information; 
7 – Customer Services and One Stop Shop in respect of staff being very helpful, patient and providing assistance. One compliment in particular from the 
Police to the CCTV section for their very useful help; 
1 – Corporate Strategy received from the Older People’s Commissioner who was impressed with the clarity of a report that had previously been 
presented to Cabinet. 
 
Returns from Customer Services highlight complaints and compliments regarding Customer Services provision or staff. However, expressions of 
customer dissatisfaction with some parts of the Council are increasing at the first point of contact, primarily by telephone contact to 686868 and emails. 
This means some of the conversations handled on behalf of other parts of the Council have become more contentious and extended in nature taking 
more time to deal with. A recent example is the service delay in delivering recycling equipment within the promised timescale due to the unprecedented 
demand for kit. The refuse/recycling service has now extended its delivery time guidelines to hopefully better manage customer expectations in this 
respect.  

P
age 80



 EDUCATION, LEISURE & LIFELONG LEARNING  
(Education, Skills and Culture Cabinet Board) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

No. 
 

PI Description 
Full year 
2015/16 

Full year 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

 

1 

Total Complaints - Stage 1   552 20 20 18 ↑ 
a - Complaints - Stage 1  upheld 

481 0 0 0 

 
b -Complaints - Stage 1  not upheld 

71 20 20 18 

c -Complaints - Stage 1  partially upheld 
0 0 0 0 

2 

Total Complaints - Stage 2   5 2 2 2 ↔ 
a - Complaints - Stage 2  upheld 

0 0 0 0 

 
b - Complaints - Stage 2  not upheld 

4 2 2 2 

c- Complaints - Stage 2  partially upheld 
1 0 0 0 

P
age 81



EDUCATION, LEISURE & LIFELONG LEARNING 
(Education, Skills and Culture Cabinet Board) 

 

 
 
 

 

No 
 

PI Description 
Full 
year 

2015/16 

Full 
year 

2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

 

3 

Total -  Ombudsman investigations 
4 2 2 0 ↑ 

a - Complaints - Ombudsman investigations upheld 
1  0 0 0 

 
b - Complaints - Ombudsman investigations not upheld 

3 2 2 0 

4 Number of compliments 5 8 7 105 ↑ 

5 

Summary 
 

Stage 1 - 2017/18 third quarter has seen a decrease in the number of complaints received when compared to 2016/17 third quarter, from 20 
to 18. Complaints in 2017/18 concern Margam Park admission prices, animal welfare and the conditional of the park. All the complaints were 
not upheld but processes are in place to prevent future reoccurrences where ever possible. 
 
Stage 2 - 2017/18 third quarter has remained at 2 complaints compared to 2016/17 second quarter. The complaints concerned a statement 
of Special Education Needs and a School Cleaner. Both were not upheld. 
 

Ombudsman - There have been no complaints escalated to the Ombudsman. 
 

Compliments - The number of compliments has risen from 7 to 105 when compared to 2016/17 third quarter. (Data is now collected from 
Social Media) 

 

P
age 82



CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SERVICES 
(Social Care, Health and Wellbeing Cabinet Board) 

 

 
 
 
 
 

No. 
 

PI Description 
Full year 
2015/16 

Full year 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

 

1 

Total Complaints - Stage 1   
27 19 15 18 ↓ 

a - Complaints - Stage 1  upheld 
5 7 5 3 

 

b - Complaints - Stage 1  not upheld 
13 4 3 4 

c - Complaints - Stage 1  partially upheld 
3 2 2 2 

d -  Complaints - Stage 1  other (incl. neither upheld/not upheld; 
withdrawn; passed to other agency; on-going) 

6 6 5 9 

 
2 
 

Total Complaints - Stage 2   
 

1 2 1 2 ↓ 
a - Complaints - Stage 2  upheld 

0 0 0 0 

 
b - Complaints - Stage 2  not upheld 

0 1 1 1 

c- Complaints - Stage 2  partially upheld 
1 1 0 0 

P
age 83



CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SERVICES 
(Social Care, Health and Wellbeing Cabinet Board) 

 

 
 
 
 

No. 
 

PI Description 
Full year 
2015/16 

Full year 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

 

3 

Total -  Ombudsman investigations 
0 0 0 0 ↔ 

a - Complaints - Ombudsman investigations upheld 
0 0 0 0 

 
b - Complaints - Ombudsman investigations not upheld 

0 0 0 0 

4 
Number of Compliments 

25 23 19 10 ↓ 

5 

Summary 
 
Stage 1 - the number of complaints received during the 3rd quarter 2017/18 (when compared to 2016/17) have seen a slight increase from 
15 to 18. The Service continues to prioritise resolution at a local level; however this is not always achievable or appropriate and formal 
process is followed. The Complaints Team will continue to monitor future quarters to ascertain any trends.  
 
Stage 2 - similarly, there has been an increase from 1 to 2 at Stage 2 during the first three quarters; despite the strong emphasis on a 
speedier resolution at ‘local’ and ‘Stage 1’ levels this is not always possible.  
 
Compliments - the number of compliments have seen a decrease, the Complaints Team will continue to raise the profile for the need to 
report such incidences of praise and thanks. 
 

P
age 84



SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HOUSING 
(Adult and Business Strategy Services only) 

 
(Social Care, Health and Wellbeing Cabinet Board) 

 

 
 

 

No. 
 

PI Description 
Full year 
2015/16 

Full year 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

 

1 

Total Complaints – Stage 1   
30 

 
37 26 11 ↑ 

a – Complaints – Stage 1  upheld 
7 14 8 4 

 

b – Complaints – Stage 1  not upheld 
13 10 10 3 

c – Complaints – Stage 1  partially upheld 
4 2 2 1 

d – Complaints – Stage 1  other (including withdrawn, passed to other 
agency, on-going) 

6 11 6 3 

 
2 
 

Total Complaints – Stage 2   
4 2 2 1 ↑ 

a – Complaints – Stage 2  upheld 
0 1 0 0 

 
b – Complaints – Stage 2  not upheld 

2 0 1 0 

c- Complaints – Stage 2  partially upheld/other 
2 1 1 1 

P
age 85



 
SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HOUSING 

(Adult and Business Strategy Services only) 
 

(Social Care, Health and Wellbeing Cabinet Board) 
 

 
 
 

No. 
 

PI Description 
Full year 
2015/16 

Full year 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

 

3 

Total -  Ombudsman investigations 
0 0 0 0 ↔ 

a - Complaints - Ombudsman investigations upheld 
0 0 0 0 

 b - Complaints - Ombudsman investigations not upheld 
0 0 0 0 

4 
Number of Compliments 

18 25 9 52 ↑ 

5 

Summary 
 
Stage 1 - there has been a significant decrease in the number of complaints received during the 3rd quarter 2017/18 (when compared to 
2016/17) from 26 to 11; the service continues to strive to resolve complaints on an informal basis, which may account for the decrease in the 
numbers. The Complaints Team will continue to monitor future quarters to ascertain any trends.  
 
Stage 2 - there has been a decrease on the previous year to 1 (from 2) during the 3rd quarter; as there continues to be a stronger emphasis 
on a speedier resolution at ‘informal’ and ‘Stage 1’ levels.  
 
Compliments - the number of compliments has increased; this can be attributed to an improvement in reporting from services receiving 
praise and thanks. The Complaints Team will continue to raise the profile for the need to report such incidences 

P
age 86



ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE 
(Regeneration and Sustainable Development Cabinet Board) 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

           
 

No. 
 

PI Description 
Full year 
2015/16 

Full year 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

 

1 

Total Complaints - Stage 1   3 6 3 4 ↓ 
a - Complaints - Stage 1  upheld 

0 0 0 0 

 
b -Complaints - Stage 1  not upheld 

3 5 2 4 

c -Complaints - Stage 1  partially upheld 
0 1 1 0 

 
2 
 
 
 
 

Total Complaints - Stage 2   
15 7 4 4 ↔ 

a - Complaints - Stage 2  upheld 
0 0 0 0 

 
b - Complaints - Stage 2  not upheld 

15 7 4 4 

c- Complaints - Stage 2  partially upheld 
0 0 0 0 

P
age 87



           ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE  
(Regeneration and Sustainable Development Cabinet Board) 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
No. 

 
PI Description 

Full year 
2015/16 

Full year 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

 

3 

Total -  Ombudsman investigations 
0 1 1 2 ↓ 

a - Complaints - Ombudsman investigations upheld 
0 0 0 0 

 
b - Complaints - Ombudsman investigations not upheld 

0 1 1 2 

4 
Number of Compliments 

5 10 4 6 ↑ 

5 

Summary 
 
Complaints – No Stage 1 complaints were recorded in the three month period 1st October – 31st December 2017 however four Stage 2 

complaints were recorded. Overall for the nine month period, there has been a slight increase in stage 1 complaints and stage 2 complaints 

are the same as the previous year. 

Compliments – No compliments were recorded in the three month period 1st October – 31st December 2017.   Overall there has been a 

slight increase compared to Quarter 3 last year (9 months cumulative data). 

Welsh Language – No Welsh Language complaints were recorded in quarter 3 of this year. 

 

P
age 88



ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE 

(Streetscene and Engineering Cabinet Board) 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

No. 
 

PI Description 
Full year 
2015/16 

Full year 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2017/18 

Direction of 
Improvement 

 

1 

Total Complaints - Stage 1   
31 19 19 8 ↑ 

a - Complaints - Stage 1  upheld 
15 5 5 1 

 
b - Complaints - Stage 1  not upheld 

16 14 14 7 

c - Complaints - Stage 1  partially upheld 
0 0 0 0 

2 
 

Total Complaints - Stage 2   
5 5 5 5 ↔ 

a - Complaints - Stage 2  upheld 
2 1 1 0 

 
b - Complaints - Stage 2  not upheld 

3 4 4 5 

c- Complaints - Stage 2  partially upheld 
0 0 0 0 

P
age 89



 
ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE 

(Streetscene and Engineering Cabinet Board) 
 

 

 

 
No. 

 
PI Description 

Full year 
2015/16 

Full year 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2016/17 

Quarter 3 
2017/18 

 
Direction of 

Improvement 
 

3 

Total -  Ombudsman investigations 
0 4 4 0       ↑ 

a - Complaints - Ombudsman investigations upheld 
0 0 0 0 

 
b - Complaints - Ombudsman investigations not upheld 

0 4 4 0 

4 
Number of Compliments 

23 58 48 29 ↓ 

5 

Summary  
 
Complaints - There has been a vast improvement in the amount of Stage 1 investigations undertaken compared to Quarter 3 last year 
 
Compliments - Whilst still remaining high, the number of compliments has reduced by 17 
 
Welsh Language - There were no complaints in relation to the Welsh Language 

P
age 90



NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

POLICY AND RESOURCES CABINET BOARD 
 

7 MARCH 2018 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF CORPORATE STRATEGY AND 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES – K.JONES 

 
 

SECTION A - MATTER FOR DECISION  
 
WARDS AFFECTED - ALL  
 
CONSULTATION – CODE OF PRACTICE FOR THE WELSH 
LANGUAGE STANDARDS (No.1) REGUALTIONS 2015 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. To agree the Council’s response to consultation being undertaken 

by the Welsh Language Commissioner’s on her draft Code of 
Practice for the Welsh Language Standards. 
  

2. To update Members on the outcome of further dialogue that has 
taken place between officers and representatives of the Welsh 
Language Commissioner concerning the 9 standards still subject of 
Challenge. 
 

  
 Background 
 
3. The Welsh Language Commissioner, in exercising her right under 

Section 68 of the Welsh Language Measure, has produced a code 
of practice to assist in the implementation of the Standards issued - 
the Welsh Language Standards (No1) Regulations.  

 
4. The Code is ‘an opportunity to bring together any guidance on the 

standards in one accessible document, whilst ensuring clarity and 
consistency in relation to the requirements of the standards across 
every body’. 

 
5. The consultation was issued on 12 January 2018 with a deadline of 

6 April 2018 for receipt of responses.   

Page 91

Agenda Item 7



 
6. Officers attended a consultation event on 7 February to provide 

some initial feedback on the draft Code. This report seeks approval 
from Members to the substance of the Council’s formal response to 
the consultation exercise.  

 
Code of Practice  
 
7. The purpose of the Code is to provide assistance to bodies to 

comply with the standards that are imposed by the Welsh Language 
Commissioner. The consultation document states that the main 
purpose of the codes is to provide clarity on the exact requirements 
of the standards by interpreting terms and phrases not already 
interpreted in the regulations or the Measure; providing examples of 
how a body can put requirements into operation; and highlighting 
matters to consider when working towards compliance. 
 

8. The consultation seeks views on the way the Code is structured and 
also the extent to which the layout, style and language used is 
coherent. It seeks views on whether issues have been addressed 
appropriately in the Code, for example whether the Code aids 
compliance or conflicts with other legislation etc. The response form 
can be found at Appendix 1.  
 

 

Main issues  
 

9. In the view of officers, the document is written in a very technical 
style which is contrary to the aim of providing an accessible 
document to ease implementation the standards. The use of plain 
Welsh/English would be far more appropriate if it is to achieve the 
objectives set by the Commissioner.  

10. Repetition – There is considerable repetition throughout the 
document, sometimes more than once in the same section, which 
makes the document very difficult to read and use.  

11. Structure – the Code is generally well structured with clear 
‘chapters’ dealing with each set of standards. However the structure 
within these chapters is not so well defined. While the general 
principle is clear, the execution falls short:  a heading of what is 
required (the standard) followed by explanations in the form of 
questions and answers which involve repetition and provides limited 

Page 92



clarity. A suggested amendment could be to keep the ‘What are the 
requirements?’ with issues identified in the ‘Q&As’ to be addressed 
generally under a few examples. This would help remove/reduce 
repetition and therefore assist clarity. 

 

12. Examples could be identified more clearly – they are lost amongst 
the text. Boxes could be used for examples rather than for 
standards.  

 

13. Confusion/contradictions in the Code – once accepted by Ministers 
this Code will have statutory force.  

1.1.20   A body's failure to comply with a provision of an 
approved Code of Practice does not render that body liable to 
enforcement action of any kind. This document should not be 
considered a complete nor authoritative declaration of the law. Only 
the Welsh Language Tribunal and courts are able to provide an 
authoritative declaration of legislation and subsequent judicial 
decisions may affect the content of this Code. 

1.1.21   Even so, should the Commissioner decide to take any 
action under the Measure in relation to a body’s failure to comply 
with a standard, a failure to comply with a relevant provision of an 
approved Code of Practice may be relied upon as tending to 
establish that the body is liable for the alleged standards failure. 

1.1.22   Similarly, compliance with a relevant provision of an 
approved Code of Practice may be relied upon as tending to 
establish that the body in question is not liable for the alleged 
standards failure.  

and  

2.1.15   In this Code, statutory duties that come directly from 
the law are denoted by the term 'must' (or similar terms). 

2.1.16   The terms 'may' and 'expected' (or similar terms) 
denote the Commissioner's practical guidance relating to the 
requirements of the standards or examples of how they could be 
implemented. Although they are not necessarily statutory 
requirements, paragraphs 1.1.20 – 1.1.22 of this code should be 
considered. 

 

 

Page 93



This section is particularly unclear. It would be much clearer if the 
elements of the Code which have statutory force as more clearly 
distinguished from those which are advisory. Furthermore, the 
Commissioner should reflect on whether the way in which she 
intends to use the Code (particularly those elements which are 
advisory) to determine compliance or non-compliance is 
appropriate. We would expect to be accountable for compliance 
with statutory provisions but we may have good reason to not 
comply with elements which are advisory. It is unhelpful to confuse 
these two aspects. 

 

14. Elected Members – the Code differentiates between executive and 
non-executive elected members and treats these groups differently. 
This is an unhelpful approach. Where any elected Member is acting 
for the Council in a formal capacity then we would expect the Code 
to apply. However, if any Member is acting in the local 
representative or other capacity we would not expect the Code to 
apply. As drafted, it appears that there is a confused understanding 
within the Commissioner’s office of these issues.  

15. Although the Code has been produced to include frequently asked 
questions it may be useful if it also reflects the issues which have 
been raised by bodies under the Challenge process. In our 
experience, the standards themselves are often unclear and if the 
Commissioner is to ensure a consistent application of the standards 
if would be beneficial if the advice that has been offered to individual 
bodies is formalised within the Code. 

 

 Welsh Language Standards Challenge  

16. Officers met with representatives of the Welsh Language 
Commissioner in February to discuss the last 9 remaining 
standards. The meeting was very positive and productive. The 
Commissioner’ representatives were able to put some further 
modifications to the Commissioner to assist the Council in achieving 
compliance – for example focusing bi-lingual services at the two 
main receptions desks across the Council in the civic centres; 
helpfully agreeing that the original source of minutes and agendas 
can be made clear on any translated version; agreeing to explore 
difficulties in meeting standards for driver training where the means 
of compliance is outside of the Council’s own control. Providing 
guidance on outstanding issues related to the Council’s human 
resources activities. 

Page 94



 

17. Further information and advice has been provided to the 
Commissioner’s representatives following the meeting. We hope to 
receive the outcome of actions agreed for the Commissioner’s 
representatives shortly following which the Council would be in a  
position to make a final set of proposals related to the remaining 
nine standards subject of Challenge with a view to concluding the 
process.  

 
Financial Impact 
 
18. There are no financial impacts with this report  
 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 
 

There is no requirement for an Equality Impact Assessment with this 
report    

 
Workforce Impacts 
 

There are no direct workforce impacts with this report 
 
Legal Impacts 
 This work directly supports the requirement for the Council to 

secure compliance with those standards that the Welsh Language 
Commissioner determines should apply to this Council. 

 
 
Risk Management 
 Further modification to the Determination for this Council will reduce 

the risk of the Council being unable to comply with the Welsh 
Language standards which reflects on the Council’s reputation and 
has the risk of attracting sanctions, including financial penalties 

 
Consultation 
 
19. There is no requirement under the Constitution for external 

consultation on this item. 
 
 
 

Page 95



Recommendations 
 
20. That Members consider the draft Code of Practice and the advice 

provided by officers within this report and agree the substance of a 
response that can be submitted to the Commissioner and to 
authorise the Chief Executive to submit the response.  

 
21. That Members note the current positon in relation to the Challenge 

 
  

 
Reason for Proposed Decision 
 
22. To ensure the Council’s views on the proposed Code of Practice are 

conveyed to the Welsh Language Commissioner.  
 
 
Implementation of Decision 
 
23. The decision is proposed for implementation after the three day call 

in period 
 
 
Appendices  
 
24.  Appendix 1 – Response Form    
 
 
Background papers  
 
25. Welsh Language Commissioner‘s Draft Code of Practice for the 

Welsh Language Standards (No. 1) Regulations 2015  
 
 
Officer Contact: 
 
26 Mrs Karen Jones, Head of Corporate Strategy and Democratic 

Services Tel: 01639 763284 e-mail: k.jones3@npt.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 96

mailto:k.jones3@npt.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 1 

 

 
Response Form   
 
 

Page 97



Consultation on practical guidance on the requirements 
of the Welsh language standards for the Welsh 
Ministers, county councils and county borough councils 
in Wales and National Park authorities

1
   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

How and when to respond 

This consultation is conducted between 12 January and 6 April 2018.  

You can respond by completing this form and sending it: 

 via e-mail to hysbysiadcydymffurfio@comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru; or 

 through the post to Welsh Language Commissioner, Siambrau’r Farchnad, 5-
7 Heol Eglwys Fair, Caerdydd, CF10 1AT. 

Related documents 

You should read the code’s content alongside the following related documents: 

 The Welsh Language Standards (No. 1) Regulations 2015 

                                           
1
 In accordance with section 68(4) of The Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011. 

Page 98

mailto:hysbysiadcydymffurfio@comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru


 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/996/contents/made  

 
 Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/1/contents/enacted   

Confidentiality 

The Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004 allows the public to ask to see information held by public bodies, 
including the Commissioner. This includes information which has not been 
published.  

However, the law also allows us to withhold information in some circumstances. If 
you wish the information you supply to be treated in confidence, you should be 
aware that we must comply with the Freedom of Information Act’s statutory code of 
practice.  

Amongst other things, this code deals with matters of confidentiality. Therefore, it 
would be useful if you could provide a concise explanation of why you wish the 
information you provide to remain confidential. If we receive an application to 
disclose the information, we will give full consideration to your explanation, but we 
cannot guarantee confidentiality in every eventuality. 

It is possible that the body’s name will be published unless you tick the box below. 
To keep your response anonymous (including e-mail addresses), please tick the box 
below: 

 

 Please keep my response anonymous 

If you wish to keep your response anonymous, please provide an explanation 
why below: 

[Provide your explanation in this box]  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Response Form 

Please write your response in the boxes below.  

Page 99

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/996/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/1/contents/enacted


 
1. Is the code structured and set out in a coherent way? If it is not, have you 

got any recommendations on how to improve it? 
[Note your response in this box]  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2. Do you feel that the style and language used is totally clear? If you do not, 

have you got any recommendations on how to improve it? 

[Note your response in this box] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

For the following questions, we ask that you refer to the category of standards 
(e.g. operational standards), to the number of the particular standards (e.g. 
standards 21-24) or the particular clauses within the code when providing any 
comments. This will allow us to consider and analyse the information collected 
thoroughly and correctly.  
 

3. Do you agree that the code deals with the appropriate issues? If you do 
not, what is missing?  

[Note your response in this box] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 100



 

 
4. After reading the code, are there any issues that remain unclear? If there 

are, what are they?  

[Note your response in this box] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
5. Does the code help you to interpret the standards clearly? If it does not, 

what would make it clearer? 

[Note your response in this box] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
6. Are you of the opinion that the code expands on or restricts the 

requirements of the standards? 

[Note your response in this box] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
7. Do you feel that any aspects of the code restrict your ability to comply with 

one or more of the standards? 

[Note your response in this box] 
 
 
 
 

Page 101



 
 
 

 
8. Do you feel that any aspects of the code contradict: 

 any other part of the code; 
 any information you have received previously; or 
 any other legislation? 

[Note your response in this box] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

9. Do the examples included in the code help you to better understand the 
requirements or put them in their context better? Are there any other 
examples that could be included? 

 [Note your response in this box] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
10. Does the content of any lists in the code help you to understand the 

requirements? Do any of the lists need to be expanded upon? 

[Note your response in this box] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



 
 
 

 
11. Have you got any further comments on the content of this code? 

[Note your response in this box] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Further information 

For any further information, please phone 0345 6033 221 or send an e-mail to 
hysbysiadcydymffurfio@comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 103

mailto:codauymarfer@comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru


This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

 
Draft Code of Practice for 
the Welsh Language 
Standards (No. 1) 
Regulations 2015 
 
Practical guidance on the requirements of the Welsh 
language standards for the Welsh Ministers, county 
councils and county borough councils in Wales and 
National Park authorities   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Page 105



Contents 
 
1 An introduction to the law  1 

2 An introduction to the code of practice  4 

3 General guidance on the content of the regulations  6 

4 Service delivery standards (1-87)  12 

5 Policy making standards (88-97)  67 

6 Operational standards (98-144)  73 

7 Record keeping standards (147-154)  94 

8 Standards which deal with supplementary matters 
(155-176)  98 

9 Glossary and explanatory notes  102 

Appendix 1: A list of the bodies to which the code applies  105 

Appendix 2: Changes to the regulations  106 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 106



01/106106  

 

   

1 An introduction to the law 

Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 

1.1.1 The Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 (the Measure) gives official status to 
the Welsh language in Wales and establishes the principle that the Welsh language 
should be treated no less favourably than the English language in Wales. 

1.1.2 The Measure also gives legal effect to that official status by setting out a legal 
framework for imposing a duty on some bodies to comply with standards of conduct 
that relate to the Welsh language (standards).1 The standards explain how bodies 
are expected to treat and use the Welsh language in different situations.  

1.1.3 The duties resulting from the standards mean that bodies must not treat the Welsh 
language less favourably than the English language and must promote and facilitate 
the use of the Welsh language. 

1.1.4 The Measure stipulates that Welsh Ministers may specify standards relating to 
service delivery; policy making; operational; promotion; record keeping as well as 
those that relate to making other provision about such standards (i.e. 
supplementary standards). 

1.1.5 In time, the standards will replace Welsh language schemes established under the 
Welsh Language Act 1993. 

Welsh Language Commissioner  

1.1.6 The role of the Welsh Language Commissioner (the Commissioner), an 
independent body, was established by the Measure. The Commissioner’s principal 
aim is to promote and facilitate the use of the Welsh language. The Commissioner 
is responsible for imposing duties in the form of Welsh language standards on 
bodies as well as being responsible for enforcing those duties.  

Welsh Language Standards Regulations  

1.1.7 The Measure allows Welsh Ministers to impose standards of conduct that relate to 
the Welsh language via regulations.2  

1.1.8 The Welsh Language Standards (No. 1) Regulations 20153 (the regulations) specify 
standards relating to the conduct of Welsh Ministers, county councils and county 
borough councils in Wales and national Park Authorities.4 

1.1.9 Furthermore, the regulations authorise the Commissioner to impose standards 
specified in the regulations on those bodies listed in appendix 1 in a compliance 
notice. 

1.1.10 Compliance notices were issued to these bodies on 30 September 2015. The 
requirements of the first set of standards in those compliance notices came into 
force on 30 March 2016.  

                                            
1
 A ‘body’ in the context of the standards is an organisation which is under a duty to comply with one or more 

standards. See section 9 for more information. 
2
  Section 26 of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 

3
 Welsh Language Standards (No. 1) Regulations 2015; No. 996 (Cl. 68). They came into force on 31 March 

2015. 
4
A more detailed list of the relevant bodies can be found in Appendix 1. 

Page 107

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/1/section/26/enacted/english
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/996/pdfs/wsi_20150996_mi.pdf


02/106106  

 

   

Compliance notice  

1.1.11 A compliance notice is a notice given to a body by the Welsh Language 
Commissioner which requires them to comply with one or more of the standards 
specified by Welsh Ministers. The compliance notice identifies the imposition day(s) 
for each of the standards included within it.  

1.1.12 The 'imposition day' is the day from which a body must comply with a standard, or 
the day a body must comply with a standard in a particular respect. The imposition 
day or the earliest of the imposition days identified in a compliance notice must 
come six months after the day the notice is issued. 

Changes to the regulations or code of practice 

1.1.13 The Welsh Language Standards (No. 5) Regulations 20165 amend the Welsh 
Language Standards (No. 1) Regulations 2015.6 Welsh Ministers may amend the 
Welsh Language Standards (No. 1) Regulations 2015 further in the future. That 
could impact the duties explained in this code. 

1.1.14 Furthermore, this code makes reference to relevant legislation. Changes to such 
legislation may also impact those duties explained in this code. 

1.1.15 Decisions by the Welsh Language Tribunal or a court may also impact the content 
of this code, as they provide an authoritative interpretation of the requirements of 
the standards.7 

1.1.16 As a result, readers of this code will need to be aware of any developments which 
affect the provisions of the regulations. The Welsh Language Commissioner is able 
to provide the latest information. 

1.1.17 If appropriate, the Commissioner may choose to review this code of practice in 
future as a result of any changes which impact the code.8 

The status of the code of practice 

1.1.18 The Measure states9: 

(1) The Commissioner may issue codes of practice for the 
purpose of providing practical guidance with respect to the 
requirements of any standards specified by the Welsh 
Ministers under section 26(1) (“standards codes of 
practice”).  

1.1.19 The Commissioner cannot issue, revise or withdraw a standards code of practice 
without the consent of the Welsh Ministers. Prior to this, the Commissioner must 
consult with the Commissioner's Advisory Panel as well as the bodies which are 
relevant to the code of practice in question.10 

 

                                            
5
 Section 4, Welsh Language Standards (No. 5) Regulations 2016 

6
 See Appendix 2 for further information. 

7
 Decisions made by the Welsh Language Tribunal are available on www.welshlanguagetribunal.gov.wales  

8
See Section 68 of the Welsh Language Measure (Wales) 2011 for details on the steps which must be taken 

before a revised code of practice comes into force. 
9
  Section 68 of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 

10
  Section 68 of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 

Page 108

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2016/406/regulation/4/made
http://www.welshlanguagetribunal.gov.wales/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/1/section/68/enacted/english
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/1/section/68/enacted/english
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/1/section/68/enacted/english


03/106106  

 

   

1.1.20 A body's failure to comply with a provision of an approved code of practice does not 
render that body liable to enforcement action of any kind.11 This document should 
not be considered a complete nor authoritative declaration of the law. Only the 
Welsh Language Tribunal and courts are able to provide an authoritative 
declaration of legislation and subsequent judicial decisions may affect the content of 
this code. 

1.1.21 Even so, should the Commissioner decide to take any action under the Measure in 
relation to a body’s failure to comply with a standard, a failure to comply with a 
relevant provision of an approved code of practice may be relied upon as tending to 
establish that the body is liable for the alleged standards failure.  

1.1.22 Similarly, compliance with a relevant provision of an approved code of practice may 
be relied upon as tending to establish that the body in question is not liable for the 
alleged standards failure.12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                            
11

  Section 69 of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 
12

  Section 69 of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 
Page 109

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/1/section/69/enacted/english
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/1/section/69/enacted/english


04/106106  

 

   

2 An introduction to the code of practice 

The purpose of the code of practice 
2.1.1 The purpose of this code of practice is to provide practical guidance on the 

requirements of the standards imposed in the Welsh Language Standards (No. 1) 
Regulations 2015.13  

2.1.2 The code clarifies the requirements of these standards further. Amongst other 
things, this is done by: 

 responding to frequently asked questions posed by bodies in the past; 
 interpreting terms and phrases not already interpreted in the regulations nor 

the Measure; 
 referring to any relevant terms or phrases already interpreted in other 

regulations or legislation; 
 providing examples of the meaning of specific terms or phrases;  
 providing examples of how a body can implement certain requirements; 
 highlighting issues for bodies to consider when seeking compliance; and 
 explaining any relevant clauses found in the regulations or Measure which 

make the duties to comply in specific situations exempt. 
 

2.1.3 This code may be used alongside the compliance notice, regulations and the 
Measure in order to: 

 assist bodies or third parties to understand their responsibilities better and 
seek to ensure compliance;  

 assist the Welsh Language Tribunal and the courts to understand the 
Commissioner’s interpretation of the requirements of the standards further; 

 assist persons to understand their rights arising from the Welsh language 
standards better. 
 

How to use this code 
2.1.4 Section 3 provides general guidance on the content of the regulations. It further 

clarifies issues affecting the regulations as a whole or those that affect a number of 
standards across more than one activity or class of standards.  

2.1.5 Section 4 provides practical guidance on the requirements of the service delivery 
standards. These standards relates to promoting or facilitating the use of Welsh, or 
ensuring that the Welsh language is not treated less favourably than the English 
language when delivering services.  

2.1.6 Section 5 provides practical guidance on the requirements of the policy making 
standards. These standards relates to ensuring that bodies understand how their 
policy decisions affect a person's ability to use the Welsh language and the principle 
that the Welsh language should be treated no less favourably than the English 
language.  

2.1.7 Section 6 provides practical guidance on the requirements of the operational 
standards. These standards relates to how a body deals with the use of Welsh 
within their organisations.  

                                            
13

  Section 68 of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 
Page 110

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/1/section/68/enacted/english


05/106106  

 

   

2.1.8 Section 7 provides practical guidance on the requirements of the record keeping 
standards. These standards relates to record keeping in relation to some of the 
other standards and any complaints received by a body.  

2.1.9 Section 8 provides practical guidance on the requirements of the standards 
relating to supplementary matters. These standards relates to facilitating the 
reporting and monitoring of bodies' compliance as well as providing them with steps 
to publish information on their performance against the statutory requirements.  

2.1.10 Sections 4-8 explain what the requirements of the standards are and address 
general questions.  

2.1.11 Section 9 provides a list of terms and explanatory notes. Here there is a summary 
of the meaning of general terms and phrases found in the regulations. 

2.1.12 Appendix 1 lists the bodies to which this code applies. Appendix 2 contains 
information regarding the changes to the regulations since the regulations were 
passed. 
 

Circumstances in compliance notices  
2.1.13 The Measure14 allows the Commissioner to require a body to comply with a specific 

standard: 

a) in some circumstances, but not in other circumstances; or 
b) in some area or areas, but not in other areas.15  
 

2.1.14 This code does not deal with any situations where the Commissioner has imposed 
a circumstance in the compliance notice. The requirements of the standards are 
addressed as they are specified in the regulations only. Therefore, this code of 
practice should be read alongside the body’s individual compliance notice as well 
as the regulations in order to consider the body's duties in full. 
 

Duties, guidance, lists and examples 
2.1.15 In this code, statutory duties that come directly from the law16 are denoted by the 

term 'must' (or similar terms).  

2.1.16 The terms 'may' and 'expected' (or similar terms) denote the Commissioner's 
practical guidance relating to the requirements of the standards or examples of how 
they could be implemented. Although they are not necessarily statutory 
requirements, paragraphs 1.1.20 – 1.1.22 of this code should be considered. 

2.1.17 References to the term 'includes' (or similar terms) should not be construed to 
suggest that there is any limitation in terms of the requirements (unless that is noted 
specifically). 

2.1.18 For example, there is a list of specific materials which may be covered by a specific 
term. Such lists should not be considered exhaustive. 

2.1.19 There are examples of implementing the requirements of the standards in the code. 
These examples should not be construed to mean that the standards only apply to 
those examples. They are meant to show how the requirements of the standards 
may impact the body's functions and they should be read as such. 

                                            
14

 Section 44(2) of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 
15

 This is referred to as a 'circumstance' in the rest of this code. 
16

 Be that from the compliance notice, regulations, Measure or any other legislation. 
Page 111

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/1/section/44/enacted/english


06/106106  

 

   

3 General guidance on the content of the 
regulations  

What is meant by the terms 'individual' and 'public' referred to in the standards? 

3.1.1 The regulations do not interpret the meaning of the term 'public’. However, the term 
includes the public in its entirety, or a proportion of the public, as well as individual 
members of the public. The term also includes legal persons and corporate bodies 
such as voluntary organisations and charities, as well as those representing limited 
companies. 

3.1.2 However, neither the Crown, Government nor State come within the meaning of the 
term 'public’. Therefore, persons fulfilling official functions of a public nature would 
not come within the meaning of the term 'public' whilst carrying out those official 
functions. 

3.1.3 An example of a person that does not come within the meaning of the term 'public' 
may include a county council or health board staff member acting in that capacity. 

3.1.4 The regulations state that an "individual" ("unigolyn") means a member of the 
public."17 The term 'individual' has a more limited meaning than the term 'public', as 
it is limited to individual members of the public only.  

3.1.5 A standard which refers to an 'individual' therefore refers to a private individual 
involved with the body in a private capacity rather than in their job capacity. It 
therefore does not include those involved with the body whilst representing 
corporate bodies or limited companies. 

What is meant by the term 'person' referred to in the standards? 

3.1.6 The regulations do not interpret the term 'person'. However, the Interpretation Act 
1978 (IA 1978) states that a ““person” includes a body of persons corporate or 
unincorporate.” 18 Therefore, when a standard refers to 'person', the term includes 
corporate and incorporate persons. 

3.1.7 The term 'person' has a broader meaning than the terms 'individual' and 'public'. 
Persons acting in a capacity which is representative of the Crown, Government or 
State may also come within the meaning of the term. 

3.1.8 That means that the term 'person' also includes a member of staff of a public 
organisation (excluding the body's staff) acting in that capacity, such as a member 
of staff of a National Park authority, council or the Welsh Government. 

3.1.9 The following diagram shows how the above terms relate to each other:   

                                            
17

 Section 1(4), Welsh Language Standards (No. 1) Regulations 2015 
18

 Schedule 1 of the Interpretation Act 1978 
Page 112

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/996/pdfs/wsi_20150996_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1978/30/pdfs/ukpga_19780030_en.pdf


07/106106  

 

   

            
 

 
What is meant by the terms 'member of staff', 'individual working for a body' and 
'employee' referred to in the standards? 

3.1.10 The regulations state that a “member of staff” (“aelod o staff”) means an employee 
of a body or an individual working for a body (and "staff" ("staff") must be 
interpreted accordingly)"19 

3.1.11 The regulations do not interpret the term 'employee'. However, it is considered to 
have the same meaning as the term "employee" found in the Employment Rights 
Act 1996, namely: 

 

"(1) In this Act 'employee' means an individual who has entered 
into or works under (or, where the employment has ceased, 
worked under) a contract of employment. 
(2) In this Act 'contract of employment' means a contract of 
service or apprenticeship, whether express or implied, and (if it 
is express) whether oral or in writing." 20 

   
3.1.12 Therefore, the term 'employee' is limited to those who have entered into, or works 

under, a contract of employment. 

3.1.13 The regulations do not interpret the term 'an individual working for a body'. 
However, it is considered to have the same meaning as the term "worker" found in 
the Employment Rights Act 1996, namely: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
19

 Section 1(4), Welsh Language Standards (No. 1) Regulations 2015 
20

 Section 230, Employment Rights Act 1996 

PERSON 

PUBLIC 

INDIVIDUAL 

Page 113

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/996/pdfs/wsi_20150996_mi.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/18/section/230


08/106106  

 

   

"(3) In this Act 'worker' [...] means an individual who has 
entered into or works under (or, where the employment has 
ceased, worked under) – 

(a) a contract of employment, or 
(b) any other contract, whether express or implied and (if it is 
express) whether oral or in writing, whereby the individual 
undertakes to do or perform personally any work or services for 
another party to the contract whose status is not by virtue of the 
contract that of a client or customer of any profession or 
business undertaking carried on by the individual; [...]."21  

 
3.1.14 The term 'individual working for a body' has a broader meaning than the term 

'employee'. The term includes an individual working for a body by virtue of a 
contract, not an employment contract, whereby that individual undertakes to 
personally do work or delivers a service on behalf of the body. That may include 
agency workers, casual workers, freelancers and volunteers. 

3.1.15 Therefore, the term 'member of staff' includes persons who come within the 
interpretation of the terms "employee” and “worker” found in the Employment Rights 
Act 1996. 

Are elected and co-elected members considered a 'person' and 'member of the 
public' for the purposes of the standards? 

3.1.16 A body should consider elected or co-elected members who do not act on behalf of 
the body ('non-executive members') as a 'person' (other than the body) for the 
purposes of the standards. 

3.1.17 A body should also consider their non-executive members to be a 'member of the 
public' or covered by the term 'public', as they have been elected to the body by the 
public to represent the public. 

3.1.18 Therefore, a body to which the member has been elected should provide services 
or carry out activities for their non-executive members in the same manner as any 
person or other member of the public. 

3.1.19 However, there are instances where a body's members will act on behalf of the 
body they have been elected to ('executive members'). For example, if a councillor 
is a Council leader, a cabinet member, a mayor or represents the body in any other 
context. 

3.1.20 In such circumstances, an executive member would not be another 'person' 
(separate to the body), nor a 'member of the public', nor be covered by the term 
'public' for the purposes of the standards. 

3.1.21 Executive members normally act on behalf of the body in the same way as internal 
officers, therefore, the body should consider to what extent the operational 
standards apply to those members. 

3.1.22 If the member acts on behalf of the body, they must carry out activities or provide 
services to persons (other than the body) in the same way as internal officers 
would.  

 

                                            
21

 Section 230, Employment Rights Act 1996 
Page 114

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/18/section/230


09/106106  

 

   

Do the standards apply to third party providers? 

3.1.23 Section 1(5) of the regulations state: 

 In these Regulations— 
 (a) references to any activity being carried out by a body, or to 
any service being provided by a body, are to be read as 
including a reference to that activity being carried out on the 
body’s behalf or to that service being provided on the body’s 
behalf by a third  party under arrangements made between the 
third party and the body; 
 (b) accordingly, unless a compliance notice provides to the 
contrary, a body will have failed to comply with a standard in 
respect of an activity or service it has arranged to be carried out 
or provided by a third party if that activity or service has not 
been carried out or provided in accordance with the standard. 

 
3.1.24 The above clause states that a body must ensure that any service being provided or 

any activity being carried out on their behalf by a third party under an arrangement 
complies with the standards applicable to the service or activity in question. 
Relevant arrangements may include arrangements made via a contract or 
partnership. 

3.1.25 That does not mean that third party providers will have to comply with all of the 
standards imposed on a body. Instead, they will need to ensure that they comply 
with the standards relevant to the service being provided or the activity being 
carried out on behalf of the body and to that extent only. An example may include a 
private company contracted to provide customer services over the phone on behalf 
of a body. The body would need to ensure that the services provided on their behalf 
by that company complies with the compliance notice in relation to those services 
only. That would include the standards relating to telephone calls but not 
necessarily the standards for delivering courses to the public for example, as that 
may not be an activity they carry out on behalf of the body. 

3.1.26 The clause also applies if the arrangements made between the body and third party 
were made before the relevant imposition day of any standard. 

3.1.27 Therefore, if a person (A) carries out an activity, or provides a service, which is: 

(a) on behalf of a body (B) that is under a duty to comply with the Welsh 
language standards; and 
(b) under arrangements made between A and B; 

 
if A does not comply with the standard, then that will be a failure on the part of B 
which could lead to the Commissioner taking action against B under her 
enforcement powers. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 115



10/106106  

 

   

3.1.28 There are a number of possible different models for providing a service in an 
alternative manner, which means that services or resources are provided in ways 
apart from the body's direct provision. Such models may include the following: 

 outsourcing services via a contract, where the provider receives payment 
from the public body; 

 providing services via a concession, where the provider has the right to 
charge for services; 

 providing services via a separate entity, wholly owned  by the public body; 
 providing services via a separate entity, jointly owned by the public body and 

another public body; 
 providing services via a separate entity, jointly owned by the public body and 

a commercial partner or third sector partner. 
 

3.1.29 It should be emphasized that A must provide or carry out a service or activity on 
behalf of B for the standards to apply to a service or activity provided or carried out 
by A. It is the body's responsibility to consider to what extent the third party provides 
or carries out a service or activity on behalf of the body. A body may do so by 
assessing any arrangements they have with third parties.   

Do the standards only apply to Wales? 

3.1.30 On the whole, yes. The regulations state that they only "apply in relation to 
Wales".22 What this means in the context of the different categories of standards is 
detailed below. 

Service delivery and policy making standards 

3.1.31 The service delivery standards only apply if a body provides a service or carries out 
an activity for persons based in Wales. This can mean that the service is provided 
or the activity is carried out by a body based in Wales or outside Wales. 

3.1.32 Similarly, any policy decision affecting persons based in Wales, whether that 
decision is made by a body based in Wales or outside Wales, is subject to policy 
making standards. 

3.1.33 The above does not mean that the standards apply to a service, activity or policy 
decision provided to, or affecting, persons in Wales only. The standards also apply 
to a service or activity or policy decision provided or carried out across the United 
Kingdom, or to parts of it, as long as that includes or affects persons in Wales. 

3.1.34 The above is correct to the extent that the service or activity is intended for persons 
in Wales. A service or activity not intended for persons in Wales would not be 
considered to apply in relation to Wales, even though it may be available to persons 
in Wales. Such an example could include a body's web page providing information 
relevant to persons in England only, but available to persons in Wales on the web. 

 

 

 

 

                                            
22

  Section 1(3), Welsh Language Standards (No. 1) Regulations 2015 
Page 116

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/996/pdfs/wsi_20150996_mi.pdf


11/106106  

 

   

3.1.35 The standards do not place a duty on a body to provide services or carry out 
activities to persons based outside Wales. For example, there is no duty on a body 
to comply with the standards when erecting a sign outside Wales. 

3.1.36 The operational standards require more consideration and can be divided into two 
categories, namely: 

a) standards intended to promote or facilitate use of the Welsh language, in order to 
allow the body to deliver a service or carry out an activity in Welsh for persons in 
Wales (‘organisational operational standards'); and 
b) standards which give a member of staff employment rights in Welsh 
('employment operational standards'). 
 

3.1.37 It is considered that 'organisational operational standards' apply to all members of 
staff within a body, be they based in Wales or beyond, to the extent that they 
deliver a service or carry out an activity to persons in Wales. The following 
standards fall into this category: 

 98, 120, 125, 127, 130 part (a), 132, 133, 134, 135, 136 and 136A. 
 

3.1.38 It is considered that the 'employment operational standards' are subject to activities 
or services provided by a body to members of staff based in Wales only. All 
operational standards not identified above come under this category. Members of 
staff based outside Wales do not have rights under the employment operational 
standards. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 117



12/106106  

 

   

4 Service delivery standards (1-87) 

4.1 Correspondence sent by a body [standards 1-7] 

What are the requirements? 

4.1.1 Standards 1-7 relates to the way in which a body sends correspondence. More 
specifically, the standards deal with:  

 a body replying to correspondence from another person (standard 1); 
 a body corresponding with an individual (standard 2), with more than one 

member of the same household (standard 3), or with several persons 
(standards 4 and 5); and 

 general matters relating to correspondence (standards 6 and 7). 

 
Standard 1 

4.1.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 1, they must reply to any 
correspondence received in Welsh from a person, in Welsh (if an answer is 
required). A body does not have to do so in situations where a person has indicated 
that there is no need to reply in Welsh.  

4.1.3 In order to comply, the entire correspondence must be dealt with in Welsh (if that is 
a person's wish and that a reply is needed). In order to do so, material sent by a 
person relating to the correspondence may also need to be considered (e.g. forms, 
documents or other written material provided by a person to be used by a body in 
dealing with the correspondence). The standard applies to all responses from the 
body dealing with the correspondence in question. That is, the Commissioner would 
not consider the body to be compliant with the requirements of this standard should 
they send correspondence acknowledging the correspondence in Welsh, only to not 
send follow-up correspondence which deals with the matter in hand in Welsh. 

Standard 2 

4.1.4 Where a body is required to comply with standard 2, they must ask an individual 
whether they wish to receive correspondence in Welsh, when corresponding with 
them for the first time. If the individual responds to say that they do wish to receive 
correspondence in Welsh from the body, the body must keep a record of that wish, 
and correspond with them in Welsh from then onwards. 

4.1.5 Standard 2 also requires a body to send any forms to the individual in Welsh when 
corresponding with them from then onwards. It should be noted that paragraph 31, 
Schedule 1, Part 3 of the regulations contains this exception in relation to some 
kinds of forms:  

For the purposes of standard 2, a body is not required to send a 
Welsh language version of the forms listed in sub-paragraph 
(3).  

 

(3) The forms are—  

(a) forms used by a body to recruit employees (see standards 
137A,138 and 139 in relation to recruitment);  

(b) forms used when applying for grant assistance from a body 
(see standards 71 to 75 in relation to applications for grants);  

Page 118



13/106106  

 

   

(c) forms used when submitting a tender to enter into a contract 
with a body (see standards 76 to 80 in relation to tendering for a 
contract). 

 

Standard 3 

4.1.6 Where a body is required to comply with standard 3, they must ask two individuals 
who are members of the same household whether they wish to receive 
correspondence in Welsh, when corresponding with them for the first time. 
Examples of such individuals may include two parents or two individuals in a 
relationship who live in the same house. 

4.1.7 If both individuals respond to say that they wish to receive correspondence in Welsh 
from the body, the body must keep a record of that wish and correspond with them 
in Welsh from then onwards when sending correspondence addressed to both of 
those individuals.  

4.1.8 If one (but not both) of the individuals responds to say that he or she wishes to 
receive correspondence in Welsh from the body, the body must keep a record of 
that wish and provide a Welsh language version of correspondence from then 
onwards when sending correspondence addressed to both of those individuals.  

Standard 4 

4.1.9 Where a body is required to comply with standard 4 and sends the same 
correspondence to several persons, they must send a Welsh language version of 
that correspondence. The body must also ensure that a Welsh language version of 
the correspondence is sent at the same time as any English language version. 

4.1.10 The regulations provide examples of situations where this standard is relevant, 
namely  

 when a body sends a circular, or 
 when a body sends the same letter to a number of homes. 

4.1.11 However, the standard is not limited to these kinds of cases. This standard is 
relevant to any case where a body sends the same correspondence to 'a number of 
persons'. The regulations also use the term 'several persons'. The regulations do 
not interpret the term 'a number of persons' or 'several persons'. However, these 
terms mean two or more persons. 

4.1.12 There is no direct link between the requirements of standard 4 and the 
requirements of standards 2 and 3. Standards 2 and 3 deal with correspondence 
sent to an individual or individuals directly, whilst standard 4 deals with standard 
correspondence which is relevant to several persons. Therefore, an answer as to 
the wish to have correspondence in Welsh, done so in accordance with standards 2 
and 3, does not affect the body’s requirement to send correspondence sent to a 
number of persons, in Welsh, in accordance with standard 4. 

Standard 5 

4.1.13 Where a body is required to comply with standard 5, if they do not know whether a 
person wishes to receive correspondence in Welsh, they must provide a Welsh 
language version of the correspondence when corresponding with them. 

4.1.14 That means that a body must send a Welsh language version of correspondence to 
a person at all times, unless they know that the person does not wish to receive 
correspondence from them in Welsh.  Page 119



14/106106  

 

   

A body could know whether a person wishes to receive correspondence in Welsh or 
not based on information given to the body in accordance with standard 2 and/or 3 
or by other means. Other means may include information regarding language 
choice already gathered by the body (to the extent that this complies with data 
protection law), a person informing the body proactively that they wish to receive 
correspondence in Welsh, or from the body's past dealings with the person where 
they have expressed that wish. 

4.1.15 However, although the standard does not make provision for the body to ask 
whether the person wishes to receive correspondence in Welsh as with standards 2 
and 3, a body may decide to do so in order to facilitate compliance with the 
standard and ensure that correspondence is sent in Welsh to persons who wish so. 
If the person does not respond, a body should not assume that this means the 
person does not wish to receive correspondence in Welsh. Standard 5, unlike 
standards 2 and 3, does not place any duty to keep a record of the person's 
preferred language either. It is considered that there is more flexibility with regards 
to this within this standard for an organisation to know whether a person needs to 
receive correspondence in Welsh or not. 

Standard 6 

4.1.16 Where a body is required to comply with standard 6, and where they produce a 
Welsh language version and a corresponding English language version of 
correspondence, they must ensure that the Welsh language version of 
correspondence is not treated less favourably than the English language version. 

4.1.17 The following interpretation of the term ‘treating a Welsh language version no less 
favourably than an English language version’ is provided in Schedule 1, Part 3, 
Paragraph 29 of the regulations: 

Where a standard refers to material that is to be produced in 
Welsh (with the exception of standards 52 to 57 (websites and 
apps), 58 and 59 (social media) and 76 (invitations to tender)), 
references to treating the Welsh language no less favourably 
than the English language, or to treating a Welsh language 
version no less favourably than an English language version, 
include, amongst other matters (and in addition to specific 
matters referred to in any individual standard), treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably as regards—  

(a) the visual presentation of material (for example in relation to 
the colour or font of any text);  

(b) the size of the material;  

(c) the position and prominence of the material in any public 
place;  

(ch) when and how the material is published, provided or 
exhibited; 

(d) the publication format of material. 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 120



15/106106  

 

   

4.1.18 ‘Other matters’ may include treating the Welsh language no less favourably as 
regards: 

 the standard and quality of the material; 
 the clarity and accuracy of the material (for example in terms of the meaning 

and expression of any text); 
 the content of the material (for example in terms of the detail and quality of 

the information it contains). 
 

4.1.19 Furthermore, standard 6 itself refers to the following: 

if the English version [of correspondence] is signed, or if contact 
details are provided on the English version, then the Welsh 
version must be treated in the same way. 

 

Standard 7 

4.1.20 Where a body is required to comply with standard 7, they must state in 
correspondence, and in publications and official notices that invite persons to 
respond to them or to correspond with them, that they welcome receiving 
correspondence in Welsh, that they will respond to correspondence in Welsh, and 
that corresponding in Welsh will not lead to delay. The regulations do not expand on 
what the exact wording of the statement should be in order to comply with the 
standard. However, the standard states that the body must state: 

 that they welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh; 
 that they will respond to correspondence in Welsh; and, 
 that corresponding in Welsh will not lead to delay.  

4.1.21 Corresponding in Welsh with a body would not lead to delay if the body responds to 
Welsh language correspondence within the organisation's same time frame for 
English language correspondence (e.g. acknowledge the correspondence and 
provide an interim response and/or full response within a specific target date(s)). 

4.1.22 A body is not required to include a statement expressing the above, following the 
wording of the standard word for word. However, that statement should be clear 
and explicit enough for persons to be fully aware of the body's commitment and 
dedication to ensuring that the Welsh language is treated no less favourably than 
the English language with regards to correspondence. 

4.1.23 The Commissioner's Working Welsh logo can be used to show that the body 
welcomes receiving correspondence in Welsh and will respond to correspondence 
in Welsh, but that in itself would not necessarily convey that corresponding in Welsh 
will not lead to delay. 

4.1.24 The Working Welsh logo is available as a free download from the Commissioner's 
website and looks like this: 

 

Page 121



16/106106  

 

   

4.1.25 The following statement is an example of what could be used for the purposes of 
the standard: 

 

 

What is meant by the term 'correspondence'? 

4.1.26 The regulations do not interpret the term 'correspondence'. However, in relation to 
standards 1 to 7, the term includes any written communication or contact 
exchanged between two or more parties. Correspondence may include letters, 
emails, text messages, live chat facility, forms23 or circulars. 

4.1.27 The term includes written correspondence in electronic format as well as on paper 
e.g. via email, PDF or document generated by a word processor such as Microsoft 
Word. 

4.1.28 Standards 1 to 7 do not apply to correspondence sent via social media (see 
standards 58 and 59 for requirements in relation to social media). 

Do the standards apply to correspondence sent internally between a body's staff 
members only? 

4.1.29 No. These standards do not necessarily apply to correspondence sent internally 
between a body's staff members only. The above standards belong to a class of 
standards called 'service delivery standards'. 

4.1.30 The Measure states that a 'service delivery activity' means: 

(a)  a person delivering services to another person, or  
(b) a person dealing with any other person in connection with 
delivering services—  

(i) to that other person, or  
(ii) to a third person.”24 

 

4.1.31 That means that these standards only apply if the relevant person (the body) 
delivers a service to another person. Accepting that all of a body's staff members 
act in the name of the body when undertaking their functions, these standards 
would not apply to correspondence between a body's staff member and another 
member of staff or other members of staff from the same body, when acting in an 
official capacity, as the body would not be corresponding with another person in that 
situation. Reference should be made to the operational standards for the specific 
types of internal correspondence covered by the standards. 

4.1.32 However, the standards may apply if that correspondence is also sent to another 
person outside the body.  

 

                                            
23

 Reference should be made to standards 50-51 when a body produces and publishes forms. 
24

  Section 28 of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg a 
byddwn yn ymateb yn Gymraeg,  
heb i hynny arwain at oedi. 

Correspondence in Welsh is welcomed 
and we will respond in Welsh, without 
it leading to a delay. 

 

Page 122

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/1/section/28/enacted/english


17/106106  

 

   

What is meant by 'corresponding for the first time'? 

4.1.33 The term 'corresponding for the first time' means the first time a body corresponds 
with an individual from the imposition day onwards. 

4.1.34 Confirmation of the above is found in Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 27 of the 
regulations, which states:  

For the purposes of standards 2, 3 [...] a body corresponds with 
an individual [...] for the first time when it corresponds [...] for 
the first time after the date on which a compliance notice has 
required the body to comply with the standard. 

 

What if a body is aware of an individual or individuals' wish to receive 
correspondence in Welsh before the imposition day? 

4.1.35 Establishing an individual's (or individuals') wish to receive correspondence in 
Welsh by using information gathered before the imposition day only would not 
comply with the requirements of standards 2 and 3. However, such information may 
be used to comply with the requirements of standard 5. 

4.1.36 Standards 2 and 3 require a body to ask an individual or individuals whether they 
wish to receive correspondence from them in Welsh from the imposition day 
onwards. In situations where a body has historical information on individuals' 
preferred language, a body must find out or confirm whether they wish to receive 
correspondence in Welsh from the imposition day onwards in order to ensure 
compliance.  

How should a body keep a record of individuals' wishes in relation to whether or not 
they wish to receive correspondence from a body in Welsh, in accordance with 
standards 2 and 3? 

4.1.37 The regulations do not outline how a body should keep a record of the above. 
However, the body is expected to have sufficient arrangements in place to allow 
them to know if this is the first time they are corresponding with the individual (or 
individuals) and, if not, whether that individual (or those individuals) wishes to 
receive correspondence in Welsh or not. The body is expected to be able to use 
that information to meet the standard. For example, by asking them about their wish 
(if this is the first time they are corresponding with the individual or individuals) or by 
corresponding in accordance with that wish (if there has been prior contact and that 
their wishes have already been established). 

4.1.38 That record is expected to be available to all of the body's staff members (or a third 
party acting on behalf of the body) who are corresponding with individuals so that 
they can use it to ensure compliance. 

4.1.39 A body can keep a record of an individual's wishes in the following ways: 

 a customer contact management system which is implemented, and 
available, across the body; 

 another kind of database which is implemented, and available, across the 
body; 

 departmental databases which ensure that information regarding language 
choice is updated and available on every database across the body, by 
exchanging relevant information. 

 Page 123



18/106106  

 

   

4.1.40 Subject to data protection law, any information received by an individual (or 
individuals) regarding their wish to receive correspondence in Welsh may be shared 
and recorded on an organisational level, so that the body can send all 
correspondence to the individual (or individuals) in Welsh from then onwards at all 
times. 

4.1.41 For example, if an individual confirms with a specific department within the body 
that they wish to receive correspondence in Welsh from then onwards, the body can 
ensure, as long as they comply with data protection law, that all of their other 
departments are aware of the individual's preferred language, so that those 
departments send correspondence to the individual in Welsh from then on.  

Does data protection law allow bodies to collect, store and use personal data on 
individuals' wish to receive correspondence in Welsh? 

4.1.42 Yes. Data protection law does not prevent a body from complying with the 
requirements of standards 2 and/or 3. 

4.1.43 Information on an individual's wish to receive correspondence from a body in Welsh 
is considered to be 'personal data'. In terms of data protection, collecting, storing 
and using data on an individual’s wish would be considered 'processing' data. 
Therefore, all bodies must comply with the requirements of the Data Protection Act 
1998, or the requirements of the General Data Protection Regulation which comes 
into force on 25 May 2018, whenever they process that data. 

Is it possible to share data on an individual’s wish to receive correspondence in 
Welsh internally between different departments? 

4.1.44 Yes. As long as data about an individual’s wish has been collected appropriately, 
then it is possible to use the data to ensure that the individual receives 
correspondence in Welsh in accordance with their wishes. 

4.1.45 This data would have been collected appropriately as long as the body had made it 
clear to the individual, when asking about their wish, that the data would be shared 
with different departments. 

What if an individual's wish to receive correspondence in Welsh varies in different 
situations? 
4.1.46 It is possible that an individual's wish to receive correspondence in Welsh will vary 

in different situations. An individual's preferred language may depend on which 
service or department within the body is sending the correspondence or the 
correspondence's subject matter. 

4.1.47 For example, an individual may wish to receive general responses from a local 
authority in Welsh but not receive correspondence in relation to a planning 
application in Welsh. An individual may wish to receive emails in Welsh but not 
standard letters. It is possible that an individual's wish to receive correspondence in 
Welsh may not be consistent in every situation. 

4.1.48 The requirement in accordance with standards 2 and 3 is for a body to ask an 
individual whether they wish to receive correspondence in Welsh. However, the 
standards do not prevent a body from asking a question regarding in which context 
they would wish to receive correspondence in Welsh. A body would comply with the 
requirements of the standards if they corresponded with an individual (or 
individuals) in Welsh in some contexts only, should that wish have been identified. 

 Page 124



19/106106  

 

   

Does a body have to ensure that Welsh language versions of postal addresses are 
used when sending Welsh language versions of correspondence? 
4.1.49 A body is expected to include Welsh language versions of postal addresses when 

sending Welsh language versions of correspondence (if there is a Welsh language 
version which is different to an English language version e.g. Caerdydd/Cardiff). 

4.1.50  The Commissioner is responsible for providing advice on standard place names in 
Wales. The Commissioner can advise bodies on the standard form of place names 
(namely villages, towns and cities) in Wales. A body can use this consultation 
service to ensure that they use the standard Welsh place names when including 
those names on Welsh language versions of correspondence.25   

4.2 Telephone calls made and received by a body [standards 8-
22] 

What are the requirements? 

4.2.1 These standards deal with:  

 telephone calls made to a body’s main contact number and to any helplines 
or call centres (8-17); 

 telephone calls made to departments and to members of a body’s staff (18-
20); 

 telephone calls made by a body (21); and, 
 a body dealing with telephone calls using an automated system (22).  

Standard 8 

4.2.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 8, they must greet the person in 
Welsh when that person contacts the body on the relevant telephone numbers.26 

4.2.3 The regulations do not interpret the term 'greet' in this context. However, the term 
may include phrases which acknowledge and/or welcome the caller before the body 
starts to converse with them. For example, a body may decide to greet a person by 
saying 'Bore Da/Prynhawn Da/Noswaith Dda', followed by the body's name in 
Welsh (if such a name exists). 

4.2.4 Bodies may greet persons in Welsh via a pre-recorded automated message as well 
as ensuring that the member of staff greets that person in Welsh when answering 
the call. 

4.2.5 The requirements of this standard apply to any greeting given by a body during a 
call to relevant telephone numbers, and not only the first greeting given by a body 
over the telephone during the call in question. That includes greetings given when 
transferring the call from one person to the next or from a machine to a person. 

4.2.6 It should be noted that the requirements of standard 8 only apply to greetings given 
on relevant telephone numbers, and a body should refer to the requirements of 
standard 20 in relation to any greeting given on a direct line telephone number 
belonging to a body's department or member of staff.  

 

 

                                            
25

 Further details are available on the Welsh Language Commissioner's website. 
26

 A main telephone number (or numbers), or on any helpline numbers or call centre numbers. 
Page 125

http://www.comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru/English/infrastructure/Pages/Place-names.aspx


20/106106  

 

   

Standard 9 

4.2.7 Where a body is required to comply with standard 9, they must inform the caller that 
a Welsh language telephone service is available from the body. The regulations do 
not stipulate how a body should do so. Neither do the regulations note that this 
must be done in Welsh. 

4.2.8 However, a body is expected to make it clear to the person concerned that a Welsh 
language service is available, if that is not already clear to that person. The way in 
which a body complies with the requirements of this standard would depend on the 
nature of the body and how they serve persons over the telephone. 

4.2.9 The Commissioner expects a body to be proactive when offering Welsh language 
services to persons. Examples of this could include: 

 allowing persons to choose a Welsh language telephone service by pressing 
a specific button on the keypad; or 

 ensuring that members of staff make an active offer and refer the person to 
the Welsh language service. 
 

4.2.10 Depending on the nature of the body and the use of the Welsh language by the 
organisation, a body may comply with standard 9 by starting a conversation in 
Welsh in order to highlight that a Welsh language service is available over the 
phone, without having to specifically state that to that person. 

Standard 10 

4.2.11 Where a body is required to comply with standard 10, when being contacted on any 
relevant telephone numbers27, they must deal with that call in Welsh in its entirety if 
that is the caller's wish. If the call must be transferred to another member of staff, 
that member of staff must deal with the call in Welsh.  

4.2.12 The body must deal with the call in Welsh in its entirety once they are aware that 
the person wishes to receive a Welsh language service over the telephone.28 The 
Commissioner expects a body to establish a person's wish to receive a Welsh 
language service over the telephone at the earliest possible opportunity. 

Standard 11 

4.2.13 Like standard 10, standard 11 requires a body to deal with calls in Welsh once they 
know that the person wishes to receive a Welsh language service over the 
telephone, transferring the call to a member of staff who can deal with the specific 
subject matter in Welsh where necessary.29 The Commissioner expects a body to 
establish a person's wish to receive a Welsh language service over the telephone at 
the earliest possible opportunity. 

4.2.14 Unlike standard 10, if there is no member of staff available who can deal with the 
call in Welsh on the specific subject matter in question, the call may be transferred 
to a member of staff who cannot deal with the call in Welsh, but who can provide a 
service on the specific subject matter. 

 

                                            
27

 A main telephone number (or numbers), or on any helpline numbers or call centre numbers. 
28

 However, it should be noted that a body must greet persons in Welsh over the telephone in accordance 
with standard 8 before establishing whether the person wishes to have the call dealt with in Welsh.  
29

 However, it should be noted that a body must greet persons in Welsh over the telephone in accordance 
with standard 8 before establishing whether the person wishes to have the call dealt with in Welsh. 

Page 126



21/106106  

 

   

4.2.15 The phrase ‘specific subject matter’ does not include a general enquiry. A body is 
expected to provide a Welsh language service when dealing with general enquiries, 
up to a point where a body needs to transfer a call to a non-Welsh speaking 
member of staff who can deal with a subject which needs a level of expertise or 
specific knowledge in order to deal with the enquiry. Such an example could include 
a specific planning application or a specific social services case.  

Standard 12 

4.2.16 Where a body is required to comply with standard 12, they must not treat the Welsh 
language less favourably than the English language when advertising their 
telephone numbers, helpline numbers or call centre services.  For example, a body 
can ensure, amongst other things, that any advertisement advertising those 
numbers is conducted in Welsh. Other matters may include how and when the body 
advertises them. 

Standard 13 

4.2.17 Where a body is required to comply with standard 13, if the body provides a Welsh 
language telephone service, they must ensure that the telephone number for that 
Welsh language service is the same as for the equivalent English language service. 
Providing a separate telephone number for the Welsh language service is not 
permitted. 

Standard 14  

4.2.18 Where a body is required to comply with standard 14, they must state in Welsh that 
they welcome calls in Welsh when publishing their relevant telephone numbers.  

4.2.19 The text must appear on any material which publishes the telephone numbers in 
question. Such material could include: 

 websites; 
 publications; 
 forms; 
 displayed material; 
 publicity material; 
 advertising material; and 
 signs.  

4.2.20 The regulations do not stipulate what wording should be used to highlight that the 
body welcomes calls in Welsh. A body does not have to include a statement which 
follows the wording of the standard word for word. However, that statement should 
be clear and explicit enough for persons to be fully aware of the body's commitment 
and dedication to welcoming calls in Welsh. 

4.2.21 The Commissioner's Working Welsh logo may be displayed as part of a statement 
to show that the body welcomes calls in Welsh. 

4.2.22 The Working Welsh logo is available as a free download from the Commissioner's 
website and looks like this: 

 
Page 127



22/106106  

 

   

 

4.2.23 The following statement is an example of what could be used for the purposes of 
the standard: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Standard 15 

4.2.24 Where a body is required to comply with standard 15, they must ensure that 
performance indicators for dealing with telephone calls do not set measures which 
would treat telephone calls made in Welsh less favourable than calls made in 
English. 

4.2.25 A body can ensure that they do not do this by setting measures for telephone calls 
in Welsh which expect the Welsh language service to reach the same standard as 
the English language service. 

4.2.26 Performance indicators can involve the following: 

 Initial call solution – % of calls solved without having to transfer the call.  
 Percentage of engaged calls – % of callers who have dialled and heard the 

engaged tone. 
 Average time in a queue – Average time that a caller must wait in a queue 

before being answered. 
 Service level – % of calls answered within a specific time period. 
 Abandoned calls – % of callers abandoning the call before someone 

answers.   
 Length of call – Average time that a caller is on the telephone, including the 

time spent on hold. 
 

4.2.27 For example, a body should not set performance measures which would allow a 
person to have to wait longer on the telephone for a Welsh language service than a 
person having to wait to receive a service in English. 

Standard 16 

4.2.28 Where a body is required to comply with standard 16, the main telephone call 
answering service(s) must inform callers that they can leave a message in Welsh. 
The body must do so in Welsh. 

4.2.29 This standard relates to telephone call answering machines specifically. 

4.2.30 The regulations do not stipulate how a body should highlight that messages can be 
left in Welsh. However, any statement should be clear and explicit enough for 
persons to be fully aware that they can leave a message in Welsh on the body's 
main telephone call answering service(s). For example, it could be noted “Mae 
croeso i chi adael neges yn Gymraeg ar ôl y tôn.”30  

 

                                            
30

 Welsh for “You are welcome to leave a message in Welsh after the tone.” 

Croesewir galwadau yn Gymraeg. 

Calls in Welsh are welcomed. 

 

Page 128



23/106106  

 

   

Standard 17 

4.2.31 Where a body is required to comply with standard 17, they must inform the caller 
when a Welsh language service will be available if no Welsh language service is 
available on the relevant telephone number or line. 

4.2.32 The relevance of this standard can vary from one case to the next, depending on 
the availability of a Welsh language telephone service (in accordance with 
standards 10 or 11) and the nature of the telephone services offered by the body. 

4.2.33 For example, if a body offers a telephone service (in any language) during core 
hours only, they can ensure that an automated message outside those hours note 
when the Welsh language service is available. 

4.2.34 It should be noted that the requirements of this standard can also be linked to the 
requirements of standard 11 (which places a duty on a body to provide a telephone 
service in Welsh). Standard 17 may be relevant, for example, in a situation when a 
Welsh speaking member of staff is not available to provide a service on a specific 
subject matter and that it must be explained to the caller when that member of staff 
(if relevant) will next be available.  

Standard 18 

4.2.35 The requirements of standard 18 correspond to the requirements of standard 10, 
but relates to the direct line telephone numbers of departments and members of 
staff, rather than main telephone numbers, helpline numbers and call centre 
numbers. 

Standard 19 

4.2.36 The requirements of standard 19 correspond to the requirements of standard 11, 
but relates to the direct line telephone numbers of departments and members of 
staff, rather than main telephone numbers, helpline numbers and call centre 
numbers. 

Standard 20 

4.2.37 Where a body is required to comply with standard 20, they must ensure that the 
Welsh language is not treated less favourably than the English language when 
greeting a caller to their direct line number (be that the direct line number of a 
department or member of staff). 

4.2.38 What is meant by 'ensure that the Welsh language is not treated less favourably 
than the English language' is not interpreted in the regulations in this regard. 
However, it is considered to mean that a body, in the first instance, greets persons 
in Welsh over the telephone. It can also mean that the Welsh language greeting is 
not made in a way which is less favourable than the English language greeting. For 
example, in terms of when and how the greeting is made as well as the standard 
and quality of the greeting. 

4.2.39 Where a body is required to comply with standards 8 and 20, that means that all 
staff members within a body must greet persons in Welsh on any of the body's 
telephone numbers and on every occasion. 

 

 

 Page 129



24/106106  

 

   

Standard 21 

4.2.40 Standard 21 places a duty on a body, when telephoning an individual for the first 
time, to ask whether he or she wishes to receive telephone calls from them in 
Welsh, and to conduct telephone calls with that individual in Welsh from then 
onwards, if that is his or her wish. 

4.2.41 'Telephoning an individual for the first time' means the first time the body 
telephones the individual from the imposition day onwards. 

4.2.42 Confirmation of the above is found in Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 27 of the 
regulations, which states: 

For the purposes of standards [...] 21, a body [...] makes a 
telephone call to an individual for the first time when it [...] 
makes a telephone call for the first time after the date on which 
a compliance notice has required the body to comply with the 
standard. 

 

4.2.43 That means that the individual's wish to receive telephone calls from the body in 
Welsh must be established after the imposition day.  

  What if a body is aware of an individual's wishes before the imposition day?       ? 

4.2.44 Establishing an individual’s (or individuals') wishes by using information gathered 
before the imposition day would not comply with the requirements of this standard. 

4.2.45 Standard 21 requires a body to ask an individual whether he or she wishes to 
receive telephone calls from them in Welsh, from the imposition day onwards. In 
situations where a body has historical information on individuals' wishes, a body 
must find out whether they wish to receive telephone calls in Welsh again. 

Does the first call made to an individual have to be conducted in Welsh in 
accordance with the requirements of standard 21? 

4.2.46 No. A body does not have to conduct the first call made to an individual in Welsh. 
What is required is to conduct telephone calls in Welsh with the individual in all 
instances after the individual has noted that they wish to receive telephone calls 
from the body in Welsh.  

How should a body keep a record of an individual's wishes to receive telephone 
calls from the body in Welsh or not, in accordance with standard 21? 

4.2.47 The regulations do not outline how a body should undertake to keep a record of the 
above. However, the body is expected to have sufficient arrangements in place to 
allow them to know whether this is the first time they are telephoning the individual 
and, if not, whether that individual wishes to receive telephone calls in Welsh or not. 

4.2.48 The body is expected to be able to use that information to meet the standard. For 
example, by asking them about their wishes (if this is the first time they are 
telephoning the individual) or by conducting the telephone call in accordance with 
that wish (if prior contact has been made and their wishes have already been 
established). 

4.2.49 That record is expected to be available to all of the body's staff members (or a third 
party acting on behalf of the body) who are telephoning individuals so that they can 
use it to ensure compliance. 

Page 130



25/106106  

 

   

4.2.50 A body can keep a record of an individual's wishes in the following ways: 

 a customer contact management system which is implemented, and 
available, across the body; 

 another kind of database which is implemented, and available, across the 
body; 

 departmental databases which ensure that information regarding language 
choice is updated and available on every database across the body, by 
exchanging relevant information. 

4.2.51 Subject to data protection law, any information received by an individual regarding 
their wish to receive telephone calls in Welsh may be shared and recorded on an 
organisational level, so that the body can conduct all calls in Welsh from then 
onwards at all times. 

4.2.52 For example, if an individual confirms with a specific department within the body 
that they wish to receive telephone calls in Welsh from then onwards, the body can 
ensure, as long as they comply with data protection law, that all of their other 
departments are aware of the individual's preferred language, so that those 
departments can contact the individual over the telephone in Welsh from them 
onwards.  

Standard 22 

4.2.53 Standard 22 requires a body to ensure that any automated telephone system that 
they have, provides the complete automated service in Welsh. 

4.2.54 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 28 of the regulations states: 

In standard 22, an “automated” telephone system means a 
system that answers telephone calls and guides persons 
through a set procedure with a recorded message which, for 
example, asks a person to press different numbers in order to 
choose different options. 

4.2.55 It should be noted that standard 16 relates to directions on answer machines. 

4.3 A body holding meetings that are not open to the general 
public [standards 23-29B] 

What are the requirements? 

4.3.1 These standards relates to meetings held by a body which are not open to the 
general public, namely: 

 meetings between a body and one other invited person (23-26B) 
 meetings between a body and more than one invited person (27-29B). 

 
Standards 23-24B and 27-27D 

4.3.2 These standards require a body to actively ask a person(s) whether they wish to 
use Welsh in the meeting, and if so, they must inform the person(s) that they will 
make the relevant provision in accordance with that. A body is expected to allow 
sufficient time after asking about persons' wishes to make the necessary 
arrangements for the meeting itself.  

4.3.3 Should the person(s) wish to use the Welsh language at the meeting, they must 
either: 

Page 131



26/106106  

 

   

 conduct the meeting in Welsh without the assistance of a translation 
service (standards 23 and 27CH), or 

 allow a person(s) to use the Welsh language by providing a translation 
service at the meeting, if it’s not possible to conduct the meeting in Welsh 
without a translation service (standards 24A, 24B, 27A, 27B, 27C, 27D). 

 

Standards 25-26B and 28-29B 

4.3.4 Standards 25-26B and 28-29B requires a body to conduct a meeting in Welsh (or 
provide a translation service) if it relates to the 'well-being' of one or more 
individuals. 

4.3.5 With standards 25-26B and 28-29B, there is an additional requirement for a body to 
provide a translation service from English to Welsh as well as a translation service 
from Welsh to English in a meeting, if necessary. 

What types of meetings are relevant to these standards? 

4.3.6 These standards relate to meetings: 

 that are not open to the general public, and  
 that are conducted by the body. 

4.3.7 If the meeting is open to the general public and/or if the body is not responsible for 
conducting the meeting, then the above standards will not apply. These standards 
relate to meetings with an 'invited' person(s) only.  

4.3.8 That means that these standards apply to the extent that the meeting is a closed 
one where the body has invited a specific person(s). Reference should be made to 
standards 30-34 in the regulations for provision for meetings open to the general 
public. 

4.3.9 These standards are not limited to meetings held on the body's premises only. For 
example, if a body has invited a person to a meeting and that the meeting is being 
held in that person's home, the standard would still apply. 

Do these standards apply to internal meetings between a body's staff members? 

4.3.10 No. These standards do not apply to internal meetings between a body's staff 
members only. The above standards belong to a class of standards called 'service 
delivery standards'. 

4.3.11 The Measure states that a 'service delivery activity' means: 

(a)  delivering services to another person, or 
(b) dealing with any other person in connection with delivering 

services— 
(i) to that other person, or  
(ii) to a third person.31 

4.3.12 That means that these standards only apply if the relevant person (the body) 
delivers a service to another person. 

4.3.13 Accepting that all of a body's staff members act in the name of the body when 
undertaking their functions, these standards would not apply to meetings between a 
body's staff member and another member of staff or other members of staff from 

                                            
31

  Section 28 of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 
Page 132

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/1/section/28/enacted/english


27/106106  

 

   

the same body, when acting in an official capacity, as the body would not be holding 
meetings with another person in that situation. Reference should be made to the 
operational standards in the regulations for the specific types of meetings covered 
by the standards. 

4.3.14 However, attention should be paid to the interpretation of the term 'person' found in 
clauses 3.1.6 – 3.1.8 of this code as that means that these standards may apply if 
the meetings include staff from another body.  

What is meant by meetings which 'relate to the well-being of an individual?' 

4.3.15 There is no interpretation of the term 'well-being of an individual' in the regulations 
nor the Measure. 

4.3.16 A legal interpretation of 'well-being' is provided in the Social Services Act 2014.32  

4.3.17 Section 2 of that Act interprets the term 'well-being' in relation to a list of outcomes 
for individuals. The interpretation states: 

(2)“Well-being”, in relation to a person, means well-being in 
relation to any of the following— 
  (a) physical and mental health and emotional well-being; 
  (b) protection from abuse and neglect; 
  (c) education, training and recreation; 
  (d) domestic, family and personal relationships; 
  (e) contribution made to society; 
  (f) securing rights and entitlements; 
  (g) social and economic well-being; 
  (h) suitability of living accommodation. 
 
 (3) In relation to a child, “well-being” also includes— 
  (a) physical, intellectual, emotional, social and 
behavioural development; 
  (b) “welfare” as that word is interpreted for the purposes 
of the Children Act 1989. 
 
 (4) In relation to an adult, “well-being” also includes— 
  (a) control over day to day life; 
  (b) participation in work. 

4.3.18 As a result, a meeting which relates to the well-being of an individual (or individuals) 
includes a meeting which covers one or more of the above areas. In general, for a 
meeting to be considered one which 'relates to well-being', the subject matter of 
the meeting, namely what is discussed at the meeting, must be relate to the well-
being of an individual (or individuals) concerned invited to the meeting.33 
 

4.3.19 An example of such may include an individual invited to a meeting with a body to 
assess the extent to which the individual needs care to be provided in the home.  

 

 

                                            
32

 Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 
33

  Section 28 of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 
Page 133

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/pdfs/anaw_20140004_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/1/section/28/enacted/english


28/106106  

 

   

4.4 Meetings arranged by a body that are open to the public 
[standards 30-34] 

What are the requirements? 

4.4.1 These standards relates to meetings arranged by a body that are open to the 
general public. 

Standard 30 

4.4.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 30, they must state on any 
material advertising the meeting concerned, and on any invitation to it, that anyone 
attending is welcome to use the Welsh language at the meeting. This may include 
public notices. 

4.4.3 The requirement applies to all meetings arranged by a body which are open to the 
public. A body is expected to actively inform persons that they are welcome to use 
the Welsh language in meetings in order to give them the confidence to use the 
language.  

Standard 31 

4.4.4 Where a body is required to comply with standard 31, they must ensure that any 
invitations to such a meeting are sent in Welsh.  

4.4.5 The term 'invitation(s)' in the context of this standard is considered to mean any 
invitation which is sent and invites the public to the meeting or a person(s) to speak 
at the meeting. That can include oral, face-to-face and written invitations (be they 
on paper, electronic or in any other format).  

Standard 32 

4.4.6 Where a body is required to comply with standard 32, and persons have been 
invited to speak at a meeting, the body must ask those persons whether they wish 
to use the Welsh language at the meeting. If one or more persons inform the body 
that they wish to do so, the body must provide a simultaneous translation service 
from Welsh to English at the meeting. In situations where the meeting is held in 
Welsh without a translation service, such as a meeting where the body knows that 
all attendees understand Welsh, the body is not required to provide a simultaneous 
translation service. 

4.4.7 This standard relates to persons invited to play a direct role in a meeting, and not 
those given a general invitation only. Those kinds of persons may include: 

 guest speakers; 
 representatives from external organisations; or 
 persons giving a presentation to the audience during the meeting. 

Standard 33 

4.4.8 Where a body is required to comply with standard 33, they must provide a 
simultaneous translation service from Welsh to English for all meetings which are 
open to the public. The standard also sets requirements relating to informing those 
present at the meeting orally, in Welsh, that they are welcome to use the Welsh 
language, and that a simultaneous translation service is available.  

4.4.9 The body is expected to do this at the beginning of the meeting, so that those in 
attendance are aware of the provision available as soon as possible. The body may 
also do this during the meeting, in order to remind those present that they are able Page 134



29/106106  

 

   

to contribute in Welsh at the meeting. Normally, the chair of the meeting or those 
leading or facilitating the meeting would do this.  

Standard 34 

4.4.10 Where a body is required to comply with standard 34, any written material displayed 
by them must be displayed in Welsh, and Welsh language text must not be treated 
less favourably than the English language. Material such as presentation slides, 
notice boards, banners and posters displayed at the meeting may apply to this 
standard. 'Display' in this context may include material displayed in any format 
including on paper, on a wall, on screen or on other electronic equipment. 

What is meant by a 'meeting that is open to the public'? 

4.4.11 These standards apply to meetings that are open to the general public, be that by 
invitation or not. These standards do not apply to meetings which are closed to 
certain invitees. Reference should be made to standards 23-29B for closed 
meetings where persons have been invited to. 

4.4.12 These meetings may be ones where the body does not necessarily know who will 
be in attendance. An example of such a meeting could include a public meeting on 
a proposed housing development or the opening of a new school. 

What is meant by the term "must not treat any Welsh language text less favourably 
than the English language text" in the context of standard 34? 

4.4.13 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 29 of the regulations states: 

Where a standard refers to material that is to be produced in 
Welsh (with the exception of standards 52 to 57 (websites and 
apps), 58 and 59 (social media) and 76 (invitations to tender)), 
references to treating the Welsh language no less favourably 
than the English language, or to treating a Welsh language 
version no less favourably than an English language version, 
include, amongst other matters (and in addition to specific 
matters referred to in any individual standard), treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably as regards— 
(a) the visual presentation of material (for example in relation to 
the colour or font of any text);  
(b) the size of the material; 
(c) the position and prominence of the material in any public 
place;  
(ch) when and how the material is published, provided or 
exhibited;  
(d) the publication format of material. 

4.4.14 ‘Other matters’ may include treating the Welsh language no less favourably as 
regards: 

 the standard and quality of the material; 
 the clarity and accuracy of the material (for example in terms of the meaning 

and expression of any text);  
 the content of the material (for example in terms of the detail or quality of the 

information it contains). 

 

Page 135



30/106106  

 

   

4.5 Public events organised or funded by a body [standards 
35-36] 

What are the requirements? 

4.5.1 The above standards require a body, if organising a public event and/or funding at 
least 50% of a public event, to ensure that the Welsh language is treated no less 
favourably than the English language in different contexts. 

Standard 35 

4.5.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 35, they must ensure that the 
Welsh language is not treated less favourably than the English language when 
promoting that public event.  

Standard 36 

4.5.3 Where a body is required to comply with standard 36, they must ensure that the 
Welsh language is not treated less favourably than the English language at the 
event itself. This can relate to services offered to those attending the event, signs 
displayed at the event or audio announcements during it.  

What is meant by the term 'public event'? 

4.5.4 The regulations do not interpret the term 'public event'. However, the standards 
apply to any event that is open to the public arranged by a body and/or funded by 
them at least 50%. 

4.5.5 Examples of public events may include: 

 ticketed events as well as those open to the public to attend without a ticket; 
 public events open to a proportion of the public only e.g. an event organised 

for voluntary organisations and charities; 
 an open day; 
 a cultural event open to the public; or 
 a careers fair open to the public. 

4.5.6 It should be noted that there are other standards relating to 'meetings that are open 
to the public' (standards 30-34; see section 4.4 of this code of practice) and those 
which relates to an 'education course' (standards 84-86; see section 4.20 of this 
code of practice). 

4.5.7 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 44 of the regulations states: 

For the purposes of standards 84, 85 and 86 (courses), an 
“education course” means any seminar, training, workshop or 
similar provision which is provided in order to educate or to 
improve the skills of members of the public; but does not 
include activities or courses provided as part of the curriculum 
in accordance with any enactment. 

What if another relevant activity is being delivered during a public event? Which 
standards apply? 

4.5.8 There may be a situation where a body is undertaking a specific activity as part of 
the public event and that specific standards have been determined for that activity. 

Page 136



31/106106  

 

   

4.5.9 For example, a body may deliver education courses for the public as part of the 
public event. In such cases, the body would have to comply with the standards 
relating to education courses delivered at the meeting.    

What is meant by the term 'promoting the event'? 

4.5.10 The regulations do not interpret the term 'promoting the event' but the wording of 
standard 35 refers to 'advertise' and 'publicise' as such examples. However, 
promoting a public event is not limited to those examples. 

4.5.11 It is considered that any activity promoting and/or raising awareness of the public 
event would be covered by the term. 

What can be done to ensure that the Welsh language is treated no less favourably 
than the English language when promoting the event? 

4.5.12 Standard 35 provides specific examples of contexts where the Welsh language 
should be treated no less favourably than the English language when promoting the 
event: 

[...] for example, in the way the event is advertised or 
publicised.  

4.5.13 Furthermore, Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 29 of the regulations states: 

 “Where a standard refers to material that is to be produced in 
Welsh (with the exception of standards 52 to 57 (websites and 
apps), 58 and 59 (social media) and 76 (invitations to tender)), 
references to treating the Welsh language no less favourably 
than the English language, or to treating a Welsh language 
version no less favourably than an English language version, 
include, amongst other matters (and in addition to specific 
matters referred to in any individual standard), treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably as regards— 
 (a) the visual presentation of material (for example in relation to 
the colour or font of any text);  
 (b) the size of the material; 
(c) the position and prominence of the material in any public 
place;  
(ch) when and how the material is published, provided or 
exhibited;  
(d) the publication format of material." 

4.5.14 However, the requirements of standard 35 go further than ensuring that the Welsh 
language is treated no less favourably than the English language in relation to 
material to be produced for promoting the event, and a body should consider every 
aspect of their promotion activities when complying with this standard. 

4.5.15 For example, if a body undertakes a marketing campaign to promote a specific 
public event, the body is expected to ensure that the Welsh language is treated no 
less favourably than the English language in all aspects of the campaign. 

What can be done to ensure that the Welsh language is treated no less favourably 
than the English language at the event?  

4.5.16 Standard 36 provides specific examples of contexts where the Welsh language 
should be treated no less favourably than the English language at the event: 

Page 137



32/106106  

 

   

[...] for example, in relation to services offered to persons 
attending the event, in relation to signs displayed at the event 
and in relation to  audio announcements made at the event. 

4.5.17 In relation to these specific examples, a body may ensure that the Welsh language 
is treated no less favourably than the English language when displaying signs and 
making audio announcements at the event by complying with the requirements of 
the standards below: 

 Standards relating to signs displayed by a body (61-63); and 
 Standard relating to public address systems used by a body (Standard 

87). 
 

4.5.18 Furthermore, Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 29 of the regulations states: 

 “Where a standard refers to material that is to be produced in 
Welsh (with the exception of standards 52 to 57 (websites and 
apps), 58 and 59 (social media) and 76 (invitations to tender)), 
references to treating the Welsh language no less favourably 
than the English language, or to treating a Welsh language 
version no less favourably than an English language version, 
include, amongst other matters (and in addition to specific 
matters referred to in any individual standard), treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably as regards— 
(a) the visual presentation of material (for example in relation to 
the colour or font of any text);  
 (b) the size of the material; 
 (c) the position and prominence of the material in any public 
place;  
 (ch) when and how the material is published, provided or 
exhibited;  
 (d) the publication format of material." 

4.5.19 However, the requirements of standard 36 go further than ensuring that the Welsh 
language is treated no less favourably than the English language in relation to 
material to be produced for an event, and a body should consider every aspect of 
their involvement in an event when complying with this standard.  

4.5.20 All Welsh language services offered at the event are expected to not treat the 
Welsh language less favourably than the equivalent English language services. In 
general, a body should consider all the services and activities provided by them at 
an event, and ensure that the Welsh language is treated no less favourably than the 
English language in all aspects of that event. 

4.5.21 This may include a body ensuring access to a face-to-face Welsh language service 
by a member of staff at the event, providing written material in Welsh during the 
event as well as ensuring that those services and materials are just as accessible 
as the equivalent in English. 

Can a body use translation services in order to ensure that the Welsh language is 
treated no less favourably than the English language at the event? 

4.5.22 Yes, in certain circumstances. However, the body is expected to ensure that Welsh 
language services can be offered directly in the first instance. 

Page 138



33/106106  

 

   

4.5.23 When it is not possible to offer services in Welsh directly (for example because 
there are no Welsh speaking staff available), it is considered that translation 
services can be used to that end in some contexts. The extent to which a body can 
use translation services will also depend on the nature and structure of the event 
and services offered at that event. For example, translation services could be used 
in situations where those in attendance will be called upon to participate or in terms 
of offering a Q&A session. However, it is possible that it might not be appropriate to 
provide translation services in some situations e.g. for practical or health and safety 
reasons. In such situations, it would be expected that those services are provided 
directly in Welsh.   

4.6 A body's publicity and advertising [standard 37] 

What are the requirements? 

4.6.1 Standard 37 requires a body to produce any publicity or advertising material in 
Welsh. The standard also requires a body to treat any Welsh language version no 
less favourably than an English language version when producing that material. 

What is meant by the term 'must not treat the Welsh language version less 
favourably than you treat the English language version' in the context of this 
standard? 

4.6.2 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 29 of the regulations states: 

Where a standard refers to material that is to be produced in 
Welsh [...] references to treating the Welsh language no less 
favourably than the English language, or to treating a Welsh 
language version no less favourably than an English language 
version, include, amongst other matters (and in addition to 
specific matters referred to in any individual standard), treating 
the Welsh language no less favourably as regards— 
(a) the visual presentation of material (for example in relation to 
the colour or font of any text);  
 (b) the size of the material; 
 (c) the position and prominence of the material in any public 
place;  
 (ch) when and how the material is published, provided or 
exhibited;  
 (d) the publication format of material." 

4.6.3 ‘Other matters’ may include treating the Welsh language no less favourably as 
regards: 

 the standard and quality of the material; 
 the clarity and accuracy of the material (for example in terms of the meaning 

and expression of any text);  
 the content of the material (for example in terms of the detail or quality of the 

information it contains). 

What is meant by material that you ‘produce'? 

4.6.4 Standard 37 applies to material produced by a body. This term is neither interpreted 
nor explained in the regulations. However, it is considered that the term 'produce' 
has the same meaning as if the document was created, generated or published by 
a body.  

Page 139



34/106106  

 

   

This standard applies to materials produced from the imposition day onwards and 
also to materials produced before the imposition day, to the extent that those 
materials continue to be 'live' or 'current'. 

What is meant by the terms 'publicity material' and 'advertising material'? 

4.6.5 For the purpose of this standard, 'publicity material' and 'advertising material' may 
include: 

 pamphlets, brochures, leaflets, posters, films, slogans, videos and audio 
clips which promote, publicise or explain an element of the body's work;  

 materials produced for exhibitions, conferences or seminars in relation to the 
body's work;  

 advertisements via electronic messages, public address systems, posters or 
notice boards and the press; and  

 material related to promotional campaigns and information services. 
 

4.7 A body displaying material in public [standards 38-39] 

What are the requirements? 

4.7.1 These standards relate to a body displaying material in public.  

Standard 38 

4.7.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 38, they must ensure that any 
material displayed in public is displayed in Welsh. If an English language version of 
that material is displayed, the body must not treat any Welsh language version of 
the material less favourably than the English language version. 

4.7.3 That means that if the material being displayed is not available for the public to see 
and/or read, then the requirements of the standard do not apply to that material. For 
example, if material is displayed to the body's staff members only, then the standard 
does not apply, as they are not considered to be members of the public.34 

4.7.4 Examples of material displayed in public may include presentation slides, notice 
boards, banners and posters. 'Display' in this context includes material displayed in 
any format such as on paper, on a wall, on screen or on other electronic 
equipment. 

Standard 39 

4.7.5 Where a body is required to comply with standard 39, they must ensure that any 
material displayed by them in a public exhibition arranged by them is displayed 
in Welsh. If there is an English language version of that material, the body must not 
treat the Welsh language version of the material less favourably than the English 
language. 

4.7.6 Material such as presentation slides, notice boards, banners and posters displayed 
in the exhibition may apply to these standards. 'Display' in this context includes 
material displayed in any format such as on paper, on a wall, on screen or on other 
electronic equipment. 

 

 

                                            
34

 Reference should be made to the interpretation of the term ‘public’ in clauses 3.1.1 – 3.1.3 of this code. 
Page 140



35/106106  

 

   

What is meant by the term “must not treat the Welsh language version less 
favourably than the English language version" in the context of these standards? 

4.7.7 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 29 of the regulations states: 

Where a standard refers to material that is to be produced in 
Welsh (with the exception of standards 52 to 57 (websites and 
apps), 58 and 59 (social media) and 76 (invitations to tender)), 
references to treating the Welsh language no less favourably 
than the English language, or to treating a Welsh language 
version no less favourably than an English language version, 
include, amongst other matters (and in addition to specific 
matters referred to in any individual standard), treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably as regards—  
(a) the visual presentation of material (for example in relation to 
the colour or font of any text); 
(b) the size of the material; 
(c) the position and prominence of the material in any public 
place;  
(ch) when and how the material is published, provided or 
exhibited;  
(d) the publication format of material. 

4.7.8 ‘Other matters’ may include treating the Welsh language no less favourably as 
regards: 

 the standard and quality of the material; 
 the clarity and accuracy of the material (for example in terms of the meaning 

and expression of any text);  
 the content of the material (for example in terms of the detail or quality of the 

information it contains). 
 

4.8 A body producing and publishing documents [standards 
40-49] 

What are the requirements? 

4.8.1 The following standards require a body to ensure that certain documents are 
available in Welsh. The standards also set requirements for not treating any Welsh 
language version of a document less favourably than an English language version, 
as well as clearly stating on an English language version that a Welsh language 
version is also available. 

Standard 40 

4.8.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 40, they must ensure that all 
documents produced for public use are produced in Welsh. That includes all the 
documents identified in standards 41-46, as well as any other documents produced 
by them for public use. Examples may include cards, codes of practice, statistical 
bulletins, consultation documents, guidance notes, maps and posters. 

Standard 41 

4.8.3 Where a body is required to comply with standard 41, they must ensure that 
agendas, minutes and other papers available to the public which relate to a 
management board or cabinet meeting, or for meetings, conferences or seminars 
that are open to the public, are produced in Welsh.  

Page 141



36/106106  

 

   

For example, this may include relevant material available to the public relating to a 
Council's operational board, committee meeting or any other kind of meeting that is 
open to the public. 

4.8.4 Agendas will usually contain information on the location and date of the meeting, 
items or matters for discussions, and they may also provide the details of board or 
cabinet members, and the relevant point of contact. They may also contain the 
meeting's forward work programme. 

4.8.5 Minutes may include full written minutes of meetings concerned or a more concise 
record of decisions (such as decision sheets) or action points. 

4.8.6 Other papers may include any supplementary document to be discussed at the 
meeting such as item reports or appendices, notice of a meeting or information 
regarding expressions of interest.  

Standard 42 

4.8.7 Where a body is required to comply with standard 42, they must ensure that any 
licence or certificate produced is produced in Welsh. For example, parking permits, 
alcohol and late night refreshment licences, or housing licences for landlords or 
agents. This may also include certificates awarded following a course or training, a 
council tax exemption certificate or award or ceremony certificates.  

Standard 43 

4.8.8 Where a body is required to comply with standard 43, they must ensure that any 
brochure, leaflet, pamphlet or card that you produce in order to provide information 
to the public is produced in Welsh. For example, a library or leisure centre 
membership card, information booklet on the body's work, a leaflet or pamphlet with 
information on a service provided by one of the body's departments.  

Standard 44 

4.8.9 Where a body is required to comply with standard 44, they must ensure that any of 
the following, produced and available to the public, are produced in Welsh: 

(a) policies, strategies, annual reports and corporate plans; 
(b) guidance and codes of practice; 
(c) consultation papers. 

 
Standard 45 

4.8.10 Where a body is required to comply with standard 45, they must ensure that any 
rules published that apply to the public must be published in Welsh. 

4.8.11 Rules are considered to apply to the public if they are rules which affect the public. 
Such rules may include car parking rules or the terms and conditions of a service 
provided.  

4.8.12 It should be noted, however, that Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 33 of the 
regulations states: 

Standard 45 does not apply to rules specified in an enactment 
or in a draft enactment prepared by a body. 

 

 

Page 142



37/106106  

 

   

4.8.13 The term 'produce' has the same meaning as if a document was created, generated 
or published by a body. To this end, standard 45 applies to any rules which apply to 
the public published by a body from the imposition day onwards and also to those 
published before the imposition day, to the extent that those rules continue to be 
'live' or 'current'. 

Standard 46 

4.8.14 Where a body is required to comply with standard 46, they must ensure that any 
statement to the press is issued in Welsh and at the same time as an English 
version. 

4.8.15 A body would issue a statement to the press when publishing a statement directly to 
the press. For example, by publishing a statement on their website or sending a 
statement to the press in general. 

4.8.16 In terms of responding to requests from the press, any response released in a 
statement would be covered by the standard. However, if a body responds via 
correspondence, the body is expected to act in accordance with the relevant 
standards imposed on them in relation to correspondence (see standards 1-7).  

Standard 47 

4.8.17 Where a body is required to comply with standard 47, and no other standard places 
an existing duty to produce the document in Welsh, they must assess if the subject 
matter of the document suggests that it should be produced in Welsh, as well as if 
the anticipated audience, and their expectations, suggests that the document 
should be produced in Welsh. The document should then be produced in Welsh (or 
otherwise) in accordance with the outcome of that assessment.  

4.8.18 This assessment may consider the following: 

 Is the subject matter of the document of wide importance and does it impact a 
significant number of people? 

 Does the subject matter of the document relate to the Welsh language? 
 Does the subject matter of the document relate to an area of special interest in 

terms of Welsh language? 
 Will the document be displayed publicly? 
 Do you know that a vast proportion of the anticipated audience speak Welsh? 
 Has more than one person asked for the document to be available in Welsh? 
 Does the document require a response from persons? 
 Does the target audience include groups and organisations for which the 

Welsh language is an important consideration? 

Standard 48 

4.8.19 Where a body is required to comply with standard 48, they must not treat any Welsh 
language version of a document produced less favourably than an English 
language version of that document. 

 

 

 

 

 Page 143



38/106106  

 

   

4.8.20 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 29 of the regulations states: 

Where a standard refers to material that is to be produced in 
Welsh (with the exception of standards 52 to 57 (websites and 
apps), 58 and 59 (social media) and 76 (invitations to tender)), 
references to treating the Welsh language no less favourably 
than the English language, or to treating a Welsh language 
version no less favourably than an English language version, 
include, amongst other matters (and in addition to specific 
matters referred to in any individual standard), treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably as regards—  

(a)  the visual presentation of material (for example in 
relation to the colour or font of any text);  

(b)  the size of the material;  

(c)  the position and prominence of the material in any 
public place; 

(ch)  when and how the material is published, provided or 
exhibited; 

(d)  the publication format of material. 

4.8.21 ‘Other matters’ may include treating the Welsh language no less favourably as 
regards: 

 the standard and quality of the material; 
 the clarity and accuracy of the material (for example in terms of the meaning 

and expression of any text);  
 the content of the material (for example in terms of the detail or quality of the 

information it contains). 

Standard 49 
4.8.22 Where a body is required to comply with standard 49, if there is a separate English 

language version of a document, they must ensure that the English language 
version clearly states that the document is also available in Welsh. 

4.8.23 The regulations do not expand on what the exact wording of the statement should 
be in order to comply with the standard. However, according to the standard the 
body must clearly state that the document is also available in Welsh. A statement 
such as “Mae’r ddogfen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg” could be included on the 
document in order to comply with the standard.35 A body may decide to facilitate 
access to the Welsh language document concerned, by including a direct link to the 
Welsh language document, or by providing information on how to source the Welsh 
language document as part of the statement. 

What is meant by the term 'produce'? 

4.8.24 Standards 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 47, 48 and 49 apply to documents 'produced' by a 
body. This term is not interpreted in the regulations. However, it is considered that 
the term 'produce' has the same meaning as if the document was created, 
generated or published by a body. These standards apply to documents produced 
from the imposition day onwards and also to those produced before the imposition 
day, to the extent that those documents continue to be 'live' or 'current'.   

                                            
35

 Welsh for “This document is also available in Welsh”. 
Page 144



39/106106  

 

   

4.8.25 An example of the kind of documents produced before the imposition day which 
would apply to these standards would be a complaints procedure or an action plan 
which continues to be in operation after the imposition day, because it is a 'live' or 
'current' document. 

4.8.26 However, the standards would not apply, for example, to an annual report for the 
year ending before the imposition day or a policy produced before the imposition 
day no longer in use or in force. 

What is meant by the term 'for public use'? 

4.8.27 There is no full interpretation of this term in the regulations. However, Schedule 1, 
Part 3, Paragraph 30 of the regulations states: 

For the purposes of standards 40, 41, 44, 47 and 50, 
references to  documents or other materials being available to 
the public or being  produced for public use do not include 
documents or materials  that are only available to the public by 
virtue of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (c.36). 

4.8.28 A document would be 'for public use' if it is available to the public without requesting 
it under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 only. A document produced by the 
body would be covered by the interpretation of the term if the public has the right to 
access it, although it might not necessarily be produced for the public specifically. 
For example, this could include a body’s monitoring reports, agendas and 
committee papers produced for internal use, but are published on its website, and 
therefore available to the public. 

Are there any other exceptions to these standards? 

4.8.29 Yes. Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 32 of the regulations states: 

Standards 40, 47, 48 and 49 do not apply to an enactment 
made by a body or to a draft enactment prepared by a body.  

 

4.8.30 Paragraphs 25 and 45 of the regulations further state: 

A body is not required to produce, to display or to send material 
in Welsh to the extent that another enactment has specified the 
wording of a document, a sign or a form which would run 
contrary to that requirement.  

 

For the purposes of the standards “enactment” means an 
enactment (whenever enacted or made) comprised in, or in an 
instrument made under— 
(a) an Act of Parliament; or 

(b) a Measure or an Act of the National Assembly for Wales. 

4.8.31 It should be noted that the fact that another enactment has specified the wording of 
a document, sign or form in itself does not satisfy the above. That enactment must 
also prevent or disallow Welsh wording. 

 

 Page 145



40/106106  

 

   

4.9 A body producing and publishing forms [standards 50-51] 

What are the requirements? 

4.9.1 These standards require a body to ensure that forms produced by them for public 
use are available in Welsh. The standards also set requirements for not treating any 
Welsh language version of a document less favourably than an English language 
version, as well as clearly stating on an English language version that a Welsh 
language version is also available. 

Standard 50 

4.9.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 50, they must ensure that all 
forms produced for public use are produced in Welsh. That includes any written 
forms, be they electronic or in paper form.  

Standard 50A 

4.9.3 Where a body is required to comply with standard 50A, if separate Welsh and 
English language versions of forms are produced, they must clearly state on the 
English language version that the form is also available in Welsh. 

4.9.4 The regulations do not expand on what the exact wording of the statement should 
be in order to comply with the standard. However, according to the standard the 
body must clearly state that the form is also available in Welsh.  A statement such 
as “Mae’r ffurflen hon hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg” could be included on the form in 
order to comply with the standard.36 A body may decide to facilitate access to the 
Welsh language form concerned, by including a direct link to the Welsh language 
form, or by providing information on how to source the Welsh language form as part 
of the statement. 

Standard 50B 

4.9.5 Where a body is required to comply with standard 50B, if they produce a form in 
Welsh and in English (whether separate versions or not), they must ensure that the 
Welsh language version is treated no less favourably than the English language 
version, and they must not differentiate between them in relation to any 
requirements that are relevant to the form. 

4.9.6 The standard itself contains specific examples of some contexts where the Welsh 
language version of a form should not be treated less favourably than the English 
language version, as well as not differentiating between them in terms of any 
requirements relevant to the form. 

 [...] (for example in relation to any deadline for submitting the 
form, or in relation to the time allowed to respond to the content 
of the form. 

4.9.7 Furthermore, Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 29 of the regulations states:  

Where a standard refers to material that is to be produced in 
Welsh (with the exception of standards 52 to 57 (websites and 
apps), 58 and 59 (social media) and 76 (invitations to tender)), 
references to treating the Welsh language no less favourably 
than the English language, or to treating a Welsh language 
version no less favourably than an English language version, 
include, amongst other matters (and in addition to specific 

                                            
36

 Welsh for “This form is also available in Welsh”. 
Page 146



41/106106  

 

   

matters referred to in any individual standard), treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably as regards—  

(a)  the visual presentation of material (for example in 
relation to the colour or font of any text);  

(b)  the size of the material;  

(c)  the position and prominence of the material in any public 
place;  

(ch)  when and how the material is published, provided or 
exhibited; 

(d)  the publication format of material. 

4.9.8 ‘Other matters’ may include treating the Welsh language no less favourably as 
regards: 

 the standard and quality of the material; 
 the clarity and accuracy of the material (for example in terms of the meaning 

and expression of any text);  
 the content of the material (for example in terms of the detail or quality of the 

information it contains). 

Standard 51 

4.9.9 Where a body is required to comply with standard 51, they must ensure that any 
information pre-entered on the Welsh language version of a form is pre-entered in 
Welsh. 

4.9.10 The term 'pre-entered' has not been interpreted in the regulations. However, the 
term is considered to mean that a body completes some sections or parts, or all 
sections and parts of a form, instead of the person themselves. 

4.9.11 The standard itself contains specific examples of some contexts where a body may 
pre-enter information on a form:  

[...] for example, before sending it to a member of the public in 
order for him or her to check the content or to fill in the 
remainder of the form. 

4.9.12 The type of information being pre-entered by a body on a form may include 
personal details such as name, address, title, marital status, job title etc. 

What is meant by the term 'produce'? 

4.9.13 Standards 50, 50A and 50B apply to forms 'produced' by a body. This term is not 
interpreted in the regulations. However, it is considered that the term 'produce' has 
the same meaning as if the document was created, generated or published by a 
body. These standards would apply to forms produced from the imposition day 
onwards and also to those produced before the imposition day, to the extent that 
those forms continue to be 'live' or 'current'. 

4.9.14 An example of the kind of form produced before the imposition day to which the 
standards apply would be a complaints form or application form for library 
membership, as they continue to be 'live' or 'current' forms. 

4.9.15 However, the standards would not apply, for example, to an application form for a 
parking permit for the year ending before the imposition day or a form produced 
before the imposition day which is no longer in use. Page 147



42/106106  

 

   

What is meant by the term 'for public use'? 

4.9.16 There is no full interpretation of this term in the regulations. However, Schedule 1, 
Part 3, Paragraph 30 of the regulations states: 

For the purposes of standards 40, 41, 44, 47 and 50, 
references to  documents or other materials being available to 
the public or being  produced for public use do not include 
documents or materials  that are only available to the public by 
virtue of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (c.36). 

4.9.17 A form would be 'for public use' if it is available to the public without requesting it 
under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 only. Any form produced, but not 
necessarily produced for the public specifically, but that they have the right to 
access it (e.g. an application form to a public authority) would be covered by the 
interpretation of the term. 

Are there any other exceptions to these standards? 

4.9.18 Yes. Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraphs 25 and 48 of the regulations states: 

A body is not required to produce, to display or to send material 
in Welsh to the extent that another enactment has specified the 
wording of a document, a sign or a form which would run 
contrary to that requirement.  

 

For the purposes of the standards “enactment” means an 
enactment  (whenever enacted or made) comprised in, or in an 
instrument made under— 

(a) an Act of Parliament; or 

(b) a Measure or an Act of the National Assembly for Wales. 

 

4.9.19 The fact that another enactment has specified the wording of a document, a sign or 
a form in itself does not satisfy the above. That enactment must also prevent or 
disallow a Welsh wording. 

4.9.20 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 31 of the regulations further states:  

(1) Standards 50, 50A and 50B do not apply to the forms listed 
in sub-paragraph (3)... 

 
 

(3) The forms are –  

(a) forms used by a body to recruit employees (see standards 
137A, 138 and 139 in relation to recruitment); 

(b) forms used when applying for grant assistance from a body 
(see standards 71 to 75 in relation to applications for grants); 

(c) forms used when submitting a tender to enter into a contract 
with a  body (see standards 76 to 80 in relation to tendering for 
a contract). 

 

Page 148



43/106106  

 

   

4.10 A body's websites and on-line services [standards 52-57] 

What are the requirements? 

4.10.1 The following standards require a body to ensure that pages of their website, or 
websites, are available and fully functional in Welsh and that the Welsh language is 
not treated less favourably than the English language.  

Standard 52 

4.10.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 52, they must ensure that all 
pages on their website are available and are fully functional in Welsh and that the 
Welsh language is not treated less favourably than the English language on those 
pages. This includes pages noted in standards 53 and 54.  

Standard 53 

4.10.3 Where a body is required to comply with standard 53, they must ensure that the 
homepage of their website is available and fully functional in Welsh and that the 
Welsh language is treated no less favourably than the English language on the 
homepage. 'Homepage' is considered to mean the page on the website which 
normally acts as the main page (and appears after the splash page). The 
homepage normally operates as a navigation page and contains links to other 
sections of the website.  

Standard 54 

4.10.4 Where a body is required to comply with standard 54, they must ensure that any 
page on the website created or amended is available and fully functional in Welsh 
and that the Welsh language is treated no less favourably than the English 
language on those pages. 

Standard 55 

4.10.5 Where a body is required to comply with standard 55, if they have a Welsh 
language web page that corresponds to an English language web page, they must 
state clearly on the English language web page that the page is also available in 
Welsh. They must provide a direct link to the Welsh page on the corresponding 
English page.   

4.10.6 A body does not have to include a statement that is word for word with the above on 
every relevant English language page. A body may make it clear that an English 
language page is also available in Welsh by including a button on the English 
language page which guides the user to the corresponding Welsh language page. 
For example, by including a “Cymraeg” button in a prominent position (such as the 
top right hand corner) on an English language page, which would include a link to 
the corresponding Welsh language page. The Commissioner, however, does not 
consider that displaying a banner or flag would convey sufficiently that the English 
language page is also available in Welsh. 

Standard 56 

4.10.7 Where a body is required to comply with standard 56, they must ensure that the 
interface and menus on every page of their website are in Welsh. The nature of 
interfaces and menus changes according to each individual website specifically, but 
they may be considered to include those parts of a website that do not show 
content but are part of the infrastructure and allow the user to communicate with a 
programme. Menus can include options and lists to select from.  

 Page 149



44/106106  

 

   

Standard 57 

4.10.8 Where a body is required to comply with standard 57, they must ensure that any 
app published by them functions fully in Welsh and that the Welsh language is 
treated no less favourably than the English language on that app.  

4.10.9 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 35 of the regulations states: 

(1) For the purpose of standard 57 an ‘app’ is a software 
application designed to undertake a specific task on an 
electronic device.  

(2) Standard 57 does not apply to any advertising material on 
an app (see standard 37 in relation to advertising material 
produced by a body). 

4.10.10 Such an app may include a software application which allows persons to pay 
rent or make a complaint via an electronic device. 

Do the requirements of standards 52-56 mean that all the content on a website 
needs to be in Welsh? 

4.10.11 No, not necessarily. Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 34 of the regulations 
states: 

Standards 52 to 56 (websites) do not apply to— 

(a) documents to which a link is provided on a website, 
advertising material on a website, or to video and audio clips on 
a website (see standards 40 to 49 for specific provision in 
relation to documents, and standard 37 in relation to advertising 
material produced by a body);  

(b) information presented by persons (other than the body) on 
an interactive page published on a body’s website (for example 
on a section for comments or on a discussion forum). 

4.10.12 These regulations therefore make these standards exempt from applying to 
specific kinds of content on a body's website. However, it should be noted that there 
is a requirement for some documents to be published in Welsh in accordance with 
standards 40-49. Therefore, if a body is required to produce a Welsh language 
version of a document, the body should ensure that the Welsh language version of 
that document is available on the website when providing a link to it. 

4.10.13 These standards do not apply to advertising material on a website nor video 
and audio clips on a website. However, it should be noted that there is a 
requirement for some advertising material and audio and video clips to be available 
in Welsh in accordance with standard 37. Therefore, if a body has a duty to ensure 
that they are available in Welsh in accordance with that standard, they must ensure 
that the Welsh language versions appear on the website. 

4.10.14 There is no duty on a body to translate any information which is presented by 
persons on interactive pages published on the body's website into Welsh. That may 
include comments made by persons in chat rooms as well as examples found in the 
regulations themselves. 

What is meant by the term 'function fully in Welsh'? 

4.10.15 This term means that the Welsh language version of a website or app should 
function in the same way or as good as the English language version (or any other Page 150



45/106106  

 

   

language) and that every element of the website or app is available in Welsh 
without restriction. For example, a body should ensure that the content of Welsh 
language versions is updated and is not delayed compared with the English 
language version, that links are not broken or that no defects appear on the Welsh 
language pages, and that search functions function fully in Welsh. 

4.10.16 Similarly, if links are provided to external resources from a Welsh language 
website or app, they should be consistent with the language of that page. That is, a 
link from a Welsh language page on the website/app should lead to a Welsh 
language version of the resource (if one exists).  

What is meant by the term 'the Welsh language must be treated no less favourably 
than the English language'? 

4.10.17 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 36 of the regulations states: 

For the purpose of standards 52 to 57 (websites and apps) and 
standards 58 and 59 (social media), references to treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably than the English language 
include, amongst other matters (and in addition to specific 
matters referred to in any individual standard), treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably as regards —  

(a) the visual presentation of the material (for example in 
relation to the colour, size, font and format of any text), or  

(b) when material is published on the website, app or social 
media; 

but it does not mean that Welsh language material must appear 
on the same page as English language material, or on a page 
that a person is likely to find before the English language page 
when searching. 

4.10.18 ‘Other matters’ may include treating the Welsh language no less favourably 
as regards: 

 the standard and quality of the material; 
 the position and prominence of the material; 
 when and how the material is published; 
 the publication format of material; 
 the clarity and accuracy of the material (for example in terms of the meaning 

and expression of any text);  
 the content of the material (for example in terms of the detail or quality of the 

information it contains). 

4.10.19 The standards do not, therefore, prevent a body from being able to provide 
separate Welsh and English versions of material on a website or app, to the extent 
that the Welsh language version is treated no less favourable than the English 
language version. 

4.11 A body's use of social media [standards 58-59] 

What are the requirements? 

4.11.1 The following standards relates to a body's use of social media. 

 

 Page 151



46/106106  

 

   

Standard 58 

4.11.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 58, they must not treat the Welsh 
language less favourably than the English language when using social media. 

4.11.3 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 36 of the regulations states: 

For the purpose of standards 52 to 57 (websites and apps) and 
standards 58 and 59 (social media), references to treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably than the English language 
include, amongst other matters (and in addition to specific 
matters referred to in any individual standard), treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably as regards —  

(a) the visual presentation of the material (for example in 
relation to the colour, size, font and format of any text), or  

(b) when material is published on the website, app or social 
media; 

but it does not mean that Welsh language material must appear 
on the same page as English language material, or on a page 
that a person is likely to find before the English language page 
when searching. 

4.11.4 ‘Other matters’ may include treating the Welsh language no less favourably as 
regards: 

 the standard and quality of the material; 
 the position and prominence of the material; 
 when and how the material is published; 
 the publication format of material; 
 the clarity and accuracy of the material (for example in terms of the meaning 

and expression of any text);  
 the content of the material (for example in terms of the detail or quality of the 

information it contains). 

4.11.5 The standards do not, therefore, prevent a body from being able to provide 
separate Welsh and English versions of material on social media, to the extent that 
the Welsh language version is treated no less favourable than the English language 
version. That can therefore mean that a body may operate separate Welsh and 
English accounts on social media. However, if a body does this, they must raise 
awareness of the Welsh language account in accordance with standards 81 and 82. 

4.11.6 Furthermore, Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 38 of the regulations states: 

Standards 58 and 59 (social media) do not apply to— 
(a) documents to which a link is provided through social media, 
or to video and audio clips provided through social media (see 
standards 40 to 49 for specific provision in relation to 
documents, and standard  37 in relation to advertising material 
produced by a body);  
(b) information presented by persons (other than the body) on a 
body's social media account (for example on a section for 
comments). 

 

Page 152



47/106106  

 

   

4.11.7 Under standard 58, therefore, a body must ensure that any material they have in 
English on social media is also available in Welsh, apart from text presented in the 
mediums identified above. That may include announcements made over social 
media or slogans or hashtags. 

4.11.8 Similarly, the standards do not apply to information presented on a body's social 
media account by other persons. That may include information from other persons 
shared more widely by the body on their own account, for example a retweet.  

4.11.9 However, if links are provided to external resources from a Welsh language account 
page, they should be consistent with the language of that account. That is, a link 
from a Welsh language account should lead to a Welsh language version of the 
resource (if one exists). 

Standard 59 

4.11.10 Where a body is required to comply with standard 59, they must reply to a 
person in Welsh (if an answer is required) if the person has contacted them via 
social media in Welsh. That may include a private message as well as a public 
response, for example in a general comments section. 

What is meant by the term 'social media'? 

4.11.11 This term is not interpreted in the regulations. However, in general, 'social 
media' includes websites and programmes which allow an user to create and share 
content or to take part in social interaction. Examples may include Facebook, 
Twitter, Instagram or YouTube. 

Do the standards apply to all of the corporate accounts a body has? 

4.11.12 Yes. The standards apply to a body's entire use of social media, be that via a 
corporate account or staff and individual department accounts, if they operate on 
behalf of the body or in its name. 

4.12 Self service machines [standard 60] 

What are the requirements? 

4.12.1 This standard requires a body to ensure that all of their self service machines 
function fully in Welsh and that the Welsh language is treated no less favourably 
than the English language on that machine. 

What is a 'self service machine'? 

4.12.2 This term is neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations. In general, a self 
service machine includes any machine available to persons receiving a service by 
serving themselves without the need for staff assistance.  

4.12.3 The usual literal meaning of 'machine' refers to a device, appliance or tool used to 
perform a certain task. Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 39 of the regulations also 
refers to self service machines as those which can contain material which ’appear 
on screen’. Therefore, self service machines may include screens, such as pay and 
display machines, self issue machines in a library, appointment check in screens, 
photocopiers in libraries and food and drink vending machines. 

 

 

Page 153



48/106106  

 

   

4.12.4 Also, some self service machines which do not have screens may be covered by 
this standard. Examples may include a self service audio guide to be used in a 
library or museum or a machine providing audio directions.  

What is meant by the term 'must not treat the Welsh language version less 
favourably than the English language version' in the context of this standard? 

4.12.5 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 39 of the regulations states: 

For the purpose of standard 60 (self service machines) 
reference to treating the Welsh language no less favourably 
than the English language include, amongst other matters, 
treating the Welsh language no less favourably as regards the 
visual presentation of the material (for example in relation to the 
colour, size, font and format of any text), but it does not   mean 
that Welsh language material must appear on screen at the 
same time as English language material. 

4.12.6 ‘Other matters’ may include treating the Welsh language no less favourably as 
regards: 

 the standard and quality of the material; 
 the position and prominence of the material; 
 when and how the material is published; 
 the publication format of material; 
 the clarity and accuracy of the material (for example in terms of the meaning 

and expression of any text);  
 the content of the material (for example in terms of the detail or quality of the 

information it contains). 

4.12.7 The standards do not, therefore, prevent a body from being able to provide 
separate Welsh and English versions of material on a self service machine, to the 
extent that the Welsh language version is treated no less favourable than the 
English language version. Installing self service machines with the English as the 
default language would treat the Welsh language less favourably than the English 
language. That means that only after an user has selected a language can Welsh 
and English language material appear on screen separately. 

4.12.8 In practical terms, therefore, there are three main ways of ensuring that the Welsh 
language is treated no less favourably than the English language in terms of using a 
self service machine, namely: 

 by offering a choice, when someone starts to use the machine, of which 
language they wish to use;  

 with the machine operating in Welsh and English at the same time, 
without the need to switch or choose a language; or 

 setting Welsh as the machine's default language, allowing persons to 
switch to English if they wish. 

What is meant by the term 'function fully in Welsh'? 

4.12.9 This term means that the Welsh language version of any self service machine 
should work in the same way or as equally well as the English language version (or 
any other language) and that every element of the self service machine is available 
in Welsh without restriction or errors. For example, a body should ensure that the 
content of Welsh language versions is updated and is not delayed compared with 

Page 154



49/106106  

 

   

the English language version, that links are not broken or that there are no defects 
appearing on the Welsh language version. 

4.12.10 Some self service machines will produce documents, for example a parking 
ticket, ticket for an event, or forms or leaflets containing information. The standards 
relating to documents apply to these documents, and not standard 60. 

4.12.11 Signs will be associated with some self service machines, for example 
drawing attention to the machine or containing directions on their use. The 
standards relating to signs apply to these signs, and not standard 60. 

4.13 Signs displayed by a body [standards 61-63] 

What are the requirements? 

4.13.1 The above standards require a body to ensure that any new sign or sign being 
renewed is displayed in Welsh and that the Welsh language is treated no less 
favourably than the English language on those signs. The standards also set 
requirements in relation to the accuracy and position of the Welsh language on 
signs. 

Standard 61 

4.13.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 61, they must, when they erect a 
new sign or renew a sign (including temporary signs), ensure that any text 
displayed on the sign is displayed in Welsh (whether on the same sign as you 
display corresponding English language text or on a separate sign). The body must 
ensure that the Welsh language text is not treated less favourably than the English 
language text on those signs. 

4.13.3 A body would usually 'erect' a new sign when it is placed where there was no such 
sign before. A body would 'renew' a sign if they make any change to that sign or 
erect a new sign in its place at the same location.  

4.13.4 Use of the term 'new' does not mean that the requirements of the standard only 
apply where a body produces a brand new sign, but instead, the term refers to a 
situation where the body erects a sign in a new place or location. That means that 
erecting a sign in a new location would make it a new sign for the purposes of these 
standards.  

In terms of electronic signs, it is considered that a new sign is erected each time 
new text appears on an electronic sign. 

Standard 62 

4.13.5 Where a body is required to comply with standard 62, they must ensure that Welsh 
language text is positioned so that it is likely to be read first on any new signs 
erected or signs that are renewed (including temporary signs).  

4.13.6 The Commissioner recognises that it may be a matter of interpretation whether 
Welsh language text is positioned so that it is likely to be read first and that this 
could result from the position or angle of the sign. However, the Welsh language 
text would be likely to be read first usually if it is placed on the left or above any 
corresponding English text, based on the standard practice of reading from left to 
right and from top to bottom.  

 

 
Page 155



50/106106  

 

   

Standard 63 

4.13.7 Where a body is required to comply with standard 63, they must ensure that Welsh 
language text on their signs (whether they are signs erected before or after the 
imposition day) are accurate in terms of meaning and expression. That can relate to 
the spelling, syntax or words and phrases used. 

4.13.8 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 29 of the regulations states: 

Where a standard refers to material that is to be produced in 
Welsh (with the exception of standards 52 to 57 (websites and 
apps), 58 and 59 (social media) and 76 (invitations to tender)), 
references to treating the Welsh language no less favourably 
than the English language, or to treating a Welsh language 
version no less favourably than an English language version, 
include, amongst other matters (and in addition to specific 
matters referred to in any individual standard), treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably as regards—  

(a) the visual presentation of material (for example in relation to 
the colour or font of any text);  
(b) the size of the material;  

(c) the position and prominence of the material in any public 
place;  

(ch) when and how the material is published, provided or 
exhibited; 
(d) the publication format of material. 

4.13.9 ‘Other matters’ may include treating the Welsh language no less favourably as 
regards: 

 the standard and quality of the material; 
 the clarity and accuracy of the material (for example in terms of the meaning 

and expression of any text);  
 the content of the material (for example in terms of the detail and quality of 

the information it contains). 

What is meant by the term 'temporary sign'? 

4.13.10 These standards also apply to any temporary signs erected or renewed. 
Where a body is required to comply with standard 61 therefore, any temporary sign 
erected or renewed must be displayed in Welsh. Where a body is required to 
comply with standard 62, the Welsh language must appear first on that sign too.  

4.13.11 This term is not interpreted in the regulations. However, it is considered that 
a temporary sign includes any sign not intended to be placed permanently where 
positioned. Such examples may include a sign erected to provide information on 
roadworks, a sign warning of an accident, an out-of-order sign or a road sign 
erected with directions to the location of an event held over a specific period of time. 

Are there any exceptions? 

4.13.12 Yes. Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraphs 25 and 48 of the regulations states: 

A body is not required to produce, to display or to send material 
in Welsh to the extent that another enactment has specified the 
wording of a document, a sign or a form which would run 
contrary to that requirement.  Page 156



51/106106  

 

   

For the purposes of the standards “enactment” means an 
enactment (whenever enacted or made) comprised in, or in an 
instrument made under— 

(a) an Act of Parliament; or 

(b) a Measure or an Act of the National Assembly for Wales. 

4.13.13 The fact that another enactment has specified the wording of a document, 
sign or form in itself does not satisfy the above. That enactment must also prevent 
or disallow a Welsh wording. 

4.13.14 Where a body includes their corporate identity on a sign, standard 83 will 
apply to that element. 

4.14 A body receiving visitors at its buildings [standards 64-68] 

What are the requirements? 

4.14.1 The following standards require a body to ensure that any reception service they 
make available in English is also made available in Welsh. The standards also set 
requirements relating to displaying a sign and wearing badges at receptions to 
make it clear that persons are welcome to use the Welsh language at the reception 
and that staff are available to provide a Welsh language service. 

Standard 64  

4.14.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 64, they must ensure that any 
reception service available in English is also available in Welsh. They must also 
ensure that a person who requires a Welsh language reception service is not 
treated less favourably than a person who requires an English language reception 
service. In ensuring that a reception service is made available in Welsh, a body has 
a responsibility to actively offer a Welsh language reception service rather than 
expect the visitor to request it. It is also expected that the Welsh language service is 
available unhindered and that there is no need to switch to another language in 
order to receive the reception service in Welsh.  

Standards 65 and 65A 

4.14.3 Where a body is required to comply with standards 65 and 65A, if they are not 
already aware, they must ask a person who will be visiting or has an appointment 
which will mean coming to the reception, whether they wish to receive that 
reception service in Welsh.  

If that person has informed them that they do wish so, or if the body is already 
aware of that wish, they must provide that reception service in Welsh.  

Standard 66 

4.14.4 Where a body is required to comply with standard 66, they must ensure that a 
reception service is available in Welsh over the phone, if it is not possible to provide 
it face to face. That may include a traditional phone call or video conferencing.  

Standard 67 

4.14.5 Where a body is required to comply with standard 67, they must display a sign in 
the reception which states that persons are welcome to use the Welsh language 
there. 

 

Page 157



52/106106  

 

   

4.14.6 Bodies do not have to include a statement expressing the above, following the 
wording of the standard word for word. However, the statement should be clear and 
explicit enough for persons to be fully aware that they are welcome to use the 
Welsh language in reception. A sign with wording such as “Mae croeso i chi siarad 
Cymraeg yma” or “Mae croeso i chi ddefnyddio’r Gymraeg yn y dderbynfa” could be 
used to comply with the standard.37 

4.14.7 Also, the Commissioner's Working Welsh logo could be used to show that the body 
welcomes persons to use the Welsh language at the reception. The Commissioner 
has a poster which includes the logo which is available as a free download from the 
Commissioner's website.38 The Working Welsh logo itself is available as a free 
download from the Commissioner's website and looks like this: 

 
Standard 68 

4.14.8 Where a body is required to comply with standard 68, they must ensure that 
reception staff who are able to provide a Welsh language reception service wear a 
badge to convey that. 

4.14.9 The regulations do not expand on the exact badge that staff should wear in order to 
comply with the standard. However, the standard states that the badge must make 
it clear that the member of staff wearing it can provide a Welsh language reception 
service. The Commissioner's Working Welsh badges are an example of a badge 
which can be worn by reception staff in order to comply with the standard. Also, a 
badge may include a lanyard or one woven into an uniform.  

What is a 'reception'? 

4.14.10 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 40 of the regulations states: 

For the purposes of standards 64 to 68 (receiving visitors)—  

(a) “reception” means an area in a body’s offices and service 
locations where staff are made available for the purpose of 
welcoming persons;  

(b) “reception service” means a service for welcoming persons  
to the body’s offices or service locations by staff who are made 
available for that purpose;  
(c)“service locations” include libraries, leisure centres, arts 
centres, advice centres and drop in centres. 

 

4.14.11 Therefore, any area within a body's offices or premises where staff are 
available for the purpose of welcoming persons may be covered by the 
interpretation of 'reception' and therefore this is not limited to a reception in the 
traditional sense, with a desk front of house. Similarly, it is considered that any 

                                            
37

 ” Welsh for “You are welcome to speak Welsh here” or “You are welcome to use the Welsh language at 
the reception”. 
38

 The Welsh Language Commissioner's Working Welsh poster 
Page 158

http://www.comisiynyddygymraeg.cymru/english/publications/pages/publicationdetails.aspx?publicationid=726261d0-fe3a-440f-80ac-35e738a2c7a1&publicationsearchterm=poster&year=2013


53/106106  

 

   

member of staff may offer a reception service, and not only staff available for that 
sole purpose. 

4.14.12 'Welcoming persons' is considered to mean more than just greeting visitors 
and ascertaining their preferred language. Persons visiting reception areas are 
expected to be able to receive a reception service to a level where they can engage 
in a conversation and have their enquiries answered through the medium of Welsh, 
unhindered, and without having to switch to another language.  

What is meant by the term 'any person who requires a Welsh language reception 
service must not be treated less favourably than a person who requires an English 
language reception service' in the context of these standards? 

4.14.13 This term is not interpreted in the regulations. However, it is considered that 
a person will not be treated less favourably if the Welsh language reception service 
is of at least the same standard as the English language reception service. This 
may include: 

 the availability or quality of the service;  
 the location and prominence of the service; and 
 when and how the service is offered, delivered or made available.  

4.15 Official notices made by a body [standards 69-70] 

What are the requirements? 

4.15.1 The following standards relate to official notices made by a body.  

Standard 69 

4.15.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 69, they must ensure that any 
official notice that they publish or display must be published or displayed in Welsh, 
and they must not treat any Welsh language version of a notice less favourably than 
an English language version.  

4.15.3 For that purpose, Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 29 of the regulations states: 

Where a standard refers to material that is to be produced in 
Welsh (with the exception of standards 52 to 57 (websites and 
apps), 58 and 59 (social media) and 76 (invitations to tender)), 
references to treating the Welsh language no less favourably 
than the English language, or to treating a Welsh language 
version no less favourably than an English language version, 
include, amongst other matters (and in addition to specific 
matters referred to in any individual standard), treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably as regards—  

(a) the visual presentation of material (for example in relation to 
the colour or font of any text);  
(b) the size of the material;  
(c) the position and prominence of the material in any public 
place;  

(ch) when and how the material is published, provided or 
exhibited; 
(d) the publication format of material. 

4.15.4 ‘Other matters’ may include treating the Welsh language no less favourably as 
regards: Page 159



54/106106  

 

   

 the standard and quality of the material; 
 the clarity and accuracy of the material (for example in terms of the meaning 

and expression of any text);  
 the content of the material (for example in terms of the detail and quality of 

the information it contains). 

Standard 70 

4.15.5 Where a body is required to comply with standard 70, they must position the Welsh 
language text on an official bilingual notice so that it is likely to be read first.  

4.15.6 Welsh language text would be likely to be read first usually if it is placed on the left 
or above the corresponding English text, based on the standard practice of reading 
from left to right and from top to bottom.  

What is an 'official notice'? 

4.15.7 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraphs 41 and 48 of the regulations states: 

For the purposes of standards 7, 69 and 70 an “official notice” 
means any notice that a body publishes to inform persons 
about service delivery activities or changes to service delivery 
activities, but it does not include official notices prescribed by 
an enactment. 

 

For the purposes of the standards “enactment” means an 
enactment (whenever enacted or made) comprised in, or in an 
instrument made under— 

(a) an Act of Parliament; or 

(b) a Measure or an Act of the National Assembly for Wales. 

4.15.8 Examples of an official notice which would apply to these standards therefore could 
include a notice regarding: 

 a body's office opening hours or a change to a body's office opening hours; 
 a course or seminar which is taking place or coming to an end; 
 the start of a new service such as a new recycling regime; 
 an increase in service charges such as a membership fee or parking fees. 

 

What is meant by the term '...prescribed by an enactment'? 

4.15.9 The term refers to statutory notices. For example, planning application notices or 
works announced in the press. That means that these kinds of notices are not 
covered by the requirements of standard 70. 

4.16 A body awarding grants [standards 71-75] 

What are the requirements? 

These standards relate to a body awarding grants to persons and impose 
requirements in relation to that process. 

 

 

 Page 160



55/106106  

 

   

Standard 71 

4.16.1 Where a body is required to comply with standard 71, any documents that they 
publish which relate to applications for a grant must be published in Welsh, and 
they must not treat a Welsh language version of such documents less favourably 
than any English language versions. This may include the application form; an 
expression of interest form; guidance notes; documents which include the grant 
terms and conditions; FAQs or information on the application process. 

4.16.2 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 29 of the regulations states: 

Where a standard refers to material that is to be produced in 
Welsh (with the exception of standards 52 to 57 (websites and 
apps), 58 and 59 (social media) and 76 (invitations to tender)), 
references to treating the Welsh language no less favourably 
than the English language, or to treating a Welsh language 
version no less favourably than an English language version, 
include, amongst other matters (and in addition to specific 
matters referred to in any individual standard), treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably as regards—  

(a) the visual presentation of material (for example in relation to 
the colour or font of any text);  
(b) the size of the material;  

(c) the position and prominence of the material in any public 
place;  

(ch) when and how the material is published, provided or 
exhibited; 

(d) the publication format of material. 

4.16.3 ‘Other matters’ may include treating the Welsh language no less favourably as 
regards: 

 the standard and quality of the material; 
 the clarity and accuracy of the material (for example in terms of the meaning 

and expression of any text);  
 the content of the material (for example in terms of the detail and quality of 

the information it contains) 

Standard 72 

4.16.4 Where a body is required to comply with standard 72, they must state in the 
invitation to apply for a grant that applications may be submitted in Welsh and that 
any application submitted in Welsh will be treated no less favourably than an 
application submitted in English.  

4.16.5 The regulations do not expand on what the exact wording of the statement should 
be in order to comply with the standard. However, the standard states that the body 
must declare: 

 that applications may be submitted in Welsh and 
 that any application submitted in Welsh will be treated no less favourably 

than an application submitted in English. 

4.16.6 Bodies do not have to include a statement expressing the above, following the 
wording of the standard word for word. However, that statement should be clear 
and explicit enough for persons to be fully aware of the body's commitment and Page 161



56/106106  

 

   

dedication to receiving applications in Welsh and to ensuring that the Welsh 
language is treated no less favourably than the English language with regards to 
applications. 

Standard 72A 

4.16.7 Where a body is required to comply with standard 72A, they must not treat 
applications submitted for a grant in Welsh less favourably than an application 
submitted in English. The standard itself contains specific examples of some 
contexts which apply to the standard:  

[...] including, amongst other matters, in relation to the closing 
date for receiving applications and in relation to the time-scale 
for informing applicants of decisions. 

4.16.8 That may include a closing date for receipt of applications or in relation to informing 
applicants of the body's decision. Therefore, the closing date must be the same for 
Welsh and English applications and it must be ensured that there is no delay in 
informing Welsh language applicants of decisions compared with English language 
applicants. 

Standard 73 

4.16.9 Where a body is required to comply with standard 73, and if they conduct an 
interview as part of the grant application process, they must offer to conduct the 
interview in Welsh if the grant application has been made in Welsh. If the applicant 
so wishes, they must conduct the interview in Welsh without the assistance of a 
translation service. 

Standard 74 

4.16.10 Where a body is required to comply with standard 74, and if they conduct   
an interview as part of the grant application process, they must offer to provide a 
translation service from Welsh to English in the interview if the grant application was 
made in Welsh. If the applicant so wishes, the body must provide a simultaneous 
translation service to enable the applicant to use the Welsh language in the 
interview, if it is not possible to do so without a translation service as not all those 
present in the interview speak Welsh.  

Standard 75 

4.16.11 Where a body is required to comply with standard 75, they must inform an 
applicant who submitted their application in Welsh of their decision in Welsh. The 
requirements of this standard include any method in which a body informs an 
applicant of their decision. This may include informing applicants orally, face-to-face 
or in writing.  

What is a 'grant'? 

4.16.12 This term is not interpreted in the regulations. However, it is considered that 
the term includes any support provided by a body to another person for a specific 
purpose which usually does not need to be repaid or returned. The term may 
include financial support or a benefit. 

Is there a threshold or minimum level of grant before the standards apply? 

4.16.13 No. The regulations do not provide a threshold or minimum level of grant to 
which the application relates. The standards apply to all grants awarded by the 
body. 

Page 162



57/106106  

 

   

4.17 A body awarding contracts [standards 76-80] 

What are the requirements? 

4.17.1 These standards relate to a body awarding contracts to persons and impose 
requirements in relation to that process. 

Standard 76 

4.17.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 76, they must publish any 
invitations to tender in Welsh and not treat a Welsh language version of those 
tenders less favourably than an English language tender.  

4.17.3 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 42 of the regulations provides further guidance on 
this standard, and states: 

For the purposes of standard 76 (invitation to tender)—  

(1) A body is not required to publish an invitation to tender in 
Welsh in the Official Journal of the European Union.  

(2) A reference to treating a Welsh language version no less   
favourably than an English language version includes, amongst 
other matters, treating the Welsh language no less favourably 
as regards—  

(a) the visual presentation of material (for example in relation to 
the colour or font of any text); 

(b) the size of the material; 

(c) the position and prominence of the material in any public 
place;  

(ch) when and how the material is published, provided or 
exhibited; 

(d) the publication format of material;  
but a body will not be treating the Welsh language less 
favourably than the English language by not publishing an 
invitation to tender in Welsh in the Official Journal of the 
European Union.  

  

4.17.4 ‘Other matters’ may include treating the Welsh language no less favourably as 
regards: 

 the standard and quality of the material; 
 the clarity and accuracy of the material (for example in terms of the meaning 

and expression of any text);  
 the content of the material (for example in terms of the detail and quality of 

the information it contains). 

Standard 77 

4.17.5 Where bodies are required to comply with standard 77, they must state in an 
invitation to tender that tenders may be submitted in Welsh, and that a tender 
submitted in Welsh will be treated no less favourably than a tender submitted in 
English. It should be noted that this may include an invitation to tender in the Official 
Journal of the European Union.  

4.17.6 The regulations do not expand on what the exact wording of the statement should 
be in order to comply with the standard. However, the standard states that the body 
must declare:  Page 163



58/106106  

 

   

 that tenders may be submitted in Welsh and 
 that a tender submitted in Welsh will not be treated less favourably than a 

tender submitted in English. 
 

4.17.7 Bodies do not have to include a statement expressing the above, following the 
wording of the standard word for word. However, that statement should be clear 
and explicit enough for persons to be fully aware of the body's commitment and 
dedication to receiving tenders in Welsh and to ensuring that the Welsh language is 
treated no less favourably than the English language with regards to tenders.  

Standard 77A 

4.17.8 Where a body is required to comply with standard 77A, they must not treat a tender 
submitted in Welsh less favourably than a tender submitted in English. The 
standard itself contains specific examples of some contexts which apply to the 
standard:  

[...] including, amongst other matters, in relation to the closing 
date for receiving tenders, and in relation to the time-scale for 
informing tenderers of decisions.  

4.17.9 That may include the closing date for receipt of tenders or in relation to informing 
tenderers of the body's decision. The closing date must be the same for Welsh and 
English tenders and it must be ensured that there is no delay in informing Welsh 
language tenderers of decisions compared with English language tenderers.  

Standard 78 

4.17.10 Where a body is required to comply with standard 78, and if they conduct   
an interview as part of the tender assessment process, they must offer to conduct 
the interview in Welsh if the tender was submitted in Welsh.  If the tenderer so 
wishes, they must conduct the interview in Welsh without the assistance of a 
translation service. 

Standard 79 

4.17.11 Where a body is required to comply with standard 79, and if they conduct   
an interview as part of the tender assessment process, they must offer to provide a 
translation service from Welsh to English in the interview if the tender was 
submitted in Welsh.  If the tenderer so wishes, they must provide a simultaneous 
translation service to enable the tenderer to use the Welsh language in the 
interview, if it is not possible to do so without a translation service as not all those 
present in the interview speak Welsh.   

Standard 80 

4.17.12 Where a body is required to comply with standard 80, they must inform a 
tenderer who submitted their tender in Welsh of their decision in Welsh. The 
requirements of this standard include any method in which a body informs a 
tenderer of their decision. This may include informing tenderers orally, face-to-face 
or in writing.  

What is an 'invitation to tender'? 

4.17.13 The regulations do not interpret the term 'invitation to tender'. However, the 
term is considered to include all the documents in the pack inviting applicants to 
tender.   

Page 164



59/106106  

 

   

4.17.14 Although the term 'invitation to tender' is not interpreted in the regulations, 
the public sector's procurement requirements are derived from the Public Contracts 
Directive 2014 and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, which state: 

Invitations to candidates 

 

54.— 

(1) In restricted procedures, competitive dialogue procedures, 
innovation partnerships and competitive procedures with 
negotiation, contracting authorities shall simultaneously and in 
writing invite the selected candidates to submit their tenders or, 
in the case of a competitive dialogue, to take part in the 
dialogue. 

 

(3) The invitations required by paragraphs (1) and (2) shall— 

(a) include a reference to the electronic address at which the 
procurement documents have been made directly available by 
electronic means, and 

(b) be accompanied by the procurement documents, where 
those documents have not been the subject of unrestricted and 
full direct access, free of charge, for the reasons referred to in 
regulation 53(3) or (4) and have not already been made 
otherwise available. 

 

(4) The invitations required by paragraph (1) shall also contain 
at least the following 

information:— 

(a) a reference to the call for competition published; 

(b) the deadline for the receipt of the tenders, the address to 
which the tenders must be sent and the language or languages 
in which the tenders must be drawn up; 

(c) in the case of competitive dialogue, the date and the 
address set for the start of consultation and the language or 
languages to be used; 

(d) a reference to any documents to be submitted, either in 
support of verifiable declarations by the tenderer in accordance 
with regulations 59 and 60 and, where appropriate, 62 or to 
supplement the information referred to in those regulations, and 
under the conditions laid down in regulations 59, 60 and 62; 

(e) the relative weighting of criteria for the award of the contract 
or, where appropriate, the descending order of importance for 
such criteria, where they are not given in the contract notice, in 
the invitation to confirm interest, in the technical specifications 
or the descriptive document. 

4.17.15 Therefore, it is considered that an invitation to tender includes, amongst 
other things: 

 reference to the electronic location of the procurement documents; 
 the procurement documents themselves; 
 tendering process time-frame and relevant contact information; and 
 information on the criteria used by the awarding body. Page 165



60/106106  

 

   

4.17.16 It is considered that 'procurement documents' include any document 
produced or referred to by the contracting authority in order to describe or decide on 
elements of the procurement or regime, including: 

 the contract notice;  
 the prior information notice where it is used as a means of calling for 

competition;  
 the technical specification;  
 the descriptive document;  
 the proposed conditions of contract;  
 formats for the presentation of documents by candidates and tenderers; and 
 information on generally applicable obligations and any additional 

documentation.39 
 

Is there a threshold or minimum contract sum before the standards apply? 

4.17.17 No. The regulations do not provide a threshold nor minimum sum for the 
contract to which the tender relates. The standards apply to all invitations to tender 
published by the body.  

4.18 Raising awareness about Welsh language services 
provided by a body [standards 81-82] 

What are the requirements? 

4.18.1 These standards relates to raising awareness about Welsh language services 
provided by a body. 

Standard 81 

4.18.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 81, they must promote and 
advertise any Welsh language service that they provide, and do so in Welsh. 

Standard 82 

4.18.3 Where a body is required to comply with standard 82, they must ensure that any 
reference made by the body to a service in English also refers to the corresponding 
service in Welsh, if they provide such a service. 

What is a 'service in Welsh'? 

4.18.4 This term is neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations. However, the term 
is considered to encompass any service provided by a body in Welsh. 

4.18.5 Examples of services provided in Welsh may include the activities and services 
provided in line with the service delivery standards. This does not mean that the 
service has to be provided in Welsh only nor that the service has to be provided 
separately to the corresponding service in English. 

4.18.6 It should be noted that standards 157 and 169 set requirements which relates to 
ensuring that a body has arrangements in place to comply with this standard by 
promoting and facilitating the use of services offered by them under the service 
delivery and operational standards. 

 

                                            
39

 The Commissioner's interpretation is in line with the term “procurement document” found in the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015. 

Page 166

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/contents/made


61/106106  

 

   

What is meant by the terms 'promoting' and 'advertising'? 

4.18.7 Standard 81 requires a body to promote and advertise any Welsh language service 
that they provide, and do so in Welsh. These terms are neither interpreted nor 
explained in the regulations in this regard. However, it is considered that these 
terms correspond to a body actively promoting and/or raising awareness by 
highlighting the fact that a Welsh language service is available and encouraging use 
of that service. 

4.18.8 The following are possible examples of compliance: 

 a body actively informing persons that a service they provide is available 
in Welsh, where they are not required to do so under another standard, 
and where that person has not asked for the service in Welsh;  

 a body encouraging persons via methods such as social media or 
advertising material to use Welsh when receiving or using their services; 

 a body using Working Welsh material to highlight the availability of a 
Welsh language service; 

 publishing and sharing information on some or all of the services offered 
by the body in Welsh via a leaflet, web page, social media, signs, 
advertisements etc. 

 where a body has a Welsh social media account which corresponds to an 
English account, state clearly on the English account that a Welsh 
account is also available and provide a direct link to the Welsh account 
on the corresponding English account; 

 using a splash welcome screen for the purpose of offering a clear 
language choice, in order to ensure that the body makes an active offer to 
users to use the Welsh language before accessing the website's services 
or self service machine. 

 using the Welsh language as the default language when providing 
services in order to promote and highlight the Welsh language service, 
where they are not required to do so under another standard, and where 
the person has not asked for the service in Welsh (e.g. begin every 
conversation in Welsh over the telephone or face-to-face); 

 ensuring that the users' journey to using services in Welsh is of the same 
standard and quality as the service in English; or 

 ensuring that Welsh language services are given prominence, are easily 
accessible, are actively promoted and are consistently available. 

4.19 A body’s corporate identity [standard 83] 

What are the requirements? 

4.19.1 This standard requires a body to ensure that they do not treat the Welsh language 
less favourably than the English language when forming, revising or presenting their 
corporate identity.  

What is 'corporate identity'? 

4.19.2 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraphs 43 and 45 of the regulations states: 

 

 

 

Page 167



62/106106  

 

   

(1) For the purposes of standard 83, the reference to a body 
presenting its “corporate identity” includes, amongst other 
things, the way a body presents itself by means of visual 
statements, the name or names used by a body, and a 
body’s branding and slogans (for example,  branding and 
slogans printed on its stationery). 

(2) Standard 83 does not apply to the extent that an enactment 
requires a body to use a legal name.  

 

For the purposes of the standards “enactment” means an 
enactment  (whenever enacted or made) comprised in, or in an 
instrument made under– 
(a) an Act of Parliament; or 
(b) a Measure or an Act of the National Assembly for Wales. 

4.19.3 It is also considered that "corporate identity" include an address, logo, visual identity 
and any other standard information belonging to the body used on their material 
and products (such as headed paper, social media account profile, business cards, 
ID badges, exhibition and publications), and in other circumstances such as signs, 
vehicles and buildings. It can also include acronyms of a name or names used by a 
body.  

What is meant by the terms 'form', 'revise' and 'present'? 

4.19.4 These terms are neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations. However, it is 
considered that the terms 'form' and 'present' have the same meaning as if 
corporate identity was created, generated or published by a body. This standard 
would therefore apply to corporate identity formed or presented from the imposition 
day onwards and also to that formed or produced before the imposition day to the 
extent that the corporate identity continues to be 'live' and 'current'. 

4.19.5 A body would 'revise' their corporate identity if they make any change to that identity 
from the imposition day onwards. 

4.19.6 The standard applies to corporate identity formed, revised or presented in any other 
medium too, such as a sign, website or document. All other aspects of these 
mediums are subject to their own relevant standards.  

What is meant by the term 'must not treat the Welsh language version less 
favourably than the English language version'?  

4.19.7 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraph 29 of the regulations states: 

Where a standard refers to material that is to be produced in 
Welsh (with the exception of standards 52 to 57 (websites and 
apps), 58 and 59 (social media) and 76 (invitations to tender)), 
references to treating the Welsh language no less favourably 
than the English language, or to treating a Welsh language 
version no less favourably than an English language version, 
include, amongst other matters (and in addition to specific 
matters referred to in any individual standard), treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably as regards– 
(a) the visual presentation of material (for example in relation to 
the colour or font of any text); 

Page 168



63/106106  

 

   

(b) the size of the material; 
(c) the position and prominence of the material in any public 
place; 
(ch) when and how the material is published, provided or 
exhibited; 
(d) the publication format of material.  

4.19.8 ‘Other matters’ may include treating the Welsh language no less favourably as 
regards: 

 the standard and quality of the material; 
 the clarity and accuracy of the material (for example in terms of the meaning 

and expression of any text);  
 the content of the material (for example in terms of the detail and quality of 

the information it contains). 

 

4.19.9 The standard does not therefore prevent a body from being able to provide 
separate Welsh and English versions of their corporate identity to the extent that the 
Welsh language version is treated no less favourable than the English language 
version.  

4.19.10 Where a body presents their corporate identity on bilingual material (that is 
where Welsh and English versions are included in the same material) then a body 
would not treat the Welsh language less favourably than the English language by 
presenting a Welsh language identity only on a Welsh language version of that 
material and an English language identity only on an English language version of 
the material. 

4.19.11 Where a body presents their corporate identity on separate Welsh and/or 
English material (that is where Welsh and English versions are included on different 
materials), a body must present their corporate identity in Welsh on the English 
language version as well as the Welsh language version. 

4.19.12 The standard does not create a requirement regarding the order of 
languages in corporate identity.  

4.20 Courses offered by a body [standards 84-86] 

What are the requirements? 

4.20.1 The above standards require a body to ensure that education courses open to the 
public are offered in Welsh. There is also provision for assessing the need for any 
education course developed for the public to be offered in Welsh and publishing 
that assessment on the body's website. 

Standard 84 

4.20.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 84, if they offer an education 
course that is open to the public, they must offer it in Welsh. 

Standard 85 

4.20.3 Where a body is required to comply with standard 85, if they offer an education 
course that is open to the public, and which is aimed specifically at persons aged 18 
or under, they must offer that course in Welsh. For example, this may include 
education courses aimed at primary or secondary school pupils. 

 
Page 169



64/106106  

 

   

Standard 86 

4.20.4 Where a body is required to comply with standard 86, if they develop an education 
course that is to be offered to the public, they must assess the need for that course 
to be offered in Welsh as well as ensure that the assessment is published on their 
website. 

What is meant by the term 'education course'?  

4.20.5 Schedule 1, Part 3, Paragraphs 44 and 45 of the regulations states: 

For the purposes of standards 84, 85 and 86 (courses), an 
“education course” means any seminar, training, workshop or 
similar provision which is provided in order to educate or to 
improve the skills of members of the public; but does not 
include activities or courses provided as part of the curriculum 
in accordance with any enactment. 

 

For the purposes of the standards “enactment” means an 
enactment  (whenever enacted or made) comprised in, or in an 
instrument made under— 

(a) an Act of Parliament; or 

(b) a Measure or an Act of the National Assembly for Wales. 

4.20.6 Reference is made to the words 'seminar', 'training', 'workshop' and 'similar 
provision' in their singular form in the regulations suggesting that one lesson may be 
enough to correspond to the interpretation of a course. However, a 'course' may 
also be a series of events.  

4.20.7 The requirements of standard 84 also extend to courses aimed specifically at 
persons aged 18 or under. 

What is meant by the term 'offer it in Welsh'? 

4.20.8 This term is neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations. However, a body 
would be considered to 'offer' an education course when they make it known (for 
example, in a prospectus or on a website) that an education course is available and 
will be delivered in Welsh, and that persons can attend or apply for a place or enrol 
on that education course if they so wish. 

4.20.9 If a person accepts the offer, the body is expected to act on that offer by delivering 
the course in Welsh or taking steps to ensure that this happens. That is, the 
Commissioner does not expect a body to deliver a course in Welsh if nobody 
accepts the offer for the course to be delivered in Welsh. Furthermore, the standard 
does not prevent a body from offering a course in Welsh and English at the same 
time. 

4.20.10 Some courses may be ones where it would not be appropriate for them to be 
delivered in Welsh via translation services. Such an example could include the 
provision of simultaneous translation during practical activities where it would not be 
safe to use translation equipment on health and safety grounds. However, some 
other courses, such as a course delivered in a traditional classroom setting, may be 
ones which could be delivered with the use of translation services, if it is not 
possible to do so without a translation service. 

Would delivery of a course in Welsh in a different location to the corresponding 
course in English comply with the standards in question?  Page 170



65/106106  

 

   

4.20.11 The Commissioner does not consider that the standard requires a body to 
deliver a course in Welsh in the same location as the corresponding course 
delivered in English. However, the Commissioner does not consider that a person 
should have to travel further in order to attend a course in Welsh compared with the 
distance travelled for the course in English. A body may refer to their own 
performance targets, which may identify the maximum distance deemed 
acceptable, in the body's opinion and based on statutory requirements, for a person 
to have to travel in order to attend a specific course.  

Would delivery of a course in Welsh at different times and on different dates to the 
corresponding course in English comply with the standards in question?  

4.20.12 The standard does not require a body to deliver a course in Welsh on the 
same dates and at the same times as a course delivered in English. However, a 
body is expected to deliver courses in Welsh on days and at times which would not 
disadvantage attendees on a course in Welsh. 

4.20.13 A body may ensure that the timetable for courses in Welsh means that the 
course is equally accessible and convenient for users to attend the course in Welsh 
as to attend the course in English. For example, it could be ensured that Welsh 
language courses are delivered when public transport is available to travel to them, 
or that Welsh language courses are delivered across a wide range of days and 
times such as before and after working hours, on weekends and during the week. 

Does a body have to deliver a course in Welsh the same number of times as a 
corresponding course in English in order to comply with the standards in question?  

4.20.14 No. However, a body is expected to ensure that there is a sufficient number 
of Welsh language courses available which would ensure that nobody is at a 
disadvantage if they choose to attend a course in Welsh rather than a course in 
English.  

Some courses are delivered at different levels. Would delivery of a course in Welsh 
at certain levels only, but not for other levels, comply with the standards in 
question? 

4.20.15 No. A body must offer a course in Welsh at all levels if that is done in another 
language. The requirements of the standard mean that any course offered by a 
body must be offered in Welsh. 

What is meant by the term 'develop an education course'? 

4.20.16 This term is neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations. However, to 
'develop an education course' is considered an activity which may occur in 
arranging for a new course to be offered, and also in adapting an existing course, to 
be offered again at a future date, after the imposition day. Standard 86 does not 
apply in the case of a course already being offered before the imposition day and 
where no changes or developments are made in relation to that course.  

What is meant by the term 'need'? Does it equate to demand? 

4.20.17 This term is neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations. However, 
the level of demand for a course is one aspect which should be considered when 
assessing the need for it. However, the concept of 'need' is broader, and demand is 
more likely to fluctuate over time than need. As a result, other factors, apart from 
demand, should be considered when assessing the need. 

 

Page 171



66/106106  

 

   

4.20.18 Amongst those other factors, consideration should be given to the level of 
existing Welsh language provision, the body's responsibility to promote and 
facilitate the use of Welsh, the body's own corporate objectives and targets in 
relation to the activity, and also the demographic and geographic nature of the area.  

What is required to 'assess the need' and when should the assessment take place? 

4.20.19 The standard requires a body to publish the assessment on their website 
which suggests that a written record of the assessment is needed. Beyond that, 
neither the standards nor regulations provide explicit guidance on the content or 
format of the assessment. However, as the assessment is a public document, it 
should be user-friendly, explain the reasoning behind offering a course in Welsh or 
not, identify the factors considered and include clear and specific evidence to 
support the finding. 

4.20.20 Standard 86 states when exactly an assessment should be undertaken in 
relation to a course being developed by a body. That may happen either during the 
process of developing the course, or shortly before or after that. It is a matter for the 
body to undertake the assessment at the point where they have information on the 
need, and when it is possible to adapt provision to correspond with the outcome of 
the assessment (whatever that may be).  

4.21 Public address systems used by a body [standard 87] 

What are the requirements? 

4.21.1 This standard requires a body to ensure that all messages announced over a public 
address system are made in Welsh and, if the message is also announced in 
English, the announcement must be made in Welsh first. 

What is meant by the term 'announce a message over a public address system'? 

4.21.2 This term is neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations. However, this term 
is considered to include any public announcement made by the body, for the 
attention of the public, using audio equipment. Any announcements made in the 
workplace are subject to standard 144. These may include, for example, public 
announcements made in the workplace e.g. a message instructing everyone in the 
building to leave in an emergency. In such cases, the two standards will be 
relevant. 

4.21.3 Examples of announcements which would apply to this standard may include: 

 announcements in public lifts in the body's buildings; 
 loudspeaker messages at a public event or meeting; or 
 loudspeaker messages in the body's buildings, such as a message 

instructing members of the public to come to the reception. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 172



67/106106  

 

   

5 Policy making standards (88-97) 

5.1 Standards relating to considering the effects of a body’s 
policy decisions on the Welsh language [standards 88-97] 

What are the requirements? 

5.1.1 The policy making standards relate to ways in which the body considers the effects 
of its policy decisions on the Welsh language. 

5.1.2 The Measure provides that a “policy making standard” means a standard that 
relates to a policy decision, and is intended to secure, or to contribute to securing, 
that the person making the policy decision considers one or more of the following– 

(a) what effects, if any, (whether positive or adverse) the policy decision 
would have on opportunities for other persons to use the Welsh 
language, or treating the Welsh language no less favourably than the 
English language;  

(b) how the decision could be taken so that it would have positive effects, or 
increased positive effects, on opportunities for other persons to use the 
Welsh language, or treating the Welsh language no less favourably than 
the English language;  

(c) how the decision could be taken so that it would not have adverse effects, 
or so that it would have decreased adverse effects, on opportunities for 
other persons to use the Welsh language, or treating the Welsh language 
no less favourably than the English language.40 

5.1.3 The policy making standards include requirements for a body to secure, or to 
contribute to securing, that the person making the policy decision considers what is 
listed in a-c above when undertaking the following activities: 

 when formulating, or reviewing or revising an existing policy (standards 
88-90); 

 when publishing a consultation document which relates to a policy 
decision under consideration (standards 91-93); 

 when producing and publishing a policy on awarding grants or when 
amending an existing policy (standard 94); 

 when commissioning or undertaking research that is intended to assist a 
body to make policy decisions (standards 95-97). 

Standard 88 
5.1.4 Standard 88 requires a body to consider what effects, if any, a policy decision would 

have on opportunities for persons to use the Welsh language, and treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably than the English language, be they positive or 
adverse effects.  

How should effects on the Welsh language be assessed? 
5.1.5 A body will need to consider and note all the possible effects a policy decision may 

have on opportunities for persons to use the Welsh language, or treating the Welsh 
language no less favourably than the English language. In order to do that, a body 
must consider relevant evidence in order to understand the likely or actual effect of 
policy decisions on the Welsh language. 

                                            
40

  Section 29 of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 
Page 173

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/1/section/29/enacted/english


68/106106  

 

   

5.1.6 The first step in facilitating an effective assessment would be to gather information 
on the proposed policy decision. The information which could be gathered at this 
stage include the following:  
 project aims and objectives  
 the nature of the activity  
 who will benefit from the initiative / target groups  
 results / outcomes  
 partners  
 the scheme's life expectancy / when will it be revised  
 responsibility for the policy  
 relevant data or research on the subject  
 consultation arrangements  
 monitoring and assessment arrangements. 

5.1.7 Furthermore, the following factors may be ones to consider when assessing the 
effect of policy decisions and the body will have a duty to decide which matters to 
consider when examining the nature of the policy in question: 

 Will the service, policy, strategy or project affect the number or 
percentage of people able to speak Welsh (or any other skill)? 

 Will the service, policy, strategy or project affect the number or 
percentage of people able to use Welsh? 

 Will the service, policy, strategy or project be undertaken in Welsh?  
 Will it protect, promote and enrich the heritage and culture of the area in 

question in relation to the Welsh language?  

5.1.8 This also includes:  
 noting any positive effects on the Welsh language;  
 noting any adverse effects on the Welsh language; 
 considering how the policy or practise could facilitate opportunities for 

persons to use the Welsh language more widely; and  
 considering whether the policy will have an effect on treating the Welsh 

language less favourably than the English language. 

5.1.9 Below are examples of relevant questions which could be considered when 
examining any positive or adverse effects from policy decisions. Please note that 
these are only examples.  

Positive effects Adverse effects  

 Would the policy decision increase 
the number of Welsh speakers 
moving from / to a certain area? 

 Would the policy decision be likely 
to make the Welsh language more 
visible? 

 Would the policy decision propose 
steps likely to protect the Welsh 
language in a certain area? 

 Would the policy decision lead to 
an increase in the number of posts 
requiring Welsh language skills? 
 
 
 
 
 

 Would the policy decision 
decrease the number of Welsh 
speakers moving from / to a 
certain area? 

 Is there a risk that the policy 
decision would discriminate 
against Welsh language users? 

 Would the policy decision lead to 
a fall in the number of posts 
requiring Welsh language skills?  

 Would the policy decision lead to 
closing specific Welsh language 
services or put those services at 
risk? 
 
 
 Page 174



69/106106  

 

   

 
 Would the policy decision lead to 

an increase in specific Welsh 
language services or ensure that 
those services have successful 
futures? 

 Would the policy decision 
encourage / facilitate the 
recruitment of Welsh language 
speakers?  

 Would the policy decision ensure 
the sustainability of areas where 
the Welsh language is engrained 
in those communities?  

 Would the policy decision facilitate 
travel in order to access Welsh 
language services?  

 Would the policy decision provide 
users with the active choice of a 
service in Welsh? 

 Would the policy decision lead to 
an increase in the number of 
Welsh learners?  

 Would the policy decision take 
steps to promote and facilitate the 
Welsh language? 

 Would the policy decision 
contribute to national Welsh 
language strategies and in specific 
policy areas (e.g. the Cymraeg 
2050 strategy; More than just 
words; Welsh in Education 
Strategic Plans)? 

 Would the policy decision 
contribute to ensuring the 
continuation and growth of the 
Welsh language as a family, 
community, or workplace 
language? 
 

 
 Would the policy decision make it 

harder to recruit Welsh speakers? 
 Would the policy decision risk the 

sustainability of areas where the 
Welsh language is engrained in 
those communities?  

 Would the policy decision make it 
harder to travel to access Welsh 
language services?  

 Would the policy decision lead to 
a reduction in the number of 
Welsh learners?  

 Would the policy decision limit the 
accessibility of and access to 
Welsh language services?   

 

 
Standards 89 and 90 
5.1.10 Having considered all of the effects identified in accordance with standard 88, a 

body must give due consideration to the outcomes of such an effect. Standard 89 
requires a body to consider how a policy can be formulated (or how an existing 
policy can be changed) so that the policy decision would have positive effects, or 
increased positive effects, on opportunities for persons to use the Welsh language, 
and treating the Welsh language no less favourably than the English language. 

5.1.11 Standard 90 requires a body to consider how a policy can be formulated (or how an 
existing policy can be changed) so that the policy decision would not have adverse 
effects, or so that it would have decreased adverse effects, on opportunities for 
persons to use the Welsh language, and treating the Welsh language no less 
favourably than the English language.  

Page 175



70/106106  

 

   

5.1.12 A body should consider any options to mitigate or prevent adverse effects which a 
policy decision may have on the Welsh language. Consideration should also be 
given to the options in terms of ensuring positive effects, or increased positive 
effects, on opportunities for persons to use the Welsh language, and treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably than the English language. This will vary in line 
with the nature of the policy decision. Below are examples of some factors which a 
body may consider in order to do so: 

 need and demand – is the measure necessary? Would it be possible to 
meet demand without any new developments? Would it be possible to 
use another existing provision?  

 approach and process – how should it happen? Have Welsh language 
benefits been planned as part of the process? Is it possible to employ 
different/less damaging approaches? Factors such as technology and 
planning should be considered in order to ensure that processes support 
bilingualism rather than preventing it. 

 location – where should the development be situated/what is the 
geographic influence of the policy? Such considerations are crucial to the 
future of Welsh language communities. Developments should be 
sensitive to the needs of such communities and there should be an 
understanding of the linguistic profile of communities and areas. The 
location of other relevant services should also be considered – e.g. local 
Welsh medium schools etc.  

 timing – when and in what order should developments take place? The 
scale of development is also important in some areas and negative 
effects can be reduced, for example by extending the development work 
over a period of time. 

Standards 91-93 
5.1.13 These standards are a means to ensure that a body's consultation documents 

which relate to a policy decision consider and seek views from persons on the 
potential effects that the decision will have on the Welsh language and opportunities 
to use it. 

5.1.14 Where a body is required to comply with these standards, they must include specific 
questions in the consultation document which ask for a response. A body should 
give due consideration to any information gathered during this process when 
making the policy decision, so that the body would act on any outcomes from the 
consultation. 

5.1.15 A body may use information gathered in accordance with these standards to help 
them comply with standards 88-90.   

Standard 94 

5.1.16 Where a body is required to comply with standard 94, they must produce  (or 
amend) and publish a policy on awarding grants which requires them  to take the 
following matters into account when making decisions in relation to the awarding of 
a grant:  

 what effects, if any (and whether positive or negative), the awarding of a 
grant would have on opportunities for persons to use the Welsh 
language, and treating the Welsh language no less favourably than the 
English language; 
 
 

Page 176



71/106106  

 

   

 how the decision could be taken or implemented (for example, by 
imposing conditions of grant) so that it would have positive effects, 
increased positive effects, or so that it would not have adverse effects, or 
so that it would have decreased adverse effects on opportunities for 
persons to use the Welsh language, and treating the Welsh language no 
less favourably than the English language; and 

 whether they need to ask the applicant for any additional information in 
order to assist them in assessing the effects of awarding a grant on 
opportunities for persons to use the Welsh language, and treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably than the English language. 

5.1.17 This standard applies to any grant awarded by a body to a person for specific 
purposes. The policy on awarding grants which the body is required to produce and 
publish under this standard should be considered alongside standards 71-75, 
namely the standards relating to a body awarding grants. A body may incorporate 
the requirements of the standards relating to a body awarding grants which the 
body is subject to in the policy on awarding grants. 

Standards 95-97 

5.1.18 These standards are a means to ensure that any research undertaken by a body or 
commissioned by them to assist in making a policy decision considers and 
addresses specifically the effects which the decision will have on the Welsh 
language and opportunities to use it.  

5.1.19 A body should give due consideration to any information gathered during this 
process when making the policy decision, so that the body acts on any outcomes 
from that research. 

5.1.20 A body may use information gathered in accordance with these standards to help 
them comply with standards 88-90.   

What is a 'policy decision’?  
5.1.21 Schedule 2, Part 2, Paragraph 2 of the regulations states: 

A "policy decision" means any decision made by a body about 
the exercise of its functions or about the conduct of its business 
or other undertaking, and it includes, amongst other things (and 
as appropriate to the body), decisions about – 
(a) the content of legislation; 
(b) the exercise of statutory powers 
(c) the content of policy statements; 
(ch) strategies or strategic plans; 
(d) internal structures. 

5.1.22 Other examples of policy decisions may include decisions on: 

 the location of offices and buildings; 
 the recruitment or use of volunteers; 
 education provision; 
 local development plans; 
 awarding funding or financial support; 
 the content of criteria; 
 holding events; 
 governance arrangements; 

 
 

Page 177



72/106106  

 

   

 partnerships; 
 the naming of streets or properties; or 
 services provided.  

5.1.23 The policy making standards apply to any policy decision which affects a person(s) 
in Wales. 

5.1.24 The standards apply to decisions affecting members of staff as well as other 
persons.  

When should consideration be given to the effects of a policy decision on the Welsh 
language and opportunities to use it?  
5.1.25 A number of the policy making standards state that compliance with the standards 

is required when a body produces a new policy, or reviews or revises an existing 
one. Bearing that in mind, consideration of the effect of policy decisions on the 
Welsh language should be a fundamental part of producing, reviewing or revising 
policies from the outset. This should be undertaken before the final policy decision 
is made. 

5.1.26 When reviewing or revising existing policies, the associated effects must be 
considered anew. In such a situation, a body cannot rely on an assessment 
undertaken in the past regarding the same policy decision or similar policy decision.  

Can a body consider the effects of a policy decision on the Welsh language and 
opportunities to use it when considering other effects such as an equality impact 
assessment process? 
5.1.27 The regulations do not prevent a body from complying with the policy making 

standards by including consideration of the effects of a policy decision on the Welsh 
language within other considerations. A body may include this assessment within 
an equality impact assessment process as long as all aspects of the standards are 
considered and met in the process. However, there may be examples of areas 
where a specific and detailed assessment of the effect on the Welsh language 
would be more suitable than an integrated impact assessment (e.g. school 
reorganisation or the opening of a school). 

What is meant by the terms 'positive effect' or 'adverse effect'?  
5.1.28 Schedule 2, Part 2, Paragraph 3 of the regulations states: 

A reference to positive or adverse effects is a reference to such 
effects whether direct or indirect. 

 

What form should the assessment take? 
5.1.29 The regulations do not stipulate what form an assessment should take where a 

standard refers to the need to consider the effects of policy decisions. However, 
standard 150 creates a requirement for a body to keep a record of the steps taken 
in order to ensure compliance with the policy making standards with which they are 
under a duty to comply. 

5.1.30 The body should be able to provide sufficient evidence that they have considered 
the effects of policy decisions in accordance with the policy making standards in 
order to meet the requirements of standard 150. That may happen in different ways 
such as discussions in meetings, a written assessment or by commissioning 
research. See clause 7.1.6 for further information on the associated records that 
should be kept. 

 Page 178



73/106106  

 

   

6 Operational standards (98-144) 

6.1 Standards relating to the use of the Welsh language within 
a body’s internal administration [standard 98] 

What are the requirements? 

6.1.1 This standard requires a body to develop a policy outlining how they will promote 
and facilitate the use of the Welsh language internally amongst their staff. The 
standard also places requirements in relation to publishing the policy on the body's 
intranet. 

6.1.2 The regulations do not determine the length and breadth of the policy but it is 
reasonable to expect it to: 
 reflect the size of the body; 
 be suited to each of the body's services/departments/units/teams and nature 

of work;  
 be understood by the entire workforce; 
 achieve the aim of promoting and facilitating the use of the Welsh language 

internally amongst staff; 
 provide details on the review period; 
 consider the need to consult on the content. 

 

6.1.3 In addition, in order to promote and facilitate the use of the Welsh language 
internally, the policy should not lead to a reduction in the current use of Welsh 
internally within the workplace. 

What should the policy include? 

6.1.4 The regulations do not explain or expand on what a body must include as part of 
the policy. However, a policy is not expected to be limited to the operational 
standards with which a body must comply. 

6.1.5 The policy may deal with the following matters: 
 a statement on the body's administrative language(s) (either on an 

organisational level or based on department or location) as well as any steps 
to be taken in order to increase the use of Welsh in terms of administration; 

 a statement on the language used with bodies who have a duty to provide 
services to the body in Welsh (e.g. in accordance with the Welsh language 
standards). 

 a statement which recognises the law which provides the freedom to use 
Welsh and the status of the Welsh language as noted in the Measure; 

 an explanation of the kinds of activities and services which a body's 
members of staff may receive in Welsh; 

 a description of the plans and activities which a body will provide or plans to 
provide in order to promote and facilitate the use of Welsh amongst staff; 

 statements on the kinds of communications undertaken in Welsh only and 
those undertaken bilingually; 

 a policy statement on the order of languages in bilingual items e.g. 
documents, emails;  
 
 
 

Page 179



74/106106  

 

   

 a description of the support (be it software, apps, officers or training) 
available to non-Welsh speaking members of staff in order to allow them to 
understand some Welsh messages or phrases and how they can respond to 
Welsh language correspondence or produce their own Welsh language 
correspondence; 

 a description of any commitments which go beyond what a body is already 
under a duty to comply with in accordance with the operational standards 
(e.g. use of Welsh in internal meetings; on internal systems; in internal 
correspondence or over the telephone; note that the Welsh language skills of 
members of staff reach a certain level within a specified period); 

 a statement on how the body will comply with the operational standards with 
which they are under a duty to comply (standard 169). 

6.2 Standards relating to the use of the Welsh language within 
a body’s internal administration [standards 99-104] 

What are the requirements? 

6.2.1 These standards require a body to ask each individual or employee whether they 
wish to receive certain kinds of documents in Welsh and, if so, provide them in 
Welsh.  

Standard 99 

6.2.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 99, they must ask an individual 
who is offered a new post whether they wish their contract of employment or 
contract for services to be provided in Welsh. The body must provide the contract in 
Welsh if the individual so wishes. 

6.2.3 This standard applies to any individual offered a new post from the imposition day 
onwards. That may include individuals already working for the body but who are 
offered a different position or on a different basis by the body. The body must ask 
the individual what their wishes are before the contract is provided. 

Standards 100-104 

6.2.4 Where a body is required to comply with one or more of standards 100-104, they 
must ask each individual41 whether they would like to receive the following in Welsh: 

 any paper correspondence that relates to his or her employment, and 
which is addressed to him or her personally, such as a pay slip (standard 
100); 

 any documents that outline training needs or requirements (standard 
101); 

 any documents that outline his or her performance objectives (standard 
102); 

 any documents that outline or record his or her career plan (standard 
103); 

 any forms which record and authorise annual leave, absences from work 
and flexible working hours (standard 104). 

6.2.5 The body must provide any such documents or forms in Welsh if the employee so 
wishes. The body may provide the documents or forms in any format, be that as a 
hard copy or electronic form. Similarly, a body may present them as part of a pack 
or as individual documents or forms. They do not have to be in the same format as 
a corresponding English language version. 

                                            
41

 See section 3.1.11 – 3.1.12 of this code for an interpretation of the meaning of the term 'employee'. 
Page 180



75/106106  

 

   

6.2.6 Furthermore, these standards mean that a body must actively ask each employee, 
from the imposition day onwards, about their wishes in relation to the above. 

6.3 Standards relating to the use of the Welsh language within 
a body’s internal administration [standards 105-111] 

What are the requirements? 

6.3.1 These standards require a body to publish certain internal policies in Welsh. Those 
policies include policies relating to: 

 behaviour in the workplace (standard 105); 
 health and well-being at work (standard 106); 
 salaries or workplace benefits (standard 107); 
 performance management (standard 108); 
 absence from work (standard 109); 
 working conditions (standard 110); 
 working patterns (standard 111). 

6.3.2 The term 'policy' in the context of standards 105-111 includes any document which 
outlines the way in which the body will operate in the context of the above. This may 
include a specific policy document or any guidance or procedures which are related 
to that policy.  

What is meant by the term 'publish' in this context? 

6.3.3 This term is neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations. However, the term 
'publish' in the context of these standards is considered to mean that the body 
ensures that the relevant policies are available to staff. 

6.3.4 They may be policies published on the body's intranet only and not available as a 
hard copy. However, such circumstances do not affect a body's duty to comply with 
these standards.  

What if a body has a policy already in force before the imposition day? 

6.3.5 Where a body has already published such a policy before the imposition day, and 
that policy continues to be 'live' and 'current', they are expected to ensure that a 
Welsh language version of that policy is available to staff from the imposition day 
onwards. 

6.3.6 Unlike the requirements outlined in standards 99-104, a body does not have to ask 
every member of staff if they wish to receive these policies in Welsh before their 
publication. The expectation is that each employee will have access to a Welsh 
language version of the policy as default. 

Does the body have to publish the policies individually?  

6.3.7 Although the requirements to publish certain internal policies in Welsh have been 
determined in individual standards, the regulations do not prevent a body from 
publishing these policies separately, nor as a combined document e.g. staff 
handbook or employment procedure produced by the body.  

 

 

Page 181



76/106106  

 

   

6.4 Standards relating to complaints made by a member of a 
body’s staff [standards 112-115] 

What is the requirement? 

6.4.1 These standards require a body to allow each member of staff to engage with the 
body in Welsh in relation to the complaints process.  

Standard 112 

6.4.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 112, they must allow each 
member of staff to make complaints to them in Welsh and respond to a complaint 
made about him or her in Welsh.  Allowing staff to make complaints to a body in 
Welsh includes allowing staff to complain orally or in writing in Welsh as well as 
present written material relevant to the complaint in Welsh (e.g. evidence), without 
the need for the member of staff to translate it to another language. 

Standard 112A 

6.4.3 Where a body is required to comply with standard 112A, they must state in any 
document that they have that sets out their procedures for making complaints that 
each member of staff may make a complaint to them in Welsh and that they can 
respond to a complaint made about him or her in Welsh.   

6.4.4 A body may already have a policy or procedure which outlines the internal 
complaints process. A body may comply with this standard by revising that policy to 
include a statement which highlights the rights of members of staff. A body may 
also comply with the standard by including a statement to that effect in a new policy 
or procedure. The statement is expected to be available in any relevant document 
from the imposition day onwards. 

Standard 113 

6.4.5 Where a body is required to comply with standard 113, and a meeting is required 
with a member of staff relating to a complaint received by them or a complaint made 
about them, the body must offer to conduct that meeting in Welsh. The body must 
conduct the meeting in Welsh without the assistance of a translation service if the 
member of staff has noted that this is their wish.  

Standard 114 

6.4.6 Where a body is required to comply with standard 114, and that a meeting is 
required with a member of staff relating to a complaint received by them or a 
complaint made about them, the body must ask the member of staff whether he or 
she wishes to use the Welsh language at the meeting and explain that they will use 
a translation service from Welsh to English for that purpose if they so wish. The 
body must provide a simultaneous translation service for that purpose if the 
member of staff has noted that this is their wish, and if it not possible to conduct the 
meeting in Welsh without a translation service.  

Standard 115 

6.4.7 Where a body is required to comply with standard 115, and when they inform a 
member of staff of a decision they have reached in relation to a complaint made by 
him or by her, or in relation to a complaint made about him or about her, they must 
do so in Welsh if one or more of the following applies—  

 where the member of staff has made the complaint in Welsh; 
 where the member of staff has responded in Welsh to a complaint about 

him or about her; Page 182



77/106106  

 

   

 where a member of staff has asked for a meeting about the complaint to 
be conducted in Welsh; or 

 where the member of staff has asked to use Welsh in a meeting about 
the complaint. 

6.4.8 The requirements of this standard include any method in which a body informs a 
member of staff of their decision. This may include informing a member of staff 
orally, face-to-face or in writing. 

6.4.9 Not all of the conditions in clause 6.4.7 have to be satisfied in order to require a 
body to inform a member of staff of their decision about a complaint in Welsh. The 
standard applies where one or more of them have been satisfied.  

To whom do these standards apply? 

6.4.10 Standards 112-115 apply to all members of staff. See clauses 3.1.10 – 3.1.15 of 
this code for an interpretation of the meaning of this term. 

6.4.11 Standards 112-115 only apply to members of staff who make a complaint or who 
are the subject of a complaint. If there are others involved in the process – for 
example an union representative, HR officer, line manager or witness – they do not 
have to be offered a meeting in Welsh under these standards (but other standards 
may apply). 

6.5  Standards relating to a body disciplining staff [standards 
116-119] 

What are the requirements? 

6.5.1 These standards require a body to allow all members of staff to engage with the 
body in Welsh in relation to the internal disciplinary process.  

Standard 116 

6.5.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 116, they must allow each 
member of staff to respond in Welsh to any allegations made against them in any 
internal disciplinary process. Allowing staff to respond in Welsh includes allowing 
staff to complain orally or in writing in Welsh as well as present written material 
relevant to the allegations in Welsh (e.g. evidence), without the need for the 
member of staff to translate it to another language. 

Standard 116A 

6.5.3 Where a body is required to comply with standard 116A, they must state in any 
document that they have which sets out their procedures for disciplining staff that 
any member of staff may respond in Welsh to any allegations made against them. 
They must also inform members of staff of that right if they commence a      
disciplinary procedure in relation to them. 

6.5.4 A body may already have a policy or procedure which outlines the arrangements for 
disciplining staff. A body may comply with this standard by revising that policy to 
include a statement which highlights the rights of members of staff. A body may 
also comply with the standard by including a statement to that effect in a new policy 
or procedure. The statement is expected to be available in any relevant document 
from the imposition day onwards. 

 

 Page 183



78/106106  

 

   

Standard 117 

6.5.5 Where a body is required to comply with standard 117, and a meeting is required 
with a member of staff regarding a disciplinary matter relating to his or her conduct, 
they must offer to conduct that meeting in Welsh.  The body must conduct the 
meeting in Welsh without the assistance of a translation service if the member of 
staff has noted that this is their wish. 

Standard 118 

6.5.6 Where a body is required to comply with standard 118, and a meeting is required 
with a member of staff regarding a disciplinary matter relating to his or her conduct, 
the body must ask the member of staff whether he or she wishes to use Welsh at 
the meeting and explain that they will use a translation service from Welsh to 
English for that purpose if they so wish.  The body must provide a simultaneous 
translation service for that purpose if the member of staff has noted that this is their 
wish, and if it not possible to conduct the meeting in Welsh without a translation 
service.  

Standard 119 

6.5.7 Where a body is required to comply with standard 119, and when they inform a 
member of staff of a decision they have reached following a disciplinary process, 
they must do so in Welsh if one or more of the following applies: 

 where the member of staff has responded to allegations made against 
him or her in Welsh; 

 where a member of staff has asked for a meeting regarding the 
disciplinary process to be conducted in Welsh; or 

 where the member of staff has asked to use Welsh in a meeting 
regarding the disciplinary process. 

 

6.5.8 The requirements of this standard include any method in which a body informs a 
member of staff of their decision. This may include informing a member of staff 
orally, face-to-face or in writing. 

6.5.9 Not all of the conditions in clause 6.5.7 have to be satisfied in order to require a 
body to inform a member of staff of their decision regarding a disciplinary process in 
Welsh. The standard applies where one or more of them have been satisfied.  

To whom do these standards apply? 

6.5.10 Standards 116-119 apply to all members of staff. See clauses 3.1.10 – 3.1.15 of 
this code for an interpretation of the meaning of this term. 

6.5.11 Standards 116-119 only apply to members of staff who have allegations made 
against them. If there are others involved in the process – for example an union 
representative, HR officer, line manager or witness – they do not have to be offered 
a meeting in Welsh under these standards (but other standards may apply). 

6.6 Standards relating to a body’s information technology and 
about support material provided by a body [standard 120] 

What are the requirements? 

6.6.1 This standard requires a body to provide staff with computer software for checking 
spelling and grammar in Welsh, and provide Welsh language interfaces for software 
(where an interface exists).  

Page 184



79/106106  

 

   

Does a body have to provide the above to all members of staff? 

6.6.2 The regulations themselves do not stipulate that the standard applies to a specific 
cohort of staff only. However, a body may provide the software to staff who wish to 
use the Welsh language in the workplace or deliver services to persons. The body 
is expected to actively offer the above software to all members of staff. 

6.6.3 The regulations do not stipulate how a body should provide the above to staff but 
they may provide guidance and allow them to install them themselves if the body 
does not provide an installation service on their behalf.  

What is meant by the term 'software for checking spelling and grammar'? 

6.6.4 This term is neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations. However, these 
kinds of software normally allow the user to check spelling and grammar when 
typing or at the end of a piece of work by clicking a button. The software would 
normally suggest alternative words or advice when a grammatical error or typo is 
highlighted. Spelling and grammar checking software is available as part of some 
popular computer packages as default or by downloading it as an attachment (e.g. 
Microsoft Word). Software is also available to buy commercially in the form of a 
licence or free download (e.g. Cysgliad package). 

What is meant by the term 'Welsh language interfaces'? 

6.6.5 This term is neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations. The nature of 
interfaces and menus changes according to specific software, but they may be 
considered to include those parts of software that do not show content but are part 
of the infrastructure. The interface includes every means used by the user to 
communicate with a programme or software. Simply put, the programme or 
software (e.g. Microsoft Outlook) looks and works as if it had an English language 
interface but that Welsh text appears on each button, toolbar etc. 

6.6.6 A number of popular computer programmes offer Welsh language interfaces which 
are available as free downloads and there are links to a number of them on the 
Commissioner’s website. As the standard states, where there is no Welsh language 
interface available, the body is not expected to create their own. 

6.7 Standards relating to the intranet [standards 121-126] 

What are the requirements? 

6.7.1 These standards require a body to ensure that the pages of its intranet are available 
and are fully functional in Welsh and that the Welsh language is treated no less 
favourably than the English language.  

Standard 121 

6.7.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 121, they must ensure that each 
page of their intranet is available and is fully functional in Welsh and that the Welsh 
language is treated no less favourably than the English language. This includes the 
pages identified in standards 122 and 123.  

Standard 122 

6.7.3 Where a body is required to comply with standard 122, they must ensure that the 
homepage of their intranet is available and is fully functional in Welsh and that the 
Welsh language is treated no less favourably than the English language on the 
homepage.  

 Page 185



80/106106  

 

   

6.7.4 The regulations do not interpret nor explain the term 'homepage'. However, a 
homepage would refer to an overarching page for the intranet provided across the 
body, which includes a summary of the intranet's content and facilitates access for 
staff members to different parts of the intranet. The standard does not specify that 
the homepage has to be the first page seen. However, this page is expected to be 
prominent and easily accessible. 

Standard 123 

6.7.5 Where a body is required to comply with standard 123, they must ensure that any 
intranet page created or amended from the imposition day onwards is available and 
is fully functional in Welsh and that the Welsh language is treated no less 
favourably than the English language on those pages. 

Standard 124 

6.7.6 Where a body is required to comply with standard 124, and where a Welsh 
language page on the body's intranet corresponds to an English language page, 
they must state clearly on the English language page that the page is also available 
in Welsh, and they must provide a direct link to that Welsh language page.  

Standard 125 

6.7.7 Where a body is required to comply with standard 125, they must designate and 
maintain a page (or pages) on their intranet which provides services and support 
material to promote the Welsh language and to assist staff to use the Welsh 
language. 

6.7.8 The regulations do not stipulate what a body is expected to include on the page (or 
pages) maintained by them. However, the body should consider the following 
matters when designating and maintaining the relevant page(s): 

 do the contents and range of services and materials reflect the size of the 
body; 

 is the content relevant and applicable to all of their services, departments,  
units or teams and the nature of their work;  

 does the page content achieve the aim of promoting or facilitating the use of 
the Welsh language in relation to relevant staff activity. 

6.7.9 Similarly, the regulations do not require a body to include specific kinds of 
documentation or information. However, the page(s) may include: 
 instructions on how to use or access a spelling and grammar checker (e.g. 

Cysill, the Welsh language spelling and grammar checker, and the Microsoft 
Word spell checker); 

 instructions on how to use or access dictionaries, vocabularies and technical 
terminology dictionaries, either offline (e.g. Cysgeir, the Geiriadur app for iOS 
and Android) or online (e.g. Porth Termau Cenedlaethol, Byd Term Cymru, 
Geiriadur yr Academi, Geiriadur Prifysgol Cymru y Drindod Dewi Sant, 
Geiriadur Prifysgol Cymru, Geiriadur Prifysgol Bangor, Termiadur Addysg, 
Gweiadur or Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol's Academic Terms Resource); 

 instructions on how to use or access translation memory software or 
machine translation software; 

 instructions on how to install or change software interfaces or apps to Welsh 
as well as how to insert Welsh circumflexes; 
 
 
 
 Page 186



81/106106  

 

   

 a directory of Welsh speakers who can provide a service in Welsh; 
 a directory of internal and/or external translation services and how to arrange 

them;  
 a description of the training available for staff to learn Welsh/improve their 

Welsh language skills and how to enrol on courses; and 
 details of informal opportunities to use Welsh in the workplace (e.g. 

lunchtime clubs). 

What is a 'page' on the intranet? 

6.7.10 This term is neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations. However, Schedule 
3, Part 3, Paragraph 14 of the regulations states:  

Standards 121 to 124 (intranet) do not apply to—  
(a)  documents to which a link is provided on the intranet, 

advertising material on the intranet, or to video and audio 
clips on the intranet (see standards 105 to 111 for 
specific provision in relation to documents);  

(b)  information presented by persons on an interactive page 
published on a body’s intranet (for example on a section 
for comments or on a discussion forum).  

6.7.11 Therefore, this standard applies to any material on a body's intranet, apart from 
material presented in the mediums identified above. 

What is meant by the term 'function fully in Welsh'? 

6.7.12 This term means that the Welsh language version of an intranet should function in 
the same way as the English language version (or any other language) and that all 
elements within are available in Welsh without restrictions.  

What is meant by the terms 'interface' and 'menus'? 

6.7.13 The nature of interfaces and menus will change based on the intranet concerned. 
An interface includes all parts of the intranet used by an user to communicate and 
interact with a programme. Menus can include a list of options, items, or commands 
for the user to choose from (e.g. a drop down menu which shows a list of possible 
options). 

What is meant by the term 'the Welsh language must be treated no less favourably 
than the English language'? 

6.7.14 Schedule 3, Part 3, Paragraph 11 of the regulations states: 

 For the purposes of standards 121, 122 and 123 (a body’s 
intranet), references to treating the Welsh language no less 
favourably than the English language include, amongst other 
matters (and in addition to specific matters referred to in any 
individual standard), treating the Welsh language no less 
favourably as regards—  

 (a) the visual presentation of the material (for example in 
relation to the colour, size, font and format of any text); 

 (b) when material is published on the intranet;      
but it does not mean that the Welsh language material must 
appear on  the same page as the English language material, or 
on a page that is likely to open before the corresponding 
English language version of a page.  

Page 187



82/106106  

 

   

6.7.15 ‘Other matters’ may include treating the Welsh language no less favourably as 
regards: 

 the standard and quality of the material; 
 the position and prominence of the material; 
 when and how the material is published; 
 the publication format of material; 
 the clarity and accuracy of the material (for example in terms of the meaning 

and expression of any text);  
 the content of the material (for example in terms of the detail or quality of the 

information it contains). 

6.7.16 The standards do not, therefore, prevent a body from being able to provide 
separate Welsh and English versions of material on an intranet, to the extent that 
the Welsh language version is treated no less favourable than the English language 
version.  

6.8 A body developing Welsh language skills through planning 
and training its workforce [standards 127-135] 

What are the requirements? 

6.8.1 These standards relate to a body developing Welsh language skills through 
planning and training its workforce. 

Standard 127 

6.8.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 127, they must assess the Welsh 
language skills of their employees in order to conduct an assessment of their 
linguistic situation. Doing so would allow the body to plan the workforce in order to 
assess whether there are any areas within a department, team or location where 
Welsh language skills need to be developed in order to deliver services in Welsh. 

6.8.3 The outcome of this assessment will also help the body assess the requirements for 
a new position or vacancy, and assess the need for Welsh language skills, in 
accordance with standard 136.  

To whom does this standard apply? 

6.8.4 This standard applies to all of the body's employees42 in relation to Wales, and a 
body will have had to maintain a record of the assessment in relation to those 
employees from the imposition day onwards. 

What skills need to be assessed? 

6.8.5 The regulations do not provide further guidance on the specific skills which need to 
be assessed in this context. However, a body may assess the following as part of 
the assessment:   

 skills in listening and understanding Welsh; 
 reading skills in Welsh; 
 oral skills in Welsh; 
 writing skills in Welsh; and 
 fluency levels in Welsh.  

 

                                            
42

 See section 3.1.11 – 3.1.12 of this code for an interpretation of the term 'employee'. 
Page 188



83/106106  

 

   

How should the assessment be undertaken and how often should it take place?  
6.8.6 The regulations do not specify how a body should undertake the assessment; 

therefore this is a matter for the body to decide. That may include a self assessment 
or tests. Managers may also discuss the linguistic skills of individual staff members 
as part of their evaluation and update the linguistic record following that. A body 
may assess those skills via the Association of Language Testers in Europe 
framework (ALTE) or any other appropriate method. 

6.8.7 The regulations do not stipulate how often the assessment should take place either. 
However, in order to maintain up-to-date records, such an assessment should be 
held annually. 

6.8.8 The information should be kept up-to-date, ensuring that any changes to language 
skill data are updated as required. Examples of such changes may include a 
situation where an employee develops their language skills by attending Welsh 
lessons in accordance with standards 130 or 131, or where staffing changes mean 
that an employee has left the body or that new members of staff have joined. 

6.8.9 Standard 151 (record keeping) requires a body to keep a record of the number of 
employees who have Welsh language skills at the end of each financial year. 
However, the Welsh Language Commissioner may ask a body to provide the above 
information from the imposition day onwards in accordance with standard 172.  

Standard 128 

6.8.10 Where a body is required to comply with standard 128, they must provide training in 
Welsh in all of the following areas, if they provide such training in English: 

 recruitment and interviewing; 
 performance management; 
 complaints and disciplinary procedures; 
 induction; 
 dealing with the public; and 
 health and safety. 

6.8.11 This means that if training in any of the areas is not provided in English, such 
training would not need to be provided in Welsh. 

6.8.12 In general, the type of training provided by a body in these areas depends on the 
nature and functions of the body, which can vary. However, provided below are 
examples of the type of training which could come under the different areas: 

 recruitment and interviewing – training on recruitment or interviewing 
techniques; training on assessing and selecting candidates; 
communication skills when recruiting or interviewing or creating job 
descriptions or person specifications.  

 performance management – training on understanding and 
implementing performance management processes; how to deliver 
effective feedback and set aims and expectations. 

 complaints and disciplinary procedures – training provided to those 
who are responsible for managing the complaints and disciplinary 
process at work; training which clarifies how to establish and implement 
procedures appropriately and in accordance with the law. 

 

 

Page 189



84/106106  

 

   

 induction – training which gives a formal introduction to the body or job 
post. More specifically, it may include training which provides general 
useful information on the body or new job post (such as the staffing 
structure, facilities, brief history of the organisation, functions and aims); 
provides information on organisational procedures and policies; provides 
information on administrative issues (e.g. use of the web, telephone, 
email or how to authorise annual leave); or summarises the terms and 
conditions of the position (e.g. probation periods). 

 dealing with the public – training which relates to the way in which staff 
are expected to behave when dealing with the public. More specifically, it 
may include training which provides information on procedures, 
processes or guidance which should be followed by staff when dealing 
with the public; provides information on how to ensure that staff deal with 
the public effectively; or includes exercises on potential scenarios in order 
to increase confidence when dealing with the public. 

 health and safety – training provided in accordance with health and 
safety legislation (e.g. the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974); fire 
safety training; first aid and manual handling training; child protection and 
safeguarding training, data protection and information security training. 

Standard 129 
6.8.13 Where a body is required to comply with standard 129, they must provide training in 

Welsh on using Welsh effectively in: 

 meetings; 
 interviews; and 
 complaints and disciplinary procedures. 

6.8.14 This standard does not rely on the extent to which similar training is provided in 
English by a body.    

Who should receive the training in accordance with standards 128 and 129? 
6.8.15 These standards are not aimed at any specific employees within a body. However, 

a body must ensure that the relevant training is available to the workforce in Welsh 
as required. 

What is meant by the term 'using Welsh effectively'? 
6.8.16 This term is neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations. However, the term 

is considered to refer to increasing employees' ability and confidence to undertake 
the activities identified in clause 6.8.13 above effectively in Welsh. 

6.8.17 The term applies to various aspects of a body's activities and could apply to 
employees who undertake various functions. It could include activities such as 
leading or chairing a meeting (internal or external) or contributing to meetings. It 
could also apply to employees who wish to become more confident in their use of 
Welsh when conducting interviews or in relation to complaints and disciplinary 
matters, or other employees who wish to have more information on how to use 
Welsh effectively when interviewing for posts. 

 

 

 

 Page 190



85/106106  

 

   

6.8.18 The training could include the following:  

 consider which common Welsh terms to use as part of the activities 
identified in clause 6.8.13 above in order to ensure that Welsh is used 
effectively for the purpose of these activities, and to develop the 
confidence to use the language effectively in them;  

 provide guidance on any Welsh language documents or forms used by 
the body for the purpose of the activities identified in clause 6.8.13 above 
in order to develop the confidence to use these documents and forms 
effectively;   

 raise awareness of the internal policies and guidance which exist for 
using Welsh, as well as awareness of the relevant standards which the 
body is subject to in relation to meetings, interviews and complaints and 
disciplinary procedures. 

What is meant by the term 'provide training'? 

6.8.19 This term is neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations. However, the term 
means that the body trains their staff in a specific area in order to increase their 
knowledge in that area. 

6.8.20 The nature of any training and the resources required to provide that training will 
change according to the nature of each body. The requirement in standards 128 
and 129 is for the training to be provided, in Welsh in accordance with the body's 
arrangements. 

6.8.21 A body does not have to deliver a course in Welsh if no-one wishes to receive that 
course. Furthermore, standard 128 does not prevent a body from offering a course 
in Welsh and English at the same time. 

6.8.22 It may be inappropriate for some courses to be delivered in Welsh via translation 
services. However, some other courses, such as a course delivered in a traditional 
classroom setting, may be ones which could be delivered with the use of translation 
services for example, if it is not possible to do so without a translation service. 

Does the requirement also cover courses provided by external trainers? 

6.8.23 In situations where a third party provides training to employees on behalf of the 
body, the body must ensure that the training is provided in accordance with the 
relevant standards. Paragraph 1(5) of the regulations states the following: 

(a) references to any activity being carried out by a body, or to 
any service being provided by a body,  are  to  be  read  as  
including  a  reference to that activity being carried out on the 
body’s behalf or to that service being provided on the body’s  
behalf  by  a  third  party  under arrangements  made  between  
the  third  party and the body; 
(b) accordingly, unless a compliance notice provides to the 
contrary, a body will have failed to comply with a standard in 
respect of an activity or service it has arranged to be carried out 
or provided by a third party if that activity or service has not 
been carried out or provided in accordance with the standard. 

 

 

 

 Page 191



86/106106  

 

   

Standard 130 

6.8.24 Where a body is required to comply with standard 130, they must provide 
opportunities during working hours for employees to receive basic Welsh language 
lessons. They must also provide opportunities during working hours for       
employees who manage others to receive training on using the Welsh language in 
their role as managers.  

What is meant by the term 'basic Welsh language lessons'? 
6.8.25 This term is neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations. However, the term 

is considered to mean Welsh lessons on how to speak and write basic Welsh as 
well as read and understand basic Welsh. The aim of these lessons would be to 
allow an employee to undertake basic functions through the medium of Welsh. 
These functions may include conducting a simple conversation in Welsh over the 
telephone, drafting simple correspondence in Welsh, and being able to pronounce 
Welsh words such as people's names and places correctly.  

Do a certain number of hours of lessons or training have to be provided? 

6.8.26 There is no limit in terms of the number of hours that must be offered under 
standards 130 and 131. However, the hours in which this training is provided should 
not place any employee attending at a disadvantage. 

What is meant by the term 'using the Welsh language in their role as managers'? 

6.8.27 This term is neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations. However, the term 
is considered to refer specifically to increasing managers' ability and confidence to 
undertake daily activities through the medium of Welsh. 

6.8.28 Examples of what can be offered as part of the training may include the following: 

 raising awareness of how the Welsh language can be used in matters 
such as discussing performance objectives with employees, conducting 
meetings with employees through the medium of Welsh; 

 providing guidance on any Welsh language documents or forms which 
employees will be expected to complete in their role as managers, in 
order to facilitate the use of these forms and ensure that the documents 
and forms are used effectively; 

 raising awareness of the internal policies and guidance which exist for 
using Welsh, as well as awareness of the relevant standards which the 
body is subject to in relation to specific matters regarding their role as 
managers. 

Standard 131 

6.8.29 Where a body is required to comply with standard 131, they must provide 
employees with further training free of charge to develop their language skills 
further. Those opportunities do not have to take place during working hours but the 
employee must have already completed basic Welsh language training.  

Standard 132 

6.8.30 Where a body is required to comply with standard 132, they are expected to provide 
employees with training in the following areas from the imposition day onwards: 

 awareness of the Welsh language;  
 an understanding of the duty to operate in accordance with the Welsh 

language standards; 
 an understanding of how the Welsh language can be used in the 

workplace. Page 192



87/106106  

 

   

6.8.31 This training does not have to be provided in Welsh. 

6.8.32 The regulations do not expand on what should be included in such training. 
However, examples of what can be offered as part of the training may include: 

 awareness of the Welsh language – this may include information on the 
history of the language, the origin of the Welsh language, facts about the 
Welsh language (such as Census information), the advantages of using 
the Welsh language or information on the Welsh Language 
Commissioner; 

 an understanding of the duty to operate in accordance with the 
Welsh language standards – this may include information on the exact 
standards with which the body has to comply and also information on the 
Measure and its objectives; 

 an understanding of how the Welsh language can be used in the 
workplace – this may include information on how the body is promoting 
and facilitating the use of Welsh in the workplace or information on the 
operational standards in the regulations and the rights resulting from 
those. 

Standard 133 

6.8.33 Where a body is required to comply with standard 133, they must provide 
information to new employees (for example by means of an induction process) in 
order to raise their awareness of the Welsh language. This information does not 
have to be provided in Welsh. 

6.8.34 The regulations do not expand on the exact information which a body must provide 
in accordance with this standard. However, examples may include: 

 information on the history of the language, the origin of the Welsh 
language, facts about the Welsh language (such as Census information), 
the advantages of using the Welsh language and information on the 
Welsh Language Commissioner, the standards and language duties.  

6.8.35 The information could be provided as part of training or in the form of a document. 

Standard 134 
6.8.36 Where a body is required to comply with standard 134, they must provide text or a 

logo for their staff to include in e-mail signatures which will enable them to indicate 
whether they speak Welsh fluently or whether they are learning the language.  

6.8.37 The regulations do not expand on what the exact wording or logo should be in order 
to comply with the standard. However, a body does not have to provide wording or 
a logo to staff expressing the above following the wording of the standard word for 
word. However, the wording or logo should be clear and explicit enough to indicate 
that a member of staff is fluent in Welsh or is learning the language. 

6.8.38 The Commissioner's Working Welsh logo can be used to show that a member of 
staff can speak Welsh, but that in itself would not necessarily convey their level of 
proficiency. 

6.8.39 Staff do not have to indicate their linguistic ability in the context of this standard if 
they are not fluent in Welsh or if they are not learning the language. 

Standard 135 
6.8.40 Where a body is required to comply with standard 135, they must provide wording 

for their employees which will enable them to include a Welsh language version of Page 193



88/106106  

 

   

their contact details in e-mail messages. They must also provide a Welsh language 
version of any message which informs others that they are unavailable to respond 
to e-mail messages. 

6.8.41 Contact details in e-mail messages include the following: 

 job title;  
 the employee's work address;  
 the name of the body (to the extent that the body has a Welsh name). 

6.9 Standards relating to recruiting and appointing [standards 
136-140] 

What are the requirements? 

6.9.1 These standards relate to a body recruiting and appointing and include 
requirements regarding that process. 

Standard 136 

6.9.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 136, they must assess the 
requirements for a new or vacant post from the imposition day onwards. They must 
assess the need for Welsh language skills, and categorise the post as one where 
one or more of the following apply: 

 that Welsh language skills are essential; 
 that Welsh language skills need to be learnt when appointed to the post; 
 that Welsh language skills are desirable;  or 
 that Welsh language skills are not necessary. 

6.9.3 The regulations do not provide information on what a body must consider when 
assessing the linguistic requirements of any post. However, a body is expected to 
consider linguistic needs as a matter of course when a new post is created or when 
a vacancy arises, looking at the body's ability to provide services in Welsh 
alongside that. 

6.9.4 The following may be considered as part of the criteria when considering how to 
determine the need for Welsh language skills for the post: 

 the role of the job post – is there any contact with the public or external 
organisations where an individual is expected to be able to communicate 
in Welsh or English alike; does the post holder work in a certain 
geographical area where there is a high number or percentage of Welsh 
speakers;  

 the local considerations of an organisation's language policy e.g. the 
need for internal administration or more internal administration through 
the medium of Welsh, or that a minimum level of Welsh language skills is 
set for specific roles within a policy; 

 are there sufficient numbers of staff available to provide a service in 
Welsh? Reference should be made here to the body's skills assessment 
in accordance with standard 127, referring to any gaps in language skills 
to provide services; 

 the need to deal with other organisations whose internal administration is 
undertaken through the medium of Welsh or bilingually. 

6.9.5 It should be noted that standards 153 and 154 in the regulations require a body to 
keep records of every assessment carried out in accordance with standard 136.  Page 194



89/106106  

 

   

Standard 136A 

6.9.6 Where a body is required to comply with standard 136A, and where a body has 
come to the conclusion in accordance with standard 136 that a post is one where 
Welsh language skills are essential, desirable or need to be learnt when appointed 
to the post, they must specify that when advertising the post. This may include 
ensuring that the information is specified in the job description and person 
specification as well as the advertisement itself. The body would also have to 
advertise the post in Welsh. A body does not have to do this where they have come 
to the conclusion that Welsh language skills are not necessary for the post.  

What is meant by the term 'post'? 

6.9.7 For the purposes of standards 136 and 136A only, "post" is interpreted in Schedule 
3, Part 3, Paragraph 125 of the regulations as follows: 

(a)“post” includes a public appointment 
(b)“public appointment” means any appointment to a public 
body or public office.  

 

6.9.8 This includes any new post within the body or any vacancy after the imposition day, 
be that a permanent or temporary post, or a post which is advertised internally only 
or externally. 

Standard 137 

6.9.9 Where a body is required to comply with standard 137, they must, when advertising 
a post, state that applications may be submitted in Welsh, and that an application 
submitted in Welsh will not be treated less favourably than an application submitted 
in English.  

6.9.10 The regulations do not expand on what the exact wording of the statement should 
be in order to comply with the standard. However, the standard states that the body 
must note: 

 that they welcome applications in Welsh and,  
 that applications made in Welsh will not be treated less favourably.  

6.9.11 A body is not required to include a statement expressing the above, following the 
wording of the standard word for word. However, that statement should be clear 
and explicit enough for persons to be fully aware of the body's commitment and 
dedication to ensuring that an application made in Welsh is not treated less 
favourably than an application made in English.  

Standard 137A 

6.9.12 Where a body is required to comply with standard 137A, they must publish the 
following in Welsh if they publish them at all: 

 application forms for posts; 
 material that explains your procedure for applying for posts; 
 information about your interview process, or about other assessment 

methods when applying for posts; 
 job descriptions. 

6.9.13 They must also ensure that no Welsh language versions of the documents are 
treated less favourably than the English language versions of those documents. 

6.9.14 To that end, Schedule 3, Part 3, Paragraph 12 of the regulations states: Page 195



90/106106  

 

   

For the purposes of standards 137A (recruitment) and 141 
(internal signs), references to treating the Welsh language no 
less favourably than the English language includes, amongst   
other   matters (and in addition to specific matters referred to in 
any individual standard), treating the Welsh language no less 
favourably as regards—  
(a) the visual presentation of material (for example in relation to 
the colour or font of any text);  
(b) the size of the material;  
(c) the position and prominence of the material in any public 
place;  
(ch) when and how the material is published, provided or 
exhibited; 
(d) the publication format of material. 

6.9.15 ‘Other matters’ may include treating the Welsh language no less favourably as 
regards: 

 the standard and quality of the material; 
 the clarity and accuracy of the material (for example in terms of the meaning 

and expression of any text);  
 the content of the material (for example in terms of the detail or quality of the 

information it contains). 

Standard 137B 

6.9.16 Where a body is required to comply with standard 137B, they must not treat an 
application for a post made in Welsh less favourably than an application made in 
English. The standard itself contains specific examples of some contexts where a 
job application made in Welsh should not be treated less favourably than one made 
in English: 

[...] including, amongst other matters, in relation to the closing 
date you set for receiving applications and in relation to any 
time-scale for informing individuals of decisions.  

6.9.17 That may include a closing date for receipt of applications or when an individual will 
be informed of the body's decision. Therefore, the closing date must be the same 
for Welsh and English applications and it must be ensured that there is no delay in 
informing Welsh language applicants of decisions compared with English language 
applicants. 

Standard 138 

6.9.18 Where a body is required to comply with standard 138, they must ensure that 
application forms for posts provide a space for individuals to indicate that they wish 
to have an interview or other method of assessment in Welsh. If the candidate 
wishes to use the Welsh language, the body must conduct the interview or 
assessment in Welsh without the assistance of a translation service. 

Standard 139 

6.9.19 Where a body is required to comply with standard 139, they must ensure that 
application forms for posts provide a space for individuals to indicate that they wish 
to use the Welsh language at an interview or any other method of assessment. If 
the candidate wishes to use the Welsh language, the body must provide a 
simultaneous translation service at the interview or assessment from Welsh to 
English for the benefit of the panel in order to allow the candidate to use the Welsh Page 196



91/106106  

 

   

language at the interview or assessment, if it is not possible to conduct the interview 
or assessment in Welsh without that translation service.   

What is meant by the term 'other method of assessment’?  

6.9.20 This term is neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations. However, the term 
includes any method used by the body to assess candidates' skills for posts. Such 
examples may include: 

 a specific task e.g. a written task responding to a specific scenario, or 
writing a standard letter; 

 an oral or written exam; 
 any multiple choice questions which candidates must answer; 
 any presentation which candidates are required to give as part of the 

interview.  

Would it be possible for a body to assess an individual's proficiency in another 
language as well through an interview or other method of assessment?  

6.9.21 In some cases, it may be necessary for a body to assess an individual's proficiency 
in another language apart from Welsh for a post which they are interviewing or 
assessing for. These standards do not prevent a body from doing so.  

Standard 140 

6.9.22 Where a body is required to comply with standard 140, they must inform an 
individual who made their application in Welsh of their decision in Welsh. 

6.9.23 The requirements of this standard include any method in which a body informs an 
individual of their decision. This may include informing an individual orally, face-to-
face or in writing. 

6.10 Signs displayed in a body’s workplace [standards 141-
143] 

What are the requirements? 

6.10.1 These standards require a body to ensure that any new signs or signs that are 
renewed in the workplace are displayed in Welsh and that the Welsh language text 
is not treated less favourably than the English language text on those signs. The 
standards also set requirements in relation to the accuracy and position of the 
Welsh language on signs. 

Standard 141 

6.10.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 141, they must, when they erect 
a new sign or renew a sign (including temporary signs), ensure that any text 
displayed on the sign is displayed in Welsh (whether on the same sign as the 
corresponding English language text or on a separate sign). The body must ensure 
that the Welsh language text is not treated less favourably than the English 
language text on those signs. 

6.10.3 A body would usually 'erect' a new sign when it is placed where there was no such 
sign before. A body would 'renew' a sign if they make any change to that sign or 
erect a new sign in its place at the same location.  

6.10.4 Use of the term 'new' does not mean that the requirements of the standard only 
apply where a body produces a brand new sign, but instead, the term refers to a 
situation where the body erects a sign in a new place or location. That means that Page 197



92/106106  

 

   

erecting a sign in a new location would make it a new sign for the purposes of these 
standards.  

Standard 142 

6.10.5 Where a body is required to comply with standard 142, they must ensure that the 
Welsh language text on signs in the body's workplace is positioned so that it is likely 
to be read first on any new signs which are erected or signs which are renewed 
(including temporary signs). 

6.10.6 The Commissioner recognises that it may be a matter of interpretation whether 
Welsh language text is positioned so that it is likely to be read first and that this 
could result from the position or angle of the sign. However, the Welsh language 
text would be likely to be read first usually if it is placed on the left or above any 
corresponding English text, based on the standard practice of reading from left to 
right and from top to bottom.  

Standard 143 

6.10.7 Where a body is required to comply with standard 143, they must ensure that the 
Welsh language text on signs in the body's workplace (whether the signs were 
erected before or after the imposition day) are accurate in terms of meaning and 
expression. That can relate to the spelling, syntax or words and phrases used. 

What is meant by the term 'the Welsh language must be treated no less favourably 
than the English language'? 
6.10.8 Schedule 3, Part 3, Paragraph 12 of the regulations states: 

For the purposes of standards 137A (recruitment) and 141 
(internal signs), references to treating the Welsh language no 
less favourably than the English language includes, amongst   
other matters (and in addition to specific matters referred to in 
any individual standard), treating the Welsh language no less 
favourably as regards–  
 (a) the visual presentation of material (for example in relation to 
the colour or font of any text);  
(b) the size of the material;  
(c) the position and prominence of the material in any public 
place;  
(ch) when and how material is published, provided or exhibited; 
(d) the publication format of material. 

6.10.9 ‘Other matters’ may include treating the Welsh language no less favourably as 
regards: 

 the standard and quality of the material; 
 the clarity and accuracy of the material (for example in terms of the meaning 

and expression of any text);  
 the content of the material (for example in terms of the detail or quality of the 

information it contains). 

What is meant by the term 'temporary sign'? 

6.10.10 These standards also apply to any temporary signs erected or renewed. 
Where a body is required to comply with standard 141 therefore, any new or 
renewed temporary sign must be displayed in Welsh. Where a body is required to 
comply with standard 142, the Welsh language must appear first on that sign too. 

Page 198



93/106106  

 

   

6.10.11 This term is not interpreted in the regulations. However, it is considered that 
a temporary sign includes any sign not intended to be placed permanently in the 
place it is positioned. Such examples may include:  

 an out-of-order sign on a machine or equipment;  
 a sign telling people that an area is off limits due to repair work; or,  
 a sign telling people what the temporary opening hours of the body's internal 

canteen are. 

Does a body's corporate identity which appears on signs apply to standards 141-
143?  

6.10.12 Yes, where a body's corporate identity appears on a sign, it must comply 
(subject to the compliance notice) with standard 83 as well as standards 141-143. 
However, that does not mean that Welsh language text on corporate identity needs 
to be positioned so that it is likely to be read first. 

6.11 Audio announcements and messages in a body’s 
workplace [standard 144] 

What are the requirements? 
6.11.1 This standard requires a body to ensure that any announcements made in the 

workplace using audio equipment are made in Welsh first, if there is also an 
announcement in English.   

What is meant by the term 'audio announcements'? 
6.11.2 This term is neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations. However, it 

includes any announcements made by the body using audio equipment for the 
attention of the workplace. 

6.11.3 Examples of announcements which would apply to this standard may include: 

 announcements for the attention of the workforce in lifts in the body's 
buildings; or 

 loudspeaker messages in the body's buildings for the attention of the 
workforce, such as instructing a member of staff to go to a specific 
department or a message instructing everyone to leave the building in an 
emergency.  

 

Have any audio announcements been excluded? 

No. The regulations do not provide for excluding certain announcements from this 
standard and therefore included every audio announcement.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 199



94/106106  

 

   

7 Record keeping standards (147-154) 

7.1 A body keeping records [standards 147-154] 

What are the requirements? 

7.1.1 The following standards require a body to keep records of specific information 
which is related to or involves compliance with the standards imposed on them.  

Standard 147 
7.1.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 147, they must keep a record, in 

relation to each financial year, of the number of complaints they receive relating to 
their compliance with the standards.  

Standard 148 
7.1.3 Where a body is required to comply with standard 148, they must keep a copy of 

any written complaint they receive that relates to their compliance with the 
standards with which they are under a duty to comply.  

7.1.4 Reference to 'standards with which you have a duty to comply' in this regard refers 
to those standards in the compliance notice issued to the body under section 44 of 
the Measure. 

Standard 149 

7.1.5 Where a body is required to comply with standard 149, they must keep a copy of 
any written complaint that they receive that relates to the Welsh language (whether 
or not that complaint relates to the standards with which they are under a duty to 
comply). Therefore, standard 149 includes every complaint received that relates to 
the Welsh language, and includes complaints that relate to the standards with which 
a body has a duty to comply, as noted in standard 148, and also any other 
complaints that relate to the Welsh language in general, for example complaints 
about the lack of availability of Welsh medium schools. 

Standard 150 

7.1.6 Where a body is required to comply with standard 150, they must keep a record of 
the steps that they have taken in order to ensure compliance with the policy making 
standards with which they are under a duty to comply. In the context of this 
standard, those records may include: 

 copies of assessments undertaken by the body when considering the effects 
of a policy decision on the Welsh language; 

 copies of minutes from meetings held to discuss the effects of the policy 
decision on the Welsh language; or  

 copies of terms of reference for research which show that the research 
needs to consider the effects of the policy decision on the Welsh language. 

Standard 151 

7.1.7 Where a body is required to comply with standard 151, they must keep a record, in 
accordance with standard 127, of the number of employees who have Welsh 
language skills at the end of each financial year. Where they have that information, 
they must also keep a record of the skill level of those employees. It may be useful 
for a body to keep records based on teams, departments, directorate or job grade 
too. 

Page 200



95/106106  

 

   

7.1.8 As noted in clause 6.8.5 of this code of practice, a body may assess the following 
as part of the assessment required in standard 127: 

 skills in listening and understanding Welsh; 
 reading skills in Welsh; 
 oral skills in Welsh; 
 writing skills in Welsh; and 
 fluency levels in Welsh.  

7.1.9 Therefore, the records in terms of standard 151 should include information on the 
above matters. 

Standard 152 

7.1.10 Where a body is required to comply with standard 152, they must keep a record, for 
each financial year, of the following: 

 the number of members of staff who attended training courses offered by 
you in Welsh in accordance with standard 128; and 

 the percentage of the total number of staff who attended the Welsh 
language version of the course. 

Standard 153 

7.1.11 Where a body is required to comply with standard 153, they must keep a copy of 
every assessment carried out by them in accordance with standard 136. 

7.1.12 As noted in clause 6.9.4 of this code of practice, the following may be considered as 
part of the criteria when considering how to determine the need for Welsh language 
skills for the post: 

 the function of the role – is there any contact with the public or external 
organisations where an individual is expected to be able to communicate 
in Welsh or English alike; does the post holder work in a certain 
geographical area where there is a high number or percentage of Welsh 
speakers; 

 the local considerations of an organisation's language policy e.g. the 
need for internal administration or more internal administration through 
the medium of Welsh, or that a minimum level of Welsh language skills is 
set for specific roles within a policy; 

 are there sufficient numbers of staff available to provide a service in 
Welsh – reference should be made here to the body's skills assessment 
in accordance with standard 127, referring to any gaps in language skills 
to provide services; 

 the need to deal with other organisations whose internal administration is 
undertaken through the medium of Welsh or bilingually. 

 
7.1.13 The records in terms of standard 153 should include information on the above 

matters. 

 

Standard 154 

7.1.14 Where a body is required to comply with standard 154, they must keep a record, in 
relation to each financial year, of the number of new and vacant  posts which were 
categorised in accordance with standard 136 as posts where—   

 Welsh language skills are essential; 
 Welsh language skills need to be learnt when appointed to the post; 
 Welsh language skills are desirable; or 

Page 201



96/106106  

 

   

 Welsh language skills are not necessary. 

What is meant by the term 'keep a record'? 

7.1.15 This term specifically is neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations but 
'record keeping standard' is interpreted in section 32(1) of the Measure, as: 

 

Record keeping standard— 
(a) records about other specified standards, and  
(b) records about– 
(i) complaints concerning a person's compliance with other 
specified standards, or 
(ii) other complaints concerning the Welsh language.  

7.1.16 In addition, the British Standards interprets "records" as:  

 

“information created, received and maintained as evidence and 
as an asset by an organization or person, in pursuit of legal 
obligations or in the transaction of business.”43 

7.1.17 The term therefore means that a body keeps written records relating to other 
standards imposed on them and relating to complaints received about their 
compliance with those standards or complaints received which relate to the Welsh 
language. Those records may be ones which the body have created themselves, 
have received or have maintained as evidence. 

What is meant by the term 'keep a copy of any written complaint'? 

7.1.18 This term is neither interpreted nor explained in the regulations. However, the 
requirement to 'keep a copy of any written complaint' received by the body in 
standards 148 and 149 means that the body must keep a copy of the exact written 
complaint received. That may be in the form of a hard copy or electronic copy. 

 

7.1.19 The Data Protection Act 1998, and the requirements of the General Data Protection 
Regulation when that comes into force, note that information and data should not be 
kept longer than needed. A body is expected to keep copies of complaints identified 
in standards 148 and 149 for at least 3 years from the date of receipt of the 
complaint. This time scale allows a body to ensure that they have sufficient 
information to report in their annual reports on the complaints received during the 
year as well as ensure that the body has information on complaints should there be 
a Tribunal or Court case against the body. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                            
43

 BS ISO 15489-1:2016 Information and documentation - Records management - Part 1: Concepts and 
Principles. Page 202



97/106106  

 

   

What is meant by the term 'financial year'? 

7.1.20 Schedule 5, Part 2 of the regulations states: 
 

For the purposes of standards 147, 151, 152 and 154– 
(a) when a body is under a duty to comply with a standard for 
the first time, “financial year” means the period beginning with 
the day from which a body is under a duty to comply with a 
standard and ending with the following 31 March; 
(b) subject to that, “financial year” means the period of 12 
months ending with 31 March.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 203



98/106106  

 

   

8 Standards which deal with supplementary 
matters (155-176)   

8.1 Standards which deal with supplementary matters in 
relation to the service delivery, policy making, promotion 
and record keeping standards [standards 155-176] 

What are the requirements? 

8.1.1 The standards which deal with supplementary matters establish a new regime for 
reporting on compliance. They require a body to ensure that they have specific 
documents which relate to the way they comply with other standards with which 
they are under a duty to comply. These standards also make provision for providing 
information to the Commissioner, when the Commissioner requests it. 

 

Standards 155, 161, 167, 173 and 175  

8.1.2 Where a body is required to comply with standard 155, 161, 167, 173 and/or 175, 
they must ensure that a document which records the service delivery, policy 
making, operational, promotion and record keeping standards with which they are 
under a duty to comply are available on their website, and in each of their offices 
that are open to the public. The compliance notice itself is considered such a 
document. 
 

8.1.3 That may mean that a copy is available electronically or on paper and therefore 
there is no obligation to have a printed paper copy available in each office which is 
open to the public.  

 

Standards 156, 162 and 168 

8.1.4 Where a body is required to comply with standard 156, 162 and/or 168, they must 
ensure that they have a complaints procedure for dealing with the way they deal 
with complaints relating to compliance with the service delivery, policy making 
and/or operational standards and how they will provide training for staff in relation to 
dealing with those complaints. 
 

8.1.5 A body must ensure that there is a copy of the procedure available on their website 
(standards 156 and 162) or on their intranet (standard 168) and in each of their 
offices that are open to the public. That may mean that a copy is available 
electronically or on paper and therefore there is no obligation to have a printed 
paper copy available in each office which is open to the public. 
 

8.1.6 Where a body is required to comply with more than one of these standards, the 
regulations allow them to do so in one complaints procedure. A body does not have 
to ensure that they have separate complaints procedures for each class of 
standards. The regulations allow them to do so by including the information in one 
document. 
 

8.1.7 A body may also revise a complaints procedure which already exists to include 
information which deals with necessary matters identified in the standards. For 
example, a body may revise their corporate complaints procedure to ensure that it 
complies with the requirements rather than having a completely separate 
complaints procedure. Page 204



99/106106  

 

   

8.1.8 The requirements of part (a)(i) of these standards mean that a body can include 
information on the following in a complaints procedure: 

 those responsible for dealing with complaints; 
 the way in which a body deals with complaints; 
 the timetable for dealing with complaints; 
 the way in which the body deals with complaints relating to compliance with 

the standards, unlike the procedure for dealing with other complaints; 
 the ways in which persons can make a complaint to the body; 
 the addresses persons should use to make a complaint; 
 the information persons should provide so that the body can deal effectively 

with a complaint. 

Standards 157, 163 and 169 

8.1.9 Where a body is required to comply with standard 157, 163 and/or 169 they must 
publish a document that records their arrangements for overseeing the way they 
comply with the service delivery, policy making and/or operational standards with 
which they are under a duty to comply. Standards 157 and 163 specifically also 
require a body to note in that document how they will promote and facilitate the use 
of those services offered under the service delivery and/or operational standards, in 
accordance with the requirements of standards 81 and 82. 
 

8.1.10 A body may record their arrangements by providing information about: 

 recording which members of staff, teams and/or departments are responsible 
for overseeing compliance with the standards and an outline of how this is 
done; 

 recording the internal arrangements for overseeing the way in which third 
parties comply with the requirements of the standards; 

 recording which members of staff, teams and/or departments are responsible 
for promoting the Welsh language services provided and an outline of how 
this is done; 

 recording which members of staff, teams and/or departments are responsible 
for facilitating the use of those services along with an outline of how this is 
done; 

 recording which members of staff, teams and/or departments are responsible 
for undertaking an assessment of the impact on the Welsh language when 
making policy decisions and an outline of how this is done; and  

 recording the internal processes and structures used to assess and evaluate 
compliance with the standards. 

 

8.1.11 A body must also ensure that a copy of the document is available on their website 
(standards 157 and 163) or on their intranet (standard 169) and in each of their 
offices that are open to the public. That may mean that a copy is available 
electronically or on paper and therefore there is no obligation to have a printed 
paper copy available in each office which is open to the public. Where a body is 
required to comply with more than one of these standards, the regulations allow 
them to do so by having one set of overseeing arrangements.  
 

Standards 158, 164 and 170 

8.1.12 Where a body is required to comply with standard 158, 164 and/or 170, a body 
must produce an annual report for each financial year which reports on the way 
they have complied with each of the service delivery, policy making and/or 
operational standards with which they are under a duty to comply. The standard 
also places requirements in relation to reporting on the number of complaints Page 205



100/106106  

 

   

received during that year which related to their compliance with the service delivery, 
policy making and/or operational standards. 
 

8.1.13 Standard 170 requires a body to include the information they must keep in 
accordance with standards 151, 152 and 154 in the report. The annual report must 
be available in Welsh, and published no later than 30 June following the financial 
year to which the report relates. 

8.1.14 A body must publicise the fact that they have published the report and ensure that a 
copy of the report is available on their website and in each of their offices that are 
open to the public. A body may publicise the fact that they have published an 
annual report by making a statement which states that the report has been 
published to the press, on social media, on their website or in a circular. Where a 
body is required to comply with more than one of these standards, the regulations 
allow them to do so by including the information in one annual report entitled "Welsh 
Language Standards Annual Report". 

8.1.15 It should be noted that the body is not required to present the annual report for the 
attention of the Commissioner in the same way as for Welsh language schemes in 
accordance with the Welsh Language Act 1993. However, the Commissioner may 
access the report through the body's website or through provision made in 
standards 160, 166, 172, 174 and 176. 
 

Standards 159, 165 and 171 

8.1.16 Where a body is required to comply with standard 159, 165 and/or 171 they must 
publish a document on their website which explains how they intend to comply with 
the service delivery, policy making and/or operational standards with which they are 
under a duty to comply. Where a body is required to comply with more than one of 
these standards, the regulations allow them to do so in one document. 

 

8.1.17 These standards allow bodies to identify and plan specific steps for meeting the 
requirements of the standards. Such steps may include matters such as translation 
arrangements, quality standards, performance indicators, information technology 
etc. 

 

Standards 160, 166, 172, 174 and 176 

8.1.18 Where a body is required to comply with standard 160, 166, 172, 174 and/or 176 
they must provide the Commissioner with any information requested which relates 
to their compliance with the service delivery, policy making, operational, promotion 
and/or record keeping standards with which they are under a duty to comply. 

 

8.1.19 Such information may include information on matters such as the following (to the 
extent that relevant standards are included in an organisation's compliance notice):  

 the quality of Welsh language services; 
 Welsh language skills of employees; 
 the number of Welsh speakers in the body's area; 
 developing Welsh language skills of employees; 
 policy decisions; 
 the Welsh language within the body's internal administration; 
 awareness of linguistic needs; 
 complaints; 

 

 Page 206



101/106106  

 

   

 arrangements for overseeing compliance; 
 promoting and facilitating the use of services; and 
 the promotion of the Welsh language (where relevant). 

8.1.20 The Commissioner will ask for the information to be provided within a reasonable 
time frame, set by the Commissioner. The information submitted is expected to be 
relevant, current and in an electronic format, when specified in the request. In this 
context, the Commissioner's requests for information are not made under the 
Freedom of Information Act. Therefore, an organisation cannot use the exceptions 
of this Act to refuse to provide the information, unless legal limitations allow so. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 207



102/106106  

 

   

9 Glossary and explanatory notes 

Term Meaning 

Body An organisation which is under a duty to comply with one or more 
standards. In the Welsh Language Measure, the term 'relevant 
person' is used to refer to such an organisation. 

 

All references to a body in this document refer to Welsh Ministers, 
county councils or county borough councils or National Park 
Authorities. 

Code of practice A document providing practical guidance on the requirements of any 
standard. Although a code of practice provides guidance on how a 
body can comply with a standard, failure to act in accordance with a 
code of practice does not mean, in itself, a failure to comply with a 
standard. 

 

The Commissioner may not issue, revise or withdraw a code of 
practice without the consent of Welsh Ministers. 

Compliance notice A notice given to a body by the Commissioner, specifying the 
standards with which they are required to comply, as well as the 
imposition days for those standards as determined in that notice. 

Electronic Electronic formats include emails, web pages, and PDF, Word and 
Excel documents. 

Financial year The period of 12 months ending with 31 March. When a body is 
under a duty to comply with a standard for the first time, “financial 
year” means the period beginning with the day from which a body is 
under a duty to comply with a standard and ending with the 
following 31 March. 

Imposition day The day from which a relevant person is required to comply with a 
standard, or comply with a standard in a particular respect, as 
determined in a compliance notice. 

Individual 
The regulations state that an "individual" ("unigolyn") means a 
member of the public." 44  

The term 'individual' has a more limited meaning than the term 
'public', as it is limited to an individual member of the public only. 
Therefore, it is considered that a standard which refers to an 
"individual" refers to a private individual and does not include those 
representing corporate bodies or limited companies. It therefore 
does not include those involved with the body whilst representing 
corporate bodies or limited companies. 

Member of staff A body's employee or an individual working for a body. 

 

All references to a member of staff in this document refer to 
members of staff of Welsh Ministers (including WG members of 
staff), county councils or county borough councils or National Park 
Authorities.  

                                            
44

  Section 1(4), Welsh Language Standards (No. 1) Regulations 2015 
Page 208

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/996/pdfs/wsi_20150996_mi.pdf


103/106106  

 

   

Term Meaning 

 

The regulations state that the term "staff" should be interpreted in 
accordance with the above.  

Operational 
standard 

A standard intended to promote and facilitate use of the Welsh 
language when a body undertakes their functions or conducts 
business or another undertaking. 

Person 
The regulations do not interpret the term 'person'. However, the 
Interpretation Act 1978 (the 1978 Act) notes that a “person”  
includes a body of persons corporate or unincorporate.” 45 
 
Therefore, where a standard refers to 'person', it includes corporate 
and incorporate persons.  
 
The term 'person' has a broader meaning than the terms 'individual' 
and 'public'. Persons representing the Crown, Government or State 
may also be covered by the meaning of the term. 

 

That means that the term 'person' also includes a member of staff of 
a public organisation (excluding the body's staff) acting in an official 
capacity, such as a member of staff of a national park authority, 
council or Welsh Government. 

Policy decision Schedule 2, Part 2 of the regulations interprets a 'policy decision' as 
follows: “any decision made by a body about the exercise of its 
functions or about the conduct of its business or other undertaking, 
and it includes, amongst other things (and as appropriate to the 
body), decisions about:   

 the content of legislation 
 the exercise of statutory powers 
 the content of policy statements 
 strategies or strategic plans 
 internal structures.” 

 

Furthermore, it is noted that references to positive or adverse 
effects refer to those effects whether direct or indirect. 

Policy making 
standard 

A standard involving consideration of the effect of a policy decision 
on opportunities to use the Welsh language, and treating the Welsh 
language no less favourably than the English language. 

Promotion standard A standard (involving any activity) intended to promote or facilitate 
use of the Welsh language more widely. 

Public 
The regulations do not interpret the meaning of the term 'public’. 
However, the term includes the public in its entirety, or a proportion 
of the public, as well as individual members of the public. The term 
also includes legal persons and corporate bodies such as voluntary 
organisations and charities, as well as those representing limited 
companies. 
 
However, neither the Crown, Government nor State are covered by 
the term 'public’. Therefore, persons undertaking official functions of 
a public nature would not be covered by the term 'public' whilst 

                                            
45

 Schedule 1 of the Interpretation Act 1978 
Page 209

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1978/30/pdfs/ukpga_19780030_en.pdf


104/106106  

 

   

Term Meaning 

undertaking such functions.  
 
An example of a person not covered by the term 'public' may include 
a county council or health board staff member acting in an official 
capacity. 

Record keeping 
standard 

A standard involving record keeping in relation to other specified 
standards, and records in relation to complaints about a body's 
compliance with other specified standards or other complaints which 
relate to the Welsh language. 

Regulations  All references to the regulations in this document refer to the Welsh 
Language Standards (No. 1) Regulations 2015. In accordance with 
the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011, these regulations 
determine standards relating to the Welsh language in relation to 
the conduct of the following bodies:  

 Welsh Ministers;  
 county councils;  
 county borough councils; 
 National Park authorities. 

Service delivery 
standard 

A standard involving service delivery activity, and intended to 
promote or facilitate the use of the Welsh language, or work towards 
ensuring that the Welsh language is treated no less favourably than 
the English language, when that activity is carried out. 

Standards All references to standards in this document refer to the standards 
determined in the Welsh Language Standards (No. 1) Regulations 
2015. There are standards in the following five classes: 

 service delivery;  
 policy making; 
 operational; 
 promotion; 
 record keeping. 

Welsh Language 
(Wales) Measure 
2011 

All references to the Measure in this document refer to the Welsh 
Language (Wales) Measure 2011. 

Welsh Language 
Commissioner 

All references to the Commissioner in this document refer to the 
Welsh Language Commissioner, a post created by the Welsh 
Language (Wales) Measure 2011. 

Welsh Language 
Scheme  

A document which public bodies are required to produce in 
accordance with the Welsh Language Act 1993, which identifies the 
measures to be taken by the body in order to implement the 
principle that both Welsh and English are to be treated on the basis 
of equality when delivering services to the public in Wales. 

 

Statutory language schemes are replaced by a compliance notice 
which will come to an end on the earliest imposition day in that 
notice. 

Welsh Language 
Standards Annual 
Report 

A report which deals with the way in which a body complied with the 
standards with which they are under a duty to comply in relation to a 
specific financial year. Page 210



105/106106  

 

   

Appendix 1: A list of the bodies to which the 
code applies

46
 

 Pembrokeshire Coast National Park Authority 
 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
 Snowdonia National Park Authority 
 Vale of Glamorgan Council 
 Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 
 Caerphilly County Borough Council 
 Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council 
 Conwy County Borough Council 
 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
 Bridgend County Borough Council 
 Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
 Torfaen County Borough Council 
 Wrexham County Borough Council 
 City and County of Swansea Council 
 City of Cardiff Council 
 Newport City Council 
 Gwynedd Council 
 Ceredigion County Council 
 Denbighshire County Council 
 Monmouthshire County Council 
 Carmarthenshire County Council 
 Pembrokeshire County Council 
 Powys County Council 
 Flintshire County Council 
 Isle of Anglesey County Council 
 Welsh Ministers 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
46

 The code also applies to any body operating on behalf of any one or more of these bodies. 
Page 211



106/106106  

 

   

Appendix 2: Changes to the regulations 

The Welsh Language Standards (No. 5) Regulations 201647 amend the Welsh Language 
Standards (No. 1) Regulations 2015. 
 

The regulations state: 

"4.—(1) The Welsh Language Standards (No. 1) Regulations 
2015 are amended in accordance with paragraph (2). 

 

(2) In Part 3 of Schedule 1 after paragraph 24 insert— 

 

"24A A body is not required to comply with any of the standards 
in respect of an activity or a service where that activity is carried 
out or that service is provided as a result of an order under 
section 98 of the Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009.” 

Section 98 of the Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 ("MCAA 2009") allows Welsh 
Ministers to delegate their marine licensing or enforcement functions under an Order. 
Welsh Ministers have delegated functions to Natural Resources Wales (NRW) in 
accordance with the Marine Licensing (Delegation of Functions) (Wales) Order 2013.48  

The amendment means that Welsh Ministers will not be required to comply with any of the 
standards in respect of any activity or service delegated under Section 98 of MCAA 2009. 

 

                                            
47

 Section 4, Welsh Language Standards (No. 5) Regulations 2016 
48

S.I. 2013/414 (W.50)  
Page 212

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2016/406/regulation/4/made


NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

POLICY AND RESOURCES CABINET BOARD 
 

7 MARCH 2018 
 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE &  
CORPORATE SERVICES – MR. HYWEL JENKINS 

 
 
MATTER FOR DECISION  
 
WARDS AFFECTED – BLAENGWRACH 
 
COMMUNITY COUNCILS MINOR PROJECTS SCHEME – 
APPLICATION – BLAENGWRACH COMMUNITY COUNCIL 
 

Purpose of Report 
 
1. To seek Members’ approval to provide a grant to Blaengwrach 

Community Council under the Council’s Minor Projects Scheme. 

 

Background and Financial Impact 
 

2. Neath Port Talbot Council has approved a Community Council 
Minor Projects Grants Scheme in order to assist Community 
Councils in undertaking minor capital projects which will alleviate to 
some degree the perceived unfairness about “double rating”.  
Approved grants are required to be claimed within two years of 
approval. 

 

3. The Council has received an application for grant aid under the 
above mentioned scheme from Blaengwrach Community Council.  
This application is for grant assistance towards the cost of 
redeveloping and improving the provision currently on offer at the 
Welfare Park in Cwmgwrach.  Grant assistance from the minor 
projects scheme would be used to facilitate stage 1 of the works ie 
Demolition and Drainage works at the Welfare Park.  The estimated 
cost of Stage 1 is £25,000. 

 

Page 213

Agenda Item 8



4. The Community Council will be submitting a funding bid to the next 
funding round of the Selar Opencast Blaengwrach Community 
Benefit Fund for the remainder of Stage 1 project costs.  The result 
of that funding bid will be determined on 8th May 2018.   
 

5. Stage 2 of the development is for a multi-faceted play/MUGA, 
bollard lighting and community art project.  Bids to the Selar 
Opencast Fund and Pen y Cymoedd Wind Farm Fund will then be 
submitted later this year.   

 
Consultation 

 
6. There is no requirement under the Constitution for external 

consultation on this item. 
 

Proposal  
 
7. The application from Blaengwrach Community Council complies 

with the conditions of grant and is entitled to grant support at 70% 
up to a maximum of £14,000 in accordance with the Minor Projects 
Grants Scheme and payment be made on receipt of paid invoices 
together with a copy bank statement. 

 
Recommendation 

8. It is recommended that Members approve a maximum grant of 
£14,000 to Blaengwrach Community Council. 

 

Reason for Proposed Decision 
9. The decision is in compliance with the approved policy and to 

enable community improvements. 

 

Implementation of Decision 
10. The decision is proposed for implementation after the 3 day call-in 

period. 

 
List of Background Papers 

11. Application form from Blaengwrach Community Council. 
 

Officer Contact 
 
12. Mr. H. J. Jenkins – Director of Finance & Corporate Services  

(Tel. 01639 763251  -  email:  h.jenkins@neath-porttalbot.gov.uk) 

Page 214

mailto:h.jenkins@neath-porttalbot.gov.uk


 

NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

POLICY AND RESOURCES CABINET BOARD 
 
 

7 MARCH 2018 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE  
& CORPORATE SERVICES 

 

Matters for Decision  

Wards Affected  
All 
 
MISCELLANEOUS GRANT FUND APPLICATIONS  

 

1. Purpose of Report 

To seek Member approval in relation to grant applications received. 

2. Background and  Financial Impact 

 
  Existing Policy Statement 
 
 a) Each application will be considered on its merits. 

b) The Committee will only approve applications for financial 
assistance from voluntary or charitable organisations which are 
manifestly committed to voluntary endeavours of a local nature.  
This will not preclude the consideration of applications where 
the disposal of funds is outside the area but still provides 
significant benefits for the people from the Neath Port Talbot 
area. 

c) No applications will be considered from religious bodies except 
relating to church halls and other premises where there is 
significant community use of the property for non-religious 
activities. 

d) No applications will be considered from other public funded 
bodies such as community councils, hospital trusts, etc. or 
where the benefit may be in lieu of their contributions such as 
appeals for hospital equipment. 

e) Applications from individuals may be considered where both 
the person and the community derive a benefit. 

f) No grants will be made to any individual or organisation whose 
prime purpose is to distribute their funds to other charitable 
bodies. Page 215

Agenda Item 9



 

 
4. Miscellaneous Grant funding available  
 
 Members have approved a budget of £3,650 for miscellaneous grants 

for 2017/18 
 
5. Consultation  
 
 There is no requirement under the Constitution to consult on these 

items. 
 
6. Recommendation 
 
 It is recommended that Members determine the application set out in 

Appendix 1 of this report. 
 

7. Reason for Proposed Decision 

 To decide on providing financial support in respect of the grant 
application received.   

8. Implementation of Decision 

The decision is proposed for implementation after the three day call in 
period. 

9.  List of Background Papers 

 Grant Application 

10. Appendices 

 Appendix 1 – Miscellaneous Grant Application  

11. Officer Contact 

Mr Hywel Jenkins – Director of Finance and Corporate Services  
Tel. No: 01639 763251 
email: h.jenkins@npt.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 216

mailto:h.jenkins@npt.gov.uk


 

Appendix 1 
Miscellaneous Grant Application 
 

Applicant Purpose Amount Request/Cost 
of “Project” 

Previous 
Support 

Comments 
 

Derby Toc H Children’s Camp 
Derby 

Holidays in the Derby 
countryside for deprived 
children across the UK.   

No specific amount 
requested 
 

None That no grant 
assistance is provided. 

 

P
age 217



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

POLICY AND RESOURCES CABINET BOARD 
 

7 MARCH 2018  
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE  
& CORPORATE SERVICES 

 

Matter for Decision  

Wards Affected – ALL 
 
NEATH PORT TALBOT WELSH CHURCH ACT TRUST FUND  

 

1. Purpose of Report 

To seek Member approval in relation to grant application received at 
Appendix 1 attached. 

2. Background and  Financial Impact 

 Review of Award Criteria 
 

Welsh Church Acts Fund Guidelines for Grant Applications 
 
a) Each application will be considered on its merits. 
 
b) Grants will only be awarded to charities and voluntary bodies 

which are based in, or active in, or provide significant benefits to 
some or all of the residents of the Neath Port Talbot County 
Borough area. 

 
c) Grants will only be awarded to individuals in exceptional 

circumstances. 
 
d) Grants will not normally exceed £1,000 and in exceptional 

circumstances £4,000 per applicant and successful applicants 
will not normally be reconsidered for a further grant within 3 
years of the date of approval of the last grant.   

 
e) Grants will have a time limit for the take up of said grant of two 

years from the date of approval. 
 
f) Grants will not normally be awarded where the service could be 

dealt with out of the annual budget of the Council's service 
Committees activities or by other public bodies. Page 219

Agenda Item 10



 

 
g) Grants will not normally be awarded where they would commit 

the fund to regular annual payments nor will recurring annual 
expenses be supported. 

 
h) Grants will only be made out of the income of the fund, 

preserving the Fund's capital assets. 
 
i) Priority will be given to applications which are of significant 

benefit to the Neath Port Talbot County Borough area. 
 
j) Grant aid will not normally cover the full cost of a 

project/proposal and normally will be approved at 25% of actual 
costs incurred up to the maximum as outlined in condition (d) 
above.  The grant of £4,000 will only be approved where 
expenditure exceeds £50,000. 

 
k) Organisations assessed as being able to meet the cost (e.g. by 

size or nature) are unlikely to receive any grant aid. 
 
l) Grants towards work of a structural nature will only be 

considered where 
 there is evidence that a professional assessment has been 

made of the works 
 the applicant organisation can demonstrate that there is no 

other impediment to work proceeding at an early date (e.g. 
planning permission). 

 
m) In the case of Churches and Chapels grants will only be 

approved for the repair of the fabric of buildings which are more 
than 50 years old and of the highest architectural and historic 
interest.  Church halls, however, where available and used 
significantly by the public for non-religious purposes will not be 
subject to these criteria. 

 
n) No retrospective applications are considered. 
 
o) The Panel will take into account the Church membership and the 

normal size of the congregation. 
 
p) In the case of students undertaking further Education courses, 

contributions towards the costs of individual instruments or 
pieces of equipment etc. will be made as follows - 50% of all 
costs over a threshold of £2,000 up to a maximum grant of 
£1,000. 
 
 

Page 220



 

4. Consultation  
 
 There is no requirement under the Constitution to consult on this 

item. 
 
6. Recommendation 
 
 It is recommended that Members approve the application set out in 

Appendix 1 to this report 
 
7. Reason for Proposed Decision 

 To decide on providing financial support in respect of the grant 
application received. 

8. Implementation of Decision 

The decision is proposed for implementation after the three day call in 
period. 

10. List of Background Papers 

 Grant Application. 

11. Officer Contact 

Mr Hywel Jenkins – Director of Finance and Corporate Services  
Tel. No: 01639 763251 
email: h.jenkins@npt.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 221

mailto:h.jenkins@npt.gov.uk


 

Appendix 1 
 

Applicant Purpose Amount Request/Cost of “Project” Previous 
Support 

Comments 
 

Tenovus cancer care To provide grant 
assistance to provide 
support to cancer 
patients in the 
community. 

No amount specified. 
 

N/A That no grant assistance 
is provided. 

 

P
age 222



Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council 

Policy and Resources Cabinet Board 

7th March 2018 

Report of the Head of Financial Services – David Rees 

 

Matter for decision 

Wards Affected:  

All 

Rate Relief for Charities and Non-profit Making Organisations 
 
Purpose of report 

1. This report recommends a scheme of rate relief for charities and 

non-profit making organisations for the period 1st April 2019 to 31st 

March 2022. 

 

Background 

 

2. The Local Government Finance Act 1988 provides rate relief from 
rates may be granted as follows:  

 
(a) Mandatory Relief (80%)  
 
Where a property is occupied by a charity and is used wholly or 
mainly for charitable purposes, and for community amateur sports 
clubs (as registered with HMRC).  
 
(b) “Top Up” Discretionary Relief (up to 20%)  
 
Where mandatory relief has been granted, an authority has the 
discretion to grant up to a further 20% relief.  
 
(c) Discretionary Relief (up to 100%)  
 
Where a property is occupied by an organisation which is not 
established or conducted for profit and whose objects are 

Page 223

Agenda Item 11



charitable, philanthropic, religious, or concerned with education, 
social welfare, science, literature or fine arts.  
 
(d) Discretionary Relief (up to 100%)  
 
Where a property is occupied by an organisation which is not 
established or conducted for profit and the property is wholly or 
mainly used for the purpose of recreation.  

 
3. The cost of mandatory relief is met by the non-domestic rate pool. 

The cost of discretionary relief is shared between the pool and the 

local authority, as follows: 

 

“Top up” of Mandatory Relief 

25% is met by the pool;  
75% is met by the local authority 

Other  
 
90% is met by the pool;  
10% is met by the local authority 

 

4. The current criteria for granting discretionary relief were agreed at 

the Cabinet Board meeting of 3rd September 2013. 

 

Criteria for Discretionary Rate Relief 

 

5. The following are the current criteria for discretionary relief:  
 

(a) that each application be treated on its merits;  

(b) that the following general guidelines are met:  
 
- membership of the organisation must normally be open to all      
sections of the community, and membership rates must not be set 
at a level which excludes the general community;  

 

- it is accepted that reasonable restrictions may be placed on 
membership in relation to, for example, ability in a sport, 
achievement of a standard in the field covered by the organisation, 
or where the capacity of the facility is limited;  

Page 224



 

- favourable consideration will be given to applications from 
organisations whose objectives are in line with the authority’s ‘Well 
Being Objectives’;  

 

- top up relief will not normally be granted to charity shops or 
housing associations;  

 

- top up relief will only be granted to an outreach facility provided by 
a college in a deprived ward, subject to excluding those wards 
within the main population centres;  

 

- rate relief will not normally be granted in respect of any area of an 
organisation’s premises which are operated as a licensed bar and 
ancillary areas (e.g. cellars).  
 
(c) that, having regard to the guidelines at (b) above, the types of 
organisation listed below in (e), will be granted 20% top up 
discretionary relief or 100% only relief, as appropriate.  
 
(d) that having regard to the guidelines at (b) above, all other 
applications be treated on their merits.  
 
(e) the organisations referred to in (c) above are:  
 
- youth organisations (such as youth clubs, scouts and guide groups)  

- OAP associations  

- Gardening / horticultural societies  

- Associations for the mentally handicapped  

- Musical / theatrical groups  

- Community associations  

- Organisations concerned with education and training  

- Sporting organisations  

- Organisations concerned with voluntary and community services  

- Organisations concerned with promoting economic development    

- Citizens’ Advice Bureaux  

- Organisations concerned with better health and well being  

- Organisations concerned with the welfare of young people  

 

 

Page 225



Comments 

6. The current scheme provides financial support to over 250 

properties and is operated in line with Welsh Government 

proposals. However should the Welsh Government scheme change 

with regards to the 80% mandatory relief or any other relief element, 

it will require us to reconsider our scheme based on the changes. 

 

Current position in 2017/18 - 

 

 87 accounts receive discretionary rate relief costing the 

authority £31,093 

 

 171 accounts received mandatory and discretionary rates 

relief costing the authority £182,493. 

 

 Total cost to the authority in 2017/18 is £213,586. 

 

 

Equality impact assessment 

 

7. There was no requirement for an equality impact assessment in 

terms of this report as individual organisations will be given the 

opportunity to apply for business rates relief in line with the criteria 

set out in the report. 

Workforce impacts 

8. There will be additional staff resource time required to review all 

accounts currently in receipt of discretionary rate relief and new 

applications received. This work will be absorbed within the Non 

Domestic Rates (NDR) Team 

Legal impact 

9. There are no legal impacts arising from this report. 

Risk management 

10. There are no risk management issues arising from this report.  

Page 226



Consultation  

11. There is no requirement under the Constitution for external 

consultation on this item. 

Recommendations 

 

12. That the criteria for granting discretionary rate relief as set out in 

paragraph 5 be approved. 

Reason for proposed decision 

13. To enable the Council to provide discretionary rates relief to 

ratepayers from the 1st April 2019 to the 31st March 2022. 

Implementation of decision  

14. The decision is proposed for implementation after the three day call 

in period. 

Appendices 

15. None 

List of background papers 

16. Local Government Finance Act 1988. 

Officer contact 

17. Mrs Ann Hinder- Principal Council Tax Officer 
Tel. No. 01639 76309 
E-mail: a.hinder@npt.gov.uk 
 
Mr David Rees – Head of Financial Services 
Tel. No. 01639 763634 
E-mail: d.rees1@npt.gov.uk 

Page 227

mailto:d.rees1@npt.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

POLICY & RESOURCES CABINET BOARD 
 

7th March 2018 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF FINANCIAL SERVICES 
 

 
SECTION A – MATTER FOR DECISION 
 
WARDS AFFECTED 
All 
 
Alternative service delivery Proposals for Port Talbot Civic Centre 
Council Tax Enquiries. 
 

Purpose of Report 
 
1. This report proposes an alternative service delivery arrangement 

for dealing with Council Tax enquiries at Port Talbot Civic Centre. 
 
 Background 
 
2. Since April 2014 five posts have been lost in the Council Tax 

section due to budget cuts. Whilst we have streamlined 
processes and introduced more efficient ways of working to bill 
and collect Council Tax there is a constant pressure on resources 
available. The Council Tax section is responsible for billing over 
65,000 householders, with a projected collectable debit of just 
over £70 million. The current Council Tax collection rate is 98% 
which is the 3rd best in Wales. 
 
Current Service Arrangements  

 
3. The Council Tax section employs a total of 24 staff (22.1 FTE) 

who are located in Neath Civic Centre.  On a rota basis one 
member of staff works out of Port Talbot Civic Centre to provide 
face to face contact service with the public. On Tuesday’s of each 
week Housing Benefit staff provide a service at the Contact Hub 
at Pontardawe and will direct customers to a telephone service 
with staff based at Neath Civic. 

Page 229

Agenda Item 12



 

4. The following table summarises the volumes of work carried out 
by the section and One Stop Shop. Members will note that the 
majority of contact is via the telephone and issuing documents 
(including 25,452 amended bills, 5,363 new bills, 10,263 reminder 
letters, 4,590 summonses, 3,572 liability orders, 2,416 letters of 
information, 6,316 exemption letters, etc) 

 

 
Total Pontardawe Neath 

Port 
Talbot 

Property Numbers 65,831 10,245 31,526 23,880 

     

Contact Volumes 1 April 
to 31 Oct 2017 

    

Documents Issued 87,638    

Telephone calls made 15,768    

Telephone calls received 
on dedicated number 
686188 

27,849    

Average daily visitor 
numbers 

 2 (Tuesday 
only) 

19 (OSS) 9 

 
5. Currently a member of the Council Tax team provides a face to 

face service at Port Talbot Civic Centre for Council Tax enquiries. 
The average number of callers a day taken over a 3 month period 
is 9, this average increases slightly when recovery documents are 
issued. Dealing with the public face to face is the most expensive 
method of resolving queries. Generally accepted SOCITM 
benchmarking costs per customer transaction are £8.62 for face 
to face, £2.83 for telephone and £0.15 for web. For the numbers 
involved, providing a face to face service in Port Talbot is not the 
best use of limited and decreasing resources 

 
6. With a further reduction in staff budgeted for 2018/19 it is 

essential that we look to maximise staff output and make best use 
of valuable staff resources.  Staff time is more efficiently spent in 
the Neath office where work can be allocated, prioritised and 
monitored according to daily demand. The member of staff 
currently manning the Council Tax enquiry counter in Port Talbot 
cannot be logged onto the telephony service and unable to take 
calls from the public; their tasks are limited as they have to be 
available to interview the public when they present themselves. 
   

Page 230



 

7. This is not the best of use of a valuable resource and by providing 
an alternative, more cost efficient method of contact for taxpayers 
visiting the Port Talbot office, it will release staff time to dedicate 
to tasks that have a greater impact for the section. 
 
Proposed Service Delivery Arrangements. 
 

8. Telephony Service 
 
Two trials of withdrawing a face to face service have been 
undertaken; the first for the period 12th July 2017to the 21st July 
2017, a period of 8 working days. In its place a telephony service 
was offered. Customers entered the Council Tax interview rooms 
in Port Talbot Civic Centre and there were written instructions to 
ring the back office located in Neath Civic Centre.  
 
For the period of the trial 81 customers visited the Council Tax 
Section in Port Talbot, 84% of enquiries were resolved over the 
phone by staff in the Neath Office. There were 13 customers who 
went to the one stop shop for assistance.  A breakdown of their 
enquiries / grievances are detailed below- 
 

Number of 
callers 

Reason for visiting One Stop Shop 

1 Partially sighted, could not read instructions to 
ring the Council Tax Office 

5 Customer wanted to speak to a member of staff 
face to face and not over the telephone 

1 Required a form to apply for a discount 

2 Wanted to hand in information 

3 Required a copy of their Council Tax bill 

1 Required Council  Tax reference to pay his bill 

 
 Of the 5 customers who wanted to speak to a member of staff 

face to face, 4 did eventually use the telephone and spoke to the 
back office and had their query resolved. 

 
 The One Stop Shop staff assisted with the remaining 8 customer 

enquiries. 
 

As a result of the feedback from this first exercise, a second trial 
was undertaken again offering a telephony service instead of face 
to face. This trial was carried out between the 24th November 

Page 231



 

2017 and 22nd December 2017, a period of 21 working days. In 
addition, as part of this trial, some basic information on the 
customers was gathered such as their age and whether they 
considered themselves to be disabled. Details of this trial are 
included as an appendix to this report, but the main findings are 
as follows: 
 

 The total number of customers who came to Port Talbot 
Civic Centre with Council Tax queries was 98 at an average 
of just less than 5 per day. 
 

 Of these 13 (13%) considered themselves to be disabled. 
 

 Of those that responded to the questions asked by staff, 79 
(98%) said that their query had been resolved to their 
satisfaction. 

 

  Of those that responded to the questions asked by staff, 77 
(95%) said that they had found the signage and process 
easy to follow 

 
 A telephony service in preference to a face to face service would 

enable better use of staff resources and would not lead to a 
reduction in service to the customer, and additional comments 
made during the trials would be taken on board as part of the 
change. Enquiries would still be dealt with by an experienced 
member of the section and we would still aim to resolve the 
queries at the first point of contact. 

 
Further, when the Council’s proposed new telephony system is in 
place a skype facility will also be made available for customers 
who visit Port Talbot Civic Centre to deal with the Council Tax 
staff in Neath. 

 
 The section will provide a face to face service at Port Talbot at 

times when increased footfall is expected e.g. at billing issue in 
March and when the first reminder for the year is issued (May). 

 
9. Self Service – Digital Solutions 

 
 In combination with a telephony service the Council Tax section is 

also seeking to make greater use of digital technology. As part of 
the Authorities Digital by Choice programme a significant amount 

Page 232



 

of work has been undertaken on the Council Tax Website 
allowing customers to access information and advice easily 
24hours a day, reducing the demand on staff time. 

 
 Priority has been given to providing a digital solution to enquiries 

with the highest transactions. There are now 19 on-line intelligent 
based forms available covering the most popular discounts, 
exemptions, change of address and direct debit applications. It is 
the intention to promote the use of these on line services to 
reduce unnecessary contact with staff which will free up 
resources to deal with other tasks. The processing of the on-line 
forms cannot be automated but staff will be able to deal with 
these applications at a time suitable to the section rather than 
responding to customer demand by telephone or face to face 
which requires an instant response. 

 
 It is of course important to recognise that some customers will not 

be able to access the digital service available, these customers 
will still be able to receive an excellent  service over the 
telephone. 

  
Financial Impact 

 
10. Financial impact is as set out in this report. The proposal will 

make better use of limited resources. 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 

 
11. An equality impact screening was carried out on this proposal 

which concluded that an Equality Impact Assessment would not 
be required. Council Tax enquirers can continue to visit Port 
Talbot Civic Centre and will be able to discuss their query via the 
telephone with a Council Tax officer. 

  
Workforce impacts 

 
12. One member of staff works out of Port Talbot on a rota basis. 

Staff have been consulted on this proposal. There are no adverse 
impacts on the workforce from this proposal.  

 
 Legal Impacts 
 

13. There are no legal impacts in respect of this item. 

Page 233



 

 
 Risk Management 

 
14. There are no risk management issues in respect of this item. 

 
Consultation 

 
15. Two separate trials of this proposal have been undertaken. 

 
Recommendation 

 
16. It is recommended that Members agree to remove a face to face 

service for Council Tax enquiries in Port Talbot Civic Centre and 
to replace the service with a telephony and digital solution. 
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision 

 
17. To release valuable staff resources to undertake other duties 

rather than providing an expensive face to face service where 
staff are limited in the tasks they can do whilst waiting to assist 
the next customer.  

 
Implementation of Decision 

 
18. The decision is proposed for immediate implementation. 

 
Appendix  
 

19. Council Tax Queries from Port Talbot Office - period 24.11.17 to 
22.12.17 

 
Officer Contact 
 
Mr Dave Rees – Head of Financial Services 
01639 763634 

E-mail: d.rees1@npt.gov.uk 

 

Mrs Ann Hinder – Principal Council Tax Officer 
01639 763908 

E-mail: a.hinder@npt.gov.uk 
 

Page 234

mailto:d.w.davies@npt.gov.uk
mailto:d.w.davies@npt.gov.uk


APPENDIX 

Council Tax Queries from Port Talbot Office - period 24.11.17 to 22.12.17 
      

             Period Number of 
queries 

Age of 
customer 

Age of 
customer 

Age of customer Considered 
Disabled 

Query resolved to 
customers satisfaction? 

Was the signage and 
process easy to follow? 

  18-30   31-50   
over 
50   

                 
 

  Column1 Column2 Column1 Column2 

              
 

  Yes 

 

No 
 

Yes 

 

No 
 

24.11.17 (1 day) 3 1   2   0 
 

0 3 0 3 0 

27.11.17 to 01.12.17 38 5   10   15 
 

3 25 1 27 1 

04.12.17 to 08.12.17 24 2   10   12 
 

3 28 0 26 1 

11.12.17 to 15.12.17 23 2   7   8 
 

3 16 1 15 1 

18.12.17 to 22.12.17 10 1   2   5 
 

4 7 0 6 1 

  98 11   31   40   13 79 2 77 4 

             Comments made by customers 
           

             My query has been dealt with but I would rather have seen a person face to face. 
     I was unsure what to do as I expected to see a person. 

       I am disappointed that there was no person to see in Port Talbot. 
      I am not happy that there is no officer available in Port Talbot to speak to. 

     I couldn’t work out where to go but a housing benefit officer explained I needed to use the phone in the room. 
  You need bigger signage in the reception area for Council Tax. 

       I would prefer to speak to someone face to face in the interview room. 
     My query has been dealt with but I would rather have seen a person face to face. 
     Additional comments 

           A gentleman was hard of hearing and could not use the telephone. 
      A gentleman was in a disability scooter and could not access the room to ring without help. 

    

P
age 235



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 1 

NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

POLICY AND RESOURCES CABINET BOARD 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF FINANCIAL SERVICES – DAVID REES 
 

7th March 2018 
 

Matter for Information 
 
Wards Affected - All 
 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT MONITORING 2017/18 
 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 This report sets out treasury management action and information 

since the previous report.  
 
 
2. Rates of Interest 
 
2.1 The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted on the 2nd 

November to increase the bank rate to 0.50%.  The reason given 
for this rise was to try to halt the recent rises in the rate of 
inflation. 
 

Effective Date Bank Rate 
6th November 2008  3.50% 
4th December 2008 2.00% 
8th January 2009 1.50% 
5th February 2009 1.00% 
5th March 2009  0.50% 
4th August 2016 0.25% 
2nd November 2017 0.50% 
  

 
2.2 The following table provides examples of external borrowing 

costs as provided by the Public Works Loans Board as at 21st 
February 2018: 

 

Page 237

Agenda Item 13



 2 

 
Equal Instalments 

of Principal 
Annuity Maturity 

 Previous 
10Jan18 

  

Current  
21Feb18 

Previous 
10Jan18 

Current 
21Feb18 

Previous 
10Jan18 

Current 
21Feb18 

 

 % % % % % % 

5-5.5 years 1.63 1.85 1.63 1.85 1.89 2.16 

10-10.5 years 1.89 2.16 1.90 2.17 2.39 2.64 

20-20.5 years 2.39 2.64 2.43 2.68 2.86 2.97 

35-35.5 years 2.80 2.93 2.85 2.96 2.75 2.85 

49.5-50 years 2.89 2.98 2.86 2.95 2.59 2.70 

 
3. General Fund Treasury Management Budget 
 
3.1 The following table sets out details of the treasury management 

budget for 2017/18 along with outturn figures for 2016/17. The 
budget consists of a gross budget for debt charges i.e. 
repayment of debt principal and interest, and interest returns on 
investment income. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NB:  Other funds include Trust Funds, Social Services Funds, 
Schools Reserves, Bonds etc. 

 
 

2016/17 
Outturn 

 
£’000 

 

2017/18 
Original 
Budget 
£’000 

16,798 Principal and Interest charges  18,434 
   
 Investment Income  

(727) - Total (504) 
153 - less allocated to other funds* 250 

(574) Subtotal  Income (254) 
   

(360) Contribution from General 
Reserves 

(350) 

655 Contribution to/(from) treasury 
management reserve 

 

   

16,519 Net General Fund 17,830 

Page 238



 3 

4. Borrowing 
  
4.1 There has been no long term borrowing arranged since the last 

report. 
 
5.  Investment Income 

 
5.1 In line with the Council’s Investment Strategy, the 2017/18 

Original Budget for investment income is £504k. Investment 
income generated on investments made to date is £528k 
meaning that the budgeted target for the financial year has been 
achieved. 
 
Members should note that the majority of investments are 
classified as ‘specified’ i.e. up to 12 months and are currently 
deposited with Local Authorities, UK banks including, Lloyds 
Group, Goldman Sachs and Bank Santander. 
 

5.2 The Council policy will allow investments up to a maximum of 
£25m for periods of more than 1 year and up to 5 years, and this 
will be considered when decisions on investing surplus funds are 
made. 

 
 Investments previously reported as long term will mature within 
the next 12 months meaning that the Council no longer has any 
investments with a maturity date of greater than 12 months. 
 

 
Financial Impact 

6. All relevant financial information is provided in the body of the 
report. 
 
Equality Impact Assessment 

7. An equality impact assessment was not required for this report. 
 

Workforce Impacts 
8. There are no workforce impacts arising from this report. 
 

Legal Impacts 
9. There are no legal impacts arising from this report. 
 

Risk Management 
10. There are no risk management issues arising from this report. 

Page 239



 4 

 
Consultation 

11. There is no requirement under the Constitution for external 
consultation on this item. 

 
 Appendices 
12. None 
 
List of Background Papers   
Treasury Management Files 
PWLB Notice Number 073/18 
 
 
Officer Contact 
 
Mr David Rees – Head of Financial Services 
Tel. No.- 01639 763634 
E-mail - d.rees1@npt.gov.uk 
 
Mr Huw Jones – Chief Accountant – Capital and Corporate 
Tel. No. - 01639 763575 
E-mail - h.jones@npt.gov.uk 
 

Page 240

mailto:d.rees1@npt.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

Page 241

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 249

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To receive the Minutes of the previous Policy and Resources Cabinet Board held on 24 January, 2018
	4 To receive the Forward Work Programme 2018
	5 Margam Crematorium Minutes - 19 January, 2018
	6 Quarterly Performance Management Data 2017/2018 - Quarter 3 Performance (1st April - 31st December 2017)
	7 Consultation - Code of Practice for Welsh Language Standards (No.1) Regulations 2015
	20180112 DG S Draft Code of Practice Regulations No 1

	8 Community Councils Minor Project Scheme Applications - Blaengwrach Community Council
	9 Miscellaneous Grant Fund Applications
	10 Welsh Church Act Trust Fund
	11 Rate Relief for Charities and Non-profit Making Organisations
	12 Alternative Service Delivery Proposals for Port Talbot Civic Centre Council Tax Enquiries
	13 Treasury Management Monitoring 2017/18
	16 Write Off of Council Tax
	17 Write Off of Business Rates

